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Plaintiffsbring thisaction on behalfofthemselvesindividually and on behalfofa

plaintiffclass(the “Class”)consisting ofallpersonsand entitieswho purchased Broilers1

indirectlyfrom aDefendantorco-conspirator,viaadistributor,foruseordeliveryintheUnited

Statesfrom atleastasearlyasJanuary1,2008,untilthePresent(the“ClassPeriod”).Plaintiffs

bringthisactionforinjunctivereliefunderSection1oftheShermanAct,andfortrebledamages

under the antitrustlaws,unfair competition laws,consumer protection laws,and unjust

enrichmentcommonlawsoftheseveralStatesagainstDefendants,anddemandsatrialbyjury.

I. NATURE OF ACTION

1. Plaintiffsareinformedandbelieves,andthereonalleges,thatinordertomaintain

price stability and increase profitability,beginning atleastas early as January 1,2008,

Defendantsconspiredandcombinedtofix,raise,maintain,andstabilizethepriceofBroilers.

Theprincipal(butnotexclusive)methodbywhichDefendantsimplementedandexecutedtheir

conspiracywasbycoordinatingtheiroutputandlimitingproductionwiththeintentandexpected

resultofincreasingpricesofBroilersintheUnitedStates. Infurtheranceoftheirconspiracy,

Defendants exchanged detailed, competitively sensitive, and closely-guarded non-public

informationaboutprices,capacity,salesvolume,anddemand,includingthroughthirdpartyco-

conspiratorAgriStats.PlaintiffsarefurtherinformedandbelievesthatDefendantsfraudulently

concealedtheiranticompetitiveconductfrom PlaintiffsandtheClassesforthestatessetforth

below infurtheranceoftheconspiracy. Theseallegationsarebasedoninformationandbelief

1“Broilers,”asdefinedin¶66herein,arechickensraisedformeatconsumptiontobeslaughteredbefore
theageof13weeks,andwhichmaybesoldinavarietyofforms,includingfreshorfrozen,raw or
cooked,wholeorinparts,orasameatingredientinavalueaddedproduct,butexcludingchickenthatis
grown,processed,andsoldaccordingtohalal,kosher,freerange,ororganicstandards. Hereinafter,
“Broilers”or“Broiler.”

Case: 1:16-cv-08851 Document #: 1 Filed: 09/12/16 Page 5 of 166 PageID #:5Case: 1:16-cv-08637 Document #: 20-3 Filed: 09/19/16 Page 5 of 166 PageID #:404



42649 2

andtheinvestigationofcounsel,exceptforthoseallegationsaboutPlaintiffs,whicharebasedon

personalknowledge.

2. Broilersconstituteapproximately98% ofallchicken meatsold in theUnited

States.DefendantsaretheleadingsuppliersofBroilersinanindustrywithover$30billionin

annualwholesalerevenue.TheBroilerindustryishighlyconcentrated,withasmallnumberof

large producers in the United States controlling supply. Defendants collectively control

approximately90% ofthewholesaleBroilermarket.Sincethe1950s,theproductionofBroilers

hasbecomehighlyindustrializedandcommoditized.

3. Historically,theBroilerindustrywasmarkedbyboom andbustcycleswhere,in

responseto rising prices,producersincreased production,which caused an oversupply and

resultingdecreaseinpricing.However,thatmarketpatternchangedmarkedlyin2008.

4. In2007,Pilgrim’sandTysonattemptedtocuttheirproductionlevelsenoughto

causeindustrypricestorise. However,despitePilgrim’sandTyson’scombined40% market

share,theirproductioncutsin2007werenotenoughtoincreasepricesthroughsupplycuts

becauseotherBroilercompaniesincreasedtheirproduction.

5. Asaresult,inJanuary2008Pilgrim’sandTysonchangedtacticsandconcluded

thatonlythrough broadercooperation among majorproducersin theBroilerindustrycould

supplybecutenoughtoforcepricestoincrease. InJanuary2008,bothPilgrim’sandTyson

madecleartotheBroilerindustryinpublicstatementsthatneitherPilgrim’snorTysonwould

continuetocutproductionwhiletheircompetitorsusedtheopportunitytotakeawayPilgrim’s

andTyson’smarketshare. A few daysafterattendinganindustryeventinlateJanuary2008,

Tyson’sCEO announcedTysonwouldberaisingpricesbecause“wehavenochoice[but]to

raisepricessubstantially.” A daylater,aPilgrim’sexecutiveannouncedpubliclythatPilgrim’s
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wouldbecuttingitsproductionand“therest[]ofthemarketisgoingtohavetopick-upafair

shareinorderfortheproductiontocomeoutofthesystem.”

6. Subsequently,as described in detailbelow,the other Defendants followed

Pilgrim’sandTyson’scalltoarmsandmadesubstantialcutstotheirownproduction.However,

unlikePilgrim’sandTyson’spriorproductioncuts,in2008theDefendantsdidnotrelysolelyon

the ordinary mechanisms available to temporarily reduce production,which would have

permittedproductiontobequicklyrampedupifpricesrose.Instead,Defendantscuttheirability

torampupproductionfor18 months or more bydestroyingBroilerbreederhensintheirBroiler

breeder flocks responsible for supplying the eggs Defendants raise into Broilers. This

destruction oftheBroilerbreederflock wasunparalleled and theconsequencescontinueto

reverberatein theBroilerindustryto presentday. Further,when someDefendantsin 2010

became“undisciplined”andbegan graduallyincreasingtheirproduction,Defendantsmadea

secondwaveofcoordinatedproductioncutsin2011and2012,whichincludedfurthersubstantial

destructionofindustryBroilerbreederflocks.DefendantscontinuedtolimittheUnitedStates

Broilersupplyinsubsequentyearsbydestroyingeggs,relyingupononeanother’sproductionto

meetcustomerneeds,andexportingexcessBroilerbreederflockstoMexico,evenwhendoing

sowasagainsttheirindependenteconomicinterest.

7. TheconsequenceofDefendants’cutsin2008and2011-2012havebeenanearly

50% increaseinBroilerwholesalepricessince2008,despiteinputcosts(primarilycornand

soybeans)falling roughly20% to23% overthesametimeperiod. TheriseinBroilerprices

relativetoinputcostshasledtorecordprofitsforDefendants.

8. Toeffectuatetheirconspiracy,Defendantsturnedtoamodernizedversionofan

antitrustconspiracyintheBroilerindustryduringthe1970s. Duringthe1970s,majorBroiler
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producersheldaweeklyconferencecalltodiscussproductionlevelsandpricesforBroilers.

AftertheDepartmentofJusticeandcivilantitrustplaintiffssued,thatpracticewasstopped.

However,byJanuary2008,moderntechnologyprovidedawayforDefendantstosharedetailed

production and pricing information withoutindustry-wideconferencecalls. Producersnow

electronicallytransfervastamountsofproductiondatatoAgriStatswhich,whilesupposedly

anonymous,in factprovide Defendantswith sufficientdetailto determine with reasonable

accuracyproducer-leveldataonproduction,cost,andgeneralefficiencies. Thispermitsthe

Defendantstoshare,onaweeklyand/ormonthlybasis,theirconfidentialproductionandpricing

information,includingforward-lookingproductioninformation,whichiseasilyforecastedon

Broilerbreederflockdatathatisreportedandshared.

9. Therearenumerous“plusfactors”intheBroilerindustryduringtheClassPeriod

including,butnotlimitedto,thefollowing:(a)extensiveinformationsharingthroughAgriStats,

(b)numerousopportunitiestocolludeinavarietyofforums,(c)acoordinatedchangefrom

contractswithfixedBroilerpricestoBroilerpricesthatfloatwiththeBroilerspotmarket,(d)

inter-Defendanttradesandpurchasesthatoften areagainstindependentself-interest,and (e)

multipleindustrycharacteristicswhichfacilitatecollusion,suchashighverticalintegration,high

barriersto entry,high Broilerindustryconsolidation and concentration,inelasticsupplyand

demand,alackofsignificantsubstitutesforBroilers,andahistoryofgovernmentinvestigations

andcollusiveconduct.

10. Defendants’restrictionofBroilersupplyhadtheintendedpurposeandeffectof

increasing Broiler prices to Plaintiffs and the Classes. First,as Defendants themselves

acknowledge,supplyanddemandintheBroilerindustryareinelastic.Therefore,acoordinated

decreasein supplyasalleged herein necessarilywillresultinan increasein prices.Asone
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industry consultantnoted,“[b]ecauseoftheinelasticnatureofthesupply and demand [of

Broilers,]areductioninsupplywillproduceanoutcomemorepreferabletotheindustrythan

maintainingsupplywithalowerprice.”

11. Second,asacknowledgedbyindustryexpertsandDefendantsthemselves,pricing

invirtuallyallBroilersalesistiedtospotmarketprices,whicharepubliclyknownandavailable

through industry priceindices.An experteconomisthastestified that“internal[Defendant]

documentsshow thatvirtuallyallchickenproducts,evenifthey’renotsoldspot,aretiedtothe

spotprices....”

12. Therefore,Defendantsknew andintendedthattheircoordinatedlimitationand

reductioninBroilersupplywouldartificiallyincreaseallBroilerprices— forspotmarketand

contractsales— abovetheleveltheywouldhavebeenabsenttheconductallegedherein.

13. AsaresultofDefendants’unlawfulconduct,Plaintiffsand theClassespaid

artificiallyinflatedpricesforBroilersduringtheClassPeriod.Suchpricesexceededtheamount

theywouldhavepaidifthepriceforBroilershadbeendeterminedbyacompetitivemarket.

Thus,PlaintiffsandClassesmemberswereinjuredbyDefendants’conduct.

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

14. Plaintiffsbringthisstatelaw classactiononbehalfofalltheClassestorecover

actualand/orcompensatorydamages,doubleandtrebledamagesaspermitted,pre-andpost-

judgmentinterest,costs,andattorneys’feesfortheinjurycausedbyDefendants’conductin

restrictingthesupplyofBroilersandincreasingthepriceofBroilers.Plaintiffsseekdamagesin

excessof$5,000,000.PlaintiffsbringthisactionunderSection16oftheClaytonAct(15U.S.C.

§26)tosecureinjunctivereliefagainstDefendantsforviolatingSection1oftheShermanAct
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(15U.S.C.§1).ThisCourthassubjectmatterjurisdictionunder28U.S.C.§§1331,1337,and

Sections4and16oftheClaytonAct,15U.S.C.§§15(a)and26.

15. Plaintiffsalso assertclaimsforactualand exemplary damagesand injunctive

reliefpursuanttostateantitrust,unfaircompetition,andconsumerprotectionlaws,andseekto

obtainrestitution,recoverdamages,andsecureotherreliefagainstDefendantsforviolationof

thosestatelaws.PlaintiffsandtheClassesalsoseekattorneys’fees,costs,andotherexpenses

underfederalandstatelaws. ThisCourthasjurisdictionoverthesubjectmatterofthisaction

pursuantto28U.S.C.§§1332(d)and1367,inthat:(i)thisisaclassactioninwhichthematter

orcontroversyexceedsthesum of$5,000,000,exclusiveofinterestandcosts,andinwhichsome

membersoftheproposedClassesarecitizensofastatedifferentfrom somedefendants;and

(ii)Plaintiffs’statelaw claimsform partofthesamecaseorcontroversyastheirfederalclaims

underArticleIIIoftheUnitedStatesConstitution.

16. Venueisappropriatein thisDistrictunder28 U.S.C.§ 1391(b),(c)and (d)

becauseoneormoreDefendantsresidedortransactedbusinessinthisDistrict,islicensedtodo

businessorisdoingbusinessinthisDistrict,andbecauseasubstantialportionoftheaffected

interstatecommercedescribedhereinwascarriedoutinthisDistrict.

17. ThisCourthaspersonaljurisdictionovereachDefendantbecause,inter alia,each

Defendant:(a)transacted businessthroughoutthe United States,including in thisDistrict;

(b) manufactured,sold,shipped,and/ordeliveredsubstantialquantitiesofBroilersthroughout

theUnitedStates,includingthisDistrict;(c)hadsubstantialcontactswiththeUnitedStates,

includingthisDistrict;and/or(d)engagedinanantitrustconspiracythatwasdirectedatandhad

adirect,foreseeable,andintendedeffectofcausinginjurytothebusinessorpropertyofpersons

residingin,locatedin,ordoingbusinessthroughouttheUnitedStates,includingthisDistrict.
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18. TheactivitiesoftheDefendantsandtheirco-conspirators,asdescribedherein,

werewithin theflow of,wereintended to,and did havedirect,substantial,and reasonably

foreseeableeffectsontheforeignandinterstatecommerceoftheUnitedStates.

III. PARTIES

A. Plaintiffs

19. PlaintiffSargent’sRestaurantandLoungeisaSouthDakotasoleproprietorship

locatedinW inner,SouthDakota. DuringtheClassPeriod,Sargent’sRestaurantandLounge

purchased Broilersindirectly from oneormore Defendants,viaadistributor,and suffered

antitrustinjuryasaresult.

20. Plaintiff Fargo Stopping Center,LLC is a North Dakota limited liability

corporationlocatedinFargo,NorthDakota. DuringtheClassPeriod,FargoStoppingCenter,

LLC purchasedBroilersindirectlyfrom oneormoreoftheDefendants,viaadistributor,and

sufferedantitrustinjuryasaresult.

B. Defendants

1. Koch Foods Defendants

21. Koch Foods,Inc.is a privately held Illinois corporation with its corporate

headquartersinParkRidge,Illinois.IthasitssalesofficeinFlowood,Mississippianditsexport

officeinChattanooga,Tennessee. DuringtheClassPeriod,KochFoods,Inc.soldBroilersin

interstatecommerce,directlyorthroughitswholly-ownedorcontrolledaffiliates,topurchasers

intheUnitedStates.

22. JCG FoodsofAlabama,LLC isanAlabamacorporationwithitsheadquartersin

ParkRidge,Illinois,andisawholly-ownedsubsidiaryofKochFoods,Inc. DuringtheClass
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Period,JCG FoodsofAlabama,LLCsoldBroilersininterstatecommerce,directlyorthroughits

wholly-ownedorcontrolledaffiliates,topurchasersintheUnitedStates.

23. JCG FoodsofGeorgia,LLC isaGeorgiacorporationwithitsheadquartersin

ParkRidge,Illinois,andisawholly-ownedsubsidiaryofKochFoods,Inc. DuringtheClass

Period,JCG FoodsofGeorgia,LLC soldBroilersininterstatecommerce,directlyorthroughits

wholly-ownedorcontrolledaffiliates,topurchasersintheUnitedStates.

24. KochMeatsCo.,Inc.isanIllinoiscorporationwithitsheadquartersinChicago,

Illinois,andisawholly-ownedsubsidiaryofKochFoods,Inc.DuringtheClassPeriod,Koch

MeatsCo.,Inc.soldBroilersininterstatecommerce,directlyorthroughitswholly-ownedor

controlledaffiliates,topurchasersintheUnitedStates.

25. DefendantsKochFoods,Inc.,JCG Foods,LLC,JCG FoodsofGeorgia,LLC,and

KochMeatsCo,Inc.arecollectivelyreferredtoas“KochFoods.”

2. Tyson Defendants

26. Tyson Foods,Inc.isapubliclytraded Delawarecorporation headquartered in

Springdale,Arkansas. During theClassPeriod,Tyson Foods,Inc.and/oritspredecessors,

wholly-owned orcontrolled subsidiaries,oraffiliatessold Broilersin interstate commerce,

directlyorthroughitswholly-ownedorcontrolledaffiliates,topurchasersintheUnitedStates.

27. Tyson Chicken,Inc.isa Delaware corporation headquartered in Springdale,

Arkansasandisawholly-ownedsubsidiaryofTyson Foods,Inc. DuringtheClassPeriod,

TysonChicken,Inc.soldBroilersininterstatecommerce,directlyorthroughitswholly-owned

orcontrolledaffiliates,topurchasersintheUnitedStates.

28. Tyson Breeders,Inc.isa Delaware corporation headquartered in Springdale,

Arkansasandisawholly-ownedsubsidiaryofTyson Foods,Inc. DuringtheClassPeriod,
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TysonBreeders,Inc.soldBroilersininterstatecommerce,directlyorthroughitswholly-owned

orcontrolledaffiliates,topurchasersintheUnitedStates.

29. Tyson Poultry,Inc.is a Delaware corporation headquartered in Springdale,

Arkansasandisawholly-ownedsubsidiaryofTysonPoultry,Inc. DuringtheClassPeriod,

TysonPoultry,Inc.soldBroilersininterstatecommerce,directlyorthroughitswholly-ownedor

controlledaffiliates,topurchasersintheUnitedStates.

30. DefendantsTysonFoods,Inc.,TysonChicken,Inc.,TysonBreeders,Inc.,and

TysonPoultry,Inc.arecollectivelyreferredtoas“Tyson.”

3. Pilgrim’s Pride Corporation

31. Pilgrim’sPrideCorporationisaDelawarecorporationheadquarteredinGreeley,

Colorado(hereinafter“Pilgrim’s”).JBSUSA Holdings,Inc.holdsa75.3% controllinginterest

in Pilgrim’s.JBS USA Holdings and Pilgrim’s are subsidiaries ofJBS SA,a Brazilian

corporationheadquarteredinSaoPaulo,Brazil.DuringtheClassPeriod,Pilgrim’ssoldBroilers

in interstate commerce,directly or through its wholly-owned or controlled affiliates,to

purchasersintheUnitedStates.

A.AroundDecember1,2008,Pilgrim’sfiledavoluntaryChapter11petitionin
the United States Bankruptcy Courtforthe Northern DistrictofTexas.
Effective December28,2009,Pilgrim’swasdischarged from bankruptcy
underaplanofreorganizationthatpaidallcreditorsinfulllargelydueto
rising Broilerpricesleading to increased profitsatPilgrim’s. Pilgrim’s
participated in the conspiracy alleged herein throughoutthe ClassPeriod
throughtheactionsofmanyofPilgrim’smostseniorexecutives,including
formerCEO Dr.DonJacksonandcurrentPresident& CEO BillLovette,and
otherswithresponsibilityforBroilers.

B.Afteritsdischargefrom bankruptcy,Pilgrim’sreaffirmeditsparticipationin
the conspiracy,in part by calls-to-arms and pledges by and between
Defendantsthatwerefollowedbyactionsthatresultedinfurtheridlingof
productioncapacity,reducedproduction,andpriceincreases.Otherspecific
post-dischargeactionstakenbyPilgrim’sinfurtheranceoftheconspiracyare
alleged(seebelow)andareconsistentwiththeactionstakenbyallofthe
DefendantsandPilgrim’sthroughouttheClassPeriod.
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C.RegardlessofwhetherPilgrim’sparticipatedintheconspiracythroughoutthe
Class Period or joined or reaffirmed membership in the conspiracy
immediately afteritsdischarge from bankruptcy,thisComplaintseeksto
recoverdamagesfrom Pilgrim’sonlyforPilgrim’spost-dischargeconduct,
andinnowayseekstoviolateanyOrdersoftheabove-referencedBankruptcy
Court. However,byoperationoflaw,thedamagesarisingfrom Pilgrim’s
post-dischargeconductincludedamagesincurredbyPlaintiffsandtheClasses
throughouttheClassPeriod. ThisComplaintalsoseekstorecoverdamages
from theotherDefendantsforPilgrim’spre-dischargeconspiratorialconduct.
Therefore,PlaintiffspleadonlyasingleclassperiodastoallDefendants,but
damagesastoPilgrim’saregovernedbytheprinciplesofjointandseveral
liabilityasnotedabove.

4. Perdue Farms, Inc.

32. PerdueFarms,Inc.isaprivatelyheld Maryland corporation headquartered in

Salisbury,Maryland. During theClassPeriod,PerdueFarms,Inc.and/oritspredecessors,

wholly-owned orcontrolled subsidiaries,oraffiliatessold Broilersin interstate commerce,

directlyorthroughitswholly-ownedorcontrolledaffiliates,topurchasersintheUnitedStates.

5. Sanderson Farms Defendants

33. SandersonFarms,Inc.isapubliclyheldMississippicorporationheadquarteredin

Laurel,Mississippi. DuringtheClassPeriod,SandersonFarms,Inc.and/oritspredecessors,

wholly-owned orcontrolled subsidiaries,oraffiliatessold Broilersin interstate commerce,

directlyorthroughitswholly-ownedorcontrolledaffiliates,topurchasersintheUnitedStates.

34. SandersonFarms,Inc.(FoodsDivision)isaMississippicorporationlocatedin

Laurel,Mississippi,andisawholly-ownedsubsidiaryofSandersonFarms,Inc. Duringthe

ClassPeriod,Sanderson Farms,Inc.(FoodsDivision)sold Broilersin interstatecommerce,

directlyorthroughitswholly-ownedorcontrolledaffiliates,topurchasersintheUnitedStates.

35. SandersonFarms,Inc.(ProductionDivision)isaMississippicorporationlocated

inLaurel,Mississippi,andisawholly-ownedsubsidiaryofSandersonFarms,Inc.Duringthe
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ClassPeriod,SandersonFarms,Inc.(ProductionDivision)soldorsuppliedforsaleBroilersin

interstatecommerce,directlyorthroughitswholly-ownedorcontrolledaffiliates,topurchasers

intheUnitedStates.

36. SandersonFarms,Inc.(ProcessingDivision)isaMississippicorporationlocated

inLaurel,Mississippi,andisawholly-ownedsubsidiaryofSandersonFarms,Inc.Duringthe

ClassPeriod,SandersonFarms,Inc.(ProcessingDivision)soldBroilersininterstatecommerce,

directlyorthroughitswholly-ownedorcontrolledaffiliates,topurchasersintheUnitedStates.

37. Defendants Sanderson Farms,Inc.,Sanderson Farms,Inc.(Foods Division),

SandersonFarms,Inc.(ProductionDivision),andSandersonFarms,Inc.(ProcessingDivision)

arecollectivelyreferredtoas“SandersonFarms.”

6. Wayne Farms, LLC

38. W ayne Farms,LLC is a Delaware corporation headquartered in Oakwood,

Georgia.Itisan operating affiliate ofitsparentcompany,ContinentalGrain Company,a

privatelyheldcompanyinArlon,Belgium.DuringtheClassPeriod,W ayneFarms,LLC and/or

itspredecessors,wholly-ownedorcontrolledsubsidiaries,oraffiliatessoldBroilersininterstate

commerce,directlyorthroughitswholly-ownedorcontrolledaffiliates,topurchasersinthe

UnitedStates.

7. Mountaire Farms Defendants

39. Mountaire Farms, Inc. is a privately held Delaware corporation with its

headquartersinMillsboro,Delaware.DuringtheClassPeriod,MountaireFarms,Inc.and/orits

predecessors,wholly-ownedorcontrolledsubsidiaries,oraffiliatessoldBroilersininterstate

commerce,directlyorthroughitswholly-ownedorcontrolledaffiliates,topurchasersinthe

UnitedStates.
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40. MountaireFarms,LLC isaprivatelyheldArkansascorporationlocatedinLittle

Rock,Arkansas,andisawholly-ownedsubsidiaryofMountaireFarms,Inc.DuringtheClass

Period,MountaireFarms,LLC and/oritspredecessors,wholly-ownedorcontrolledsubsidiaries,

oraffiliatessold Broilersin interstate commerce,directly orthrough itswholly-owned or

controlledaffiliates,topurchasersintheUnitedStates.

41. Mountaire FarmsofDelaware,Inc.isa privately held Delaware corporation

located in Millsboro,Delaware,and isawholly-owned subsidiaryofMountaireFarms,Inc.

DuringtheClassPeriod,MountaireFarmsofDelaware,Inc.and/oritspredecessors,wholly-

ownedorcontrolledsubsidiaries,oraffiliatessoldBroilersininterstatecommerce,directlyor

throughitswholly-ownedorcontrolledaffiliates,topurchasersintheUnitedStates.

42. DefendantsMountaireFarms,Inc.,MountaireFarms,LLC,andMountaireFarms

ofDelaware,Inc.arecollectivelyreferredtoas“Mountaire.”

8. Peco Foods

43. Peco Foods,Inc.is a privately held Alabama corporation headquartered in

Tuscaloosa,Alabama. During the ClassPeriod,Peco Foods,Inc.and/oritspredecessors,

wholly-owned orcontrolled subsidiaries,oraffiliatessold Broilersin interstate commerce,

directlyorthroughitswholly-ownedorcontrolledaffiliates,topurchasersintheUnitedStates.

9. Foster Farms

44. FosterFarms,LLC isaprivatelyheldCaliforniacorporationheadquarteredin

Modesto,California. During theClassPeriod,FosterFarms,LLC and/oritspredecessors,

wholly-owned orcontrolled subsidiaries,oraffiliatessold Broilersin interstate commerce,

directlyorthroughitswholly-ownedorcontrolledaffiliates,topurchasersintheUnitedStates.
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10. House of Raeford Farms

45. HouseofRaeford Farms,Inc.isaprivately held North Carolinacorporation

headquarteredinRoseHill,NorthCarolina.DuringtheClassPeriod,HouseofRaefordFarms,

Inc.and/oritspredecessors,wholly-ownedorcontrolledsubsidiaries,oraffiliatessoldBroilers

in interstate commerce,directly or through its wholly-owned or controlled affiliates,to

purchasersintheUnitedStates.

11. Simmons Foods

46. SimmonsFoods,Inc.isaprivatelyheldArkansascorporationheadquarteredin

Siloam Springs,Arkansas. During the Class Period,Simmons Foods, Inc.and/or its

predecessors,wholly-ownedorcontrolledsubsidiaries,oraffiliatessoldBroilersininterstate

commerce,directlyorthroughitswholly-ownedorcontrolledaffiliates,topurchasersinthe

UnitedStates.

12. Fieldale Farms

47. FieldaleFarmsCorporationisaprivatelyheldGeorgiacorporationheadquartered

in Baldwin,Georgia. During the Class Period,Fieldale Farms Corporation and/or its

predecessors,wholly-ownedorcontrolledsubsidiaries,oraffiliatessoldBroilersininterstate

commerce,directlyorthroughitswholly-ownedorcontrolledaffiliates,topurchasersinthe

UnitedStates.

13. George’s Defendants

48. George’s, Inc. is a privately held Arkansas corporation headquartered in

Springdale,Arkansas.DuringtheClassPeriod,George’s,Inc.and/oritspredecessors,wholly-
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ownedorcontrolledsubsidiaries,oraffiliatessoldBroilersininterstatecommerce,directlyor

throughitswholly-ownedorcontrolledaffiliates,topurchasersintheUnitedStates.

49. George’sFarms,Inc.isaprivatelyheldArkansascorporationheadquarteredin

Springdale,Arkansas,andisawholly-ownedsubsidiaryofGeorge’sInc. DuringtheClass

Period,George’sFarms,Inc.and/oritspredecessors,wholly-ownedorcontrolledsubsidiaries,or

affiliatessoldand/orsuppliedBroilersininterstatecommerce,directlyorthroughitswholly-

ownedorcontrolledaffiliates,topurchasersintheUnitedStates.

50. DefendantsGeorge’s,Inc.andGeorge’sFarms,Inc.arecollectivelyreferredtoas

“George’s.”

14. O.K. Foods Defendants

51. DefendantO.K.Foods,Inc.isan Arkansascorporation headquartered in Fort

Smith,Arkansas. O.K.Foods,Inc.isasubsidiary ofIndustriasBachoco S.A.,aBrazilian

corporation headquartered in Sao Paulo,Brazil. During theClassPeriod,O.K.Foods,Inc.

and/oritspredecessors,wholly-ownedorcontrolledsubsidiaries,oraffiliatessoldBroilersin

interstatecommerce,directlyorthroughitswholly-ownedorcontrolledaffiliates,topurchasers

intheUnitedStates.

52. O.K.Farms,Inc.is an Arkansas corporation headquartered in FortSmith,

Arkansas,andisawholly-ownedsubsidiaryofO.K.Foods,Inc.DuringtheClassPeriod,O.K.

Farms,Inc.and/oritspredecessors,wholly-ownedorcontrolledsubsidiaries,oraffiliatessold

Broilersininterstatecommerce,directlyorthroughitswholly-ownedorcontrolledaffiliates,to

purchasersintheUnitedStates.

53. O.K.Industries,Inc.isan Arkansascorporation headquartered in FortSmith,

Arkansas,andisawholly-ownedsubsidiaryofO.K.Foods,Inc.DuringtheClassPeriod,O.K.
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Industries,Inc.and/oritspredecessors,wholly-ownedorcontrolledsubsidiaries,oraffiliatessold

Broilersininterstatecommerce,directlyorthroughitswholly-ownedorcontrolledaffiliates,to

purchasersintheUnitedStates.

54. DefendantsO.K.Foods,Inc.,O.K.Farms,Inc.,and O.K.Industries,Inc.are

collectivelyreferredtoas“O.K.Foods.”

55. “Defendant”or“Defendants”asusedherein,includes,inadditiontothosenamed

specificallyabove,allofthenamedDefendants’predecessors,includingBroilerscompaniesthat

mergedwithorwereacquiredbythenamedDefendantsandeachnamedDefendant’swholly-

ownedorcontrolledsubsidiariesoraffiliatesthatsoldBroilersininterstatecommerce,directlyor

throughitswholly-ownedorcontrolledaffiliates,topurchasersintheUnitedStatesduringthe

ClassPeriod.

56. TotheextentthatsubsidiariesanddivisionswithineachDefendant’scorporate

familysoldordistributedBroilerstodirectpurchasers,thesesubsidiariesplayedamaterialrole

intheconspiracyallegedinthisComplaintbecauseDefendantswishedtoensurethattheprices

paidforsuchBroilerswouldnotundercuttheartificiallyraisedandinflatedpricingthatwasthe

aim andintendedresultofDefendants’coordinatedandcollusivebehaviorasallegedherein.

Thus,allsuch entitieswithin thecorporatefamily wereactive,knowing participantsin the

conspiracy alleged herein,and theirconductin selling,pricing,distributing and collecting

moniesfrom PlaintiffsandthemembersoftheClassesforBroilerswasknowntoandapproved

bytheirrespectivecorporateparentnamedasaDefendantinthisComplaint.

IV. AGENTS AND CO-CONSPIRATORS

57. AgriStats,Inc.isanIndianacorporationlocatedinFortW ayne,Indianaandisa

subsidiaryofEliLilly& Co.EliLilly& Co.isanIndianacorporationlocatedinIndianapolis,
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Indiana. ThroughouttheClassPeriod,AgriStatsactedasanagentand/orco-conspiratorof

Defendantsbyfacilitatingtheexchangeofconfidential,proprietary,andcompetitivelysensitive

dataamongDefendantsandtheirco-conspirators.

58. Variousotherpersons,firmsand corporationsnotnamed asdefendantshave

participatedasco-conspiratorswithDefendantsandhaveperformedactsandmadestatementsin

furtheranceoftheconspiracy. TheDefendantsarejointlyandseverallyliablefortheactsof

theirco-conspiratorswhetherornotnamedasdefendantsinthisComplaint.

59. W heneverreferenceismadetoanyactofanycorporation,theallegationmeans

thatthecorporationengagedintheactbyorthroughitsofficers,directors,agents,employeesor

representativeswhile they were actively engaged in the management,direction,controlor

transactionofthecorporation’sbusinessoraffairs.

60. EachoftheDefendantsnamedhereinactedastheagentorjoint-ventureroforfor

theotherDefendantswithrespecttotheacts,violationsandcommoncourseofconductalleged

herein.

61. Defendantsarealsoliableforactsdoneinfurtheranceoftheallegedconspiracy

bycompaniestheyacquiredthroughmergersandacquisitions.

V. TRADE AND COMMERCE

62. DuringtheClassPeriod,eachDefendant,directlyorthroughitssubsidiariesor

otheraffiliates,soldBroilersintheUnitedStatesinacontinuousanduninterruptedflow of

interstatecommerceandforeigncommerce,includingthroughandintothisjudicialdistrict.

63. During theClassPeriod,Defendantscollectively controlled amajority ofthe

marketforBroilersintheUnitedStates.
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64. Defendants’ business activities substantially affected interstate trade and

commerceintheUnitedStatesandcausedantitrustinjuryintheUnitedStates.

VI. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

A. Background on Broilers.

1. “Broilers.”

65. AsusedinthisComplaint,“Broilers”arechickensraisedformeatconsumptionto

beslaughtered beforetheageof13 weeks,and which may besold in avariety offorms,

includingfreshorfrozen,raw orcooked,wholeorinparts,orasameatingredientinavalue

added product,butexcludingchicken thatisgrown,processed,and sold accordingto halal,

kosher,freerange,ororganicstandards.

2. Broilers Are A Commodity.

66. According to a 2012 reportby Focus ManagementGroup,Broilers “are a

commodityproductwithlittleornoproductdifferentiationbasedontheprocessors.”

67. DefendantsacknowledgethatBroilersareacommodity.Forinstance,Pilgrim’s

CEO commentedinFebruary2014that“Iwouldaddtoo,ourbusiness… the[Broiler]chicken

businessperseisacommoditybusiness.”

3. The United States Broiler Market Is A National Market Worth Tens Of
Billions Of Dollars Annually.

68. AccordingtotheU.S.Poultry& EggAssociation,thevalueofwholesaleU.S.

Broilersproducedin2014was$32.7billion,up6percentfrom 2013.Themarketvaluevaried

between$21.8and$30.7billionfrom 2008-2013.
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69. ThereisasinglenationalmarketforBroilersintheUnitedStates. Pricesfor

Broilers sold in the United States are quoted in whole bird ordisassembled parts,with

adjustmentsfortransportation,productform (i.e.,degreeofprocessingoraddedvalue),and

packagingatthetimeofsale.

70. About50-70% ofBroilersaresoldundercontractwithacustomer,about10-20%

aresoldonthespotmarket,androughly17-20% areexported.

71. AccordingtoexperttestimonyinJuly2011inAdams v. Pilgrim’s Pride,2 spot

marketBroilersare“anythingleftover[thatis]soldfresh”within3days. Broilerindustry

executivessometimesrefertotheBroilerspotmarketasthe“sellitorsmellitmarket,”meaning

thatiftheBroilerisn’tsoldwithin3days,thenitwillrot.AccordingtoJanetteBarnard,founder

ofaspotmarkettradingplatform calledThePoultryExchange,“therearenosecretsinthespot

market,veryfew anyway.Assoonasasalesmanagerpicksupthephoneandcallsacustomer

ortrader,theword isoutand otherpeoplewillsoon know thatX company hasoneload

available.”

72. ExportsofBroilersfrom theUnitedStatesaccountforapproximately45% ofall

UnitedStatesmeatexports.BroilersproducedintheU.S.areexportedtowellover100different

countries,withthemajorexportmarketsincludingMexico,Canada,HongKong,andChina.

Someoftheexportsfrom theUnitedStatesincludeproductslessdesirabletoUnitedStates

consumers,suchaschickenfeetordarkmeat,butexportsalsoincreasinglyincludewhitemeats

andotherproductswidelyconsumedintheUnitedStates.

73. ExportsofBroilersfrom theUnitedStateshaveincreasedsince2007 bothin

quantityandvalue. BeforetheClassPeriod,in2006exportsconstitutedonly14.8% ofU.S.

exportsandincreasedto16.5% by2007.Butbetween2008-2014exportlevelswereneverlower

2No.2:09-cv-00397(N.D.Tex.).
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than18.5% ofU.S.productionlevels,droppingdownto16% in2015duetoexportbansby

countriesduetoAvianFluconcerns.

74. W hile this complaintdoes notseek damages forBroilers sold into export

commerce,Broilersexported from theUnited Statesdecreaseavailablesupply and increase

Broilerpricesin the United States. Therefore,exportsby Defendantswere an important

mechanism usedbyDefendantstoeffecttheirUnitedStates-basedBroilermarketconspiracy.

4. Broiler Prices Have Risen Steadily Since 2008.

75. AnanalysisofBroilermarketpricessince1990indicatesnotonlysignificant

increasesduringtheClassPeriod,butalso acycleofboom andbustpricingthatbeginsto

moderateby2008andthenlargelydisappearsby2011,asshownbythegraphbelow:
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76. SinceJanuary1,2008,Broilermarketpriceshaverisenroughly50%,asshown

bythegraphbelow:

77. As ofNovember2013,a Bloomberg News compilation ofindustry analyst

forecastspredictedBroilerpriceswoulddrop7.1% in2014duetoa50% fallincornprices,but

instead,Broilerpricesincreased 9.2%.SinceJanuary1,2008,Broilerpriceshavebeenatall-

timehighsroughlyhalfofthetime,eventhoughthe2008-2009periodwasduringtheGreat

Recession.

78. Broilerpricesarereportedprimarilybythreeentities:UrnerBarry(acommodity

pricereporting service),theGeorgiaDepartmentofAgriculture(aka“GA Dock,”),and the

UnitedStatesDepartmentofAgriculture(“USDA”).UrnerBarryandGA Dockeachcollectand

publishdailypriceinformationforBroilers,whiletheUSDA collectsandpublishesonaweekly

basis. USDA andGA DockBroilerpriceinformationispubliclyavailableforfree. Urner

Barry’sBroilerprice information issubscription-based,so allBroilerproducersand many

Broilerpurchaserssubscribeforafee.TheUSDA,GA Dock,andUrnerBarry’sBroilerprice
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informationarebasedupontelephonicandwrittensurveysofproducers,brokers,andcustomers

intheBroilerindustry.

79. ThemostdetailedpricereportisnotpubliclyavailableandisproducedbyAgri

Statsanditssubsidiary,ExpressMarkets,Inc.(“EMI”). AccordingtoaMay2010FarmEcon

study,EMI’spricingreport3 includes“pricingdataonwholebirdsandchickenpartsthatis

considerablymoredetailedthantheUSDA,”UrnerBarry,orGeorgiaDockreports,asitisbased

onactualsalesinvoicesfrom Broilercompanies.

80. PublishedpricesforBroilersfrom UrnerBarry,GeorgiaDock,andUSDA relate

tothespotmarketforBroilers.However,pricesforBroilers,whethersoldundercontractoron

thespotmarket,generallymovewithspotmarketpricesasreportedbyGA DockorUrnerBarry.

81. Statementsby Broilercompany executivesand industry expertsconfirm that

Broilersales,whetherbycontractoronthespotmarket,aretiedtospotmarketpricing. For

instance,SandersonFarmsCEO JoeSandersonexplainedinaMay2008speechthatSanderson

Farms’contractsalestoretailcustomershavepricestiedtotheGeorgiaDockpricesurveyand

SandersonFarms’contractsalestofooddistributorsare“basedonformulastiedtotheUrner

Barry.” Similarly,experteconomistDr.Colin A.Carterfrom theUniversity ofCalifornia

(Davis)testifiedthat“internalPilgrim’sdocumentsshow thatvirtuallyallchickenproducts,even

ifthey’renotsoldspot,aretiedtothespotprices....83percentofPilgrim’schickensalesare

reflectingthespotpricewithinagivenyear.Sothere’sonlyabout16percentoftheirsalesthat

arenottiedtothespotmarketoverarelativelyshortperiodoftime.” Further,becausehalfof

3AgriStatssubsidiaryEMIwasformedaround2000tocompetewiththepricereportingserviceofUrner
Barry.UnlikeAgriStatsreportsforDefendants,EMIreleasesdailypricingdatatobothDefendantsand
potentialpurchasersofBroilers,though the reporting service coststhousandsofdollarsand isnot
publiclyavailable.EMIreportscapturealltransactionsbyBroilerproducers,whoautomaticallytransmit
invoiceinformationelectronicallyfrom eachtransactiontoEMI. Thereportsincludeallsalesvolume
informationfrom thepreviousday,includingthesizeofcontainers,typeofcut,whethertheproductwas
chilledwithiceorCO2,theprice,andnumerousotherpiecesofinformation.
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“fixedcontracts”actuallyhadtermstiedtoBroilerspotmarketprices,Dr.Carterconcludedthat

92% ofPilgrim’sBroilersalesweretiedtoBroilerspotmarketpricessuchasGA Dock.

82. AsaconsequenceoftheinelasticityofsupplyanddemandintheBroilerindustry

(discussedbelow)andtheavailabilityofthespotmarketpriceindices(discussedabove),public

priceincreaseannouncementsbyDefendantswereunnecessary.Defendantsknew andintended

thatadecreaseinsupplypursuanttotheiragreementwouldincreaseBroilerspotmarketprices,

andthereforethatallBroilerpriceswouldincrease.

B. Defendants Relied Upon Co-Conspirator Agri Stats To Facilitate Communications
Among Defendants And To Provide Data And Analysis Critical To The Monitoring
And Enforcement Of Defendants’ Conspiracy.

83. According to a May 2010 study prepared forthe NationalChicken Council

(“NCC”),AgriStats,Inc.isaprivatecompanythatgeneratesBroilerindustrydata“considerably

more detailed than []USDA reports,” including data on weighted average price,top third

average,bottom thirdaverage,andvolumetradedonadaily,weekly,andmonthlybasis,and

supply,salesvolumebydetailedproducttypeandform,export,andpricinginformationfor

wholeandcut-upBroilers.4 TheUSDA andvariousotherentitiespublishaggregated weekly,

monthly,andannualsupplyandpricinginformationconcerningtheBroilerindustry.Butonly

AgriStatsprovidesDefendantsandotherproducersinformationwithsufficientdetailforan

informedsubscribertodeterminewithreasonableaccuracyproducer-specificproduction,cost,

and generalefficiency data. AgriStatsalso collectsfrom and reportsback to Defendants

detailedstatisticsonalmosteveryconceivableoperatingmetricwithintheindustry.

4 Because AgriStatsreportsare notpublicly available,see, e.g., ¶¶ 96,98,Plaintiff’sallegations
regardingAgriStatsanditsreportsareuponinformationandbelief,exceptastothepublicstatements
allegedherein.
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84. Defendants participate in AgriStats and provide and receive the detailed

informationdescribedinthisComplaint.However,becausemanyBroilercompanieshavekept

theirparticipationinAgriStatscompletelysecret,certainunnamedco-conspiratorsmayalso

participateinAgriStats.

85. AgriStatshasprofited from collectingand reportingDefendants’confidential

businessinformation,includingbychargingsubstantialfeesofhundredsofthousandsofdollars

annuallytoeachDefendant. AroundMarch2014,AgriStatswasacquiredbytheEliLilly

company,whichhasallowedEliLillytoselldrugsandvaccinestoBroilerproducersbasedon

theinformationEliLillyobtainsthroughAgriStatsaboutproducers’operations.

86. AccordingtoformerPilgrim’sCEO DonJackson,AgriStatsis“basicallya[]

thirdpartyaccountingfirm thatcompanies[use]intheirprocess.” AgriStatsclaimsitsmission

isto “[i]mprovethebottom lineprofitabilityforourparticipantsbyproviding accurateand

timelycomparativedatawhilepreservingconfidentialityofindividualcompanies.” AgriStats

describesitselfasa“benchmarking”service,whichitsays“allowsorganizationstodevelop

plans on how to adoptbestpractice,usually with the aim ofincreasing some aspectof

performance.”

87. AccordingtoanexpertwitnessforPilgrim’sincontract-farmerlitigationagainst

Pilgrim’s,“[p]robablynooneintheindustrywouldknow betterthan[AgriStatseconomist]

MikeDonahue[astowhetherBroilerproductionincreasedin2008]becauseEMIisthesame

companyasAgriStats,whichisthecompanythatgathersoperatingstatisticsfrom virtuallyevery

companyinthechickenindustry.Andtheyknow definitivelyhow manybreedersareoutthere,

how manypulletsareoutthere,how manybroilersareproducedeveryweek,andheadcountand
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pounds,everythingelse. Theyhavemassiveamountsofstatistics. Andthat’swhythey’reso

effectiveatreportingallofthis[productioninformation].”

88. Uponinformationandbelief,inthewakeofa$1.3billionjuryverdictin2004

againstTysonforaconspiracytomanipulatepaytocattlefarmers,increasedfearsofantitrust

liabilityledTysontowithdraw from AgriStats. However,inoraroundJanuary2008,Tyson

resumeditsparticipationinAgriStats.

89. Uponinformationandbelief,certainAgriStatsreportslistcomplex-leveldatafor

roughly 120 Broilercomplexesand identify each complex with uniquenumbers,including

identifyingthesub-regionofthedataforeachBroilercomplex.

90. AgriStatspurportstomaintaintheconfidentialityandanonymityofindividual

companies’databyprovidingeachcompanyareportidentifyingonlythatcompany’sspecific

Broilercomplexesbyname,butnotidentifyingbynameotherBroilerproducers’complexes

described in thereport. Forinstance,in May 2008 Sanderson FarmsCEO JoeSanderson

claimed“[w]euseAgriStats,whichsomeofyouareprobablyfamiliarwith. AgriStatsisa

benchmarkingservicethatwesubmitdatato. Almosteveryoneinourindustrydoesaswell.

Andwegetthedataback.It’sanonymous–thedataisanonymous,sowedon’tknow whose

numbersthenumbersbelongto,butwecanseeperformanceindicatorsallovertheindustry.”

91. However,uponinformationandbelief,AgriStatsreportsaresodetailedthata

reasonably informed producer can discern the identity of competitors’individualBroiler

complexes,anditiscommonknowledgeamongproducersthatotherscandoso.Forexample,

thespecifictypeorsizeofaBroilerhouse,breedofchick,averagebirdsize,andproduction

levelslisted in AgriStatsdata forcomplexesallowsan industry insiderto identify each

Defendant’sindividualBroilercomplexes.
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92. EachDefendantreceivesnumeroustypesofAgriStatsreports,includingseparate

targetedreportsforeachmajorareaofoperationsincluding,butnotlimitedto,itsbreeding,

hatching,hauling,feeding,processing,selling,andadministration,whichareregularlyshared

with area managersspecifically dealing with those categoriesofinformation in theirdaily

business.SummariesoftheseseparateAgriStatsreportsareregularlyprovidedtoDefendants’

seniorexecutives.W ithineachreport,uniqueinformationreferringtosupposedly“anonymous”

data permits Defendants to identify theircompetitors’information contained within each

categoryofreport.

93. W hilesomeofDefendants’managersreceivedthetargetedreportsforthespecific

aspectsofBroileroperationsforwhichtheyhaveresponsibility,onlytheCEO,CFO,andafew

othertopexecutivesatDefendantsaregivenaccesstoAgriStats’monthly“Bottom LineReport”

thatisgearedtotoplevelexecutivesateachcompany.ThecontentsoftheBottom Linereport

areacloselyguardedsecretbycompanyexecutives. Thereportcontainsonerow foreach

BroilercompanyreportingtoAgriStats,thenhascolumnsforcertaincategoriesofinformation,

such asoperating profitdollars,profitpercentage,corporateSG&A (akaoverhead),interest

expense,andotherkeyoperationalinformation.W hileeachcompanyreceivesareportthatonly

identifiesbynamethatparticularcompany’s“row”intheBottom LineReport,topexecutivesat

eachcompanyknow theircompetitorswellenoughtopickoutrecurringuniquedatapointsfor

othercompaniessuchthattheyareoftenabletoidentifycompetitorsontheBottom LineReport.

Furthermore,Tyson,Pilgrim,andSandersonarepubliccompanieswhichreportsomeaggregated

datapublicly,whichtopexecutivesfrom othercompaniesthencanmatchupagainstthefarmore

detailed information in the Bottom Line Reportto help identify specific data from these
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companies.Inotherinstances,acompany’sinterestexpensedatainAgriStatscanbematched

upagainstinformationalreadyknownabouteachDefendant’sdebtlevel.

94. Evenifaproducerisunabletoindividuallyidentifyaspecificcompetitor’sdata

from theBottom LineReport,AgriStats’employeesareabletoconfirm forDefendantsthedata

foraparticularcompanyatquarterlymeetingswitheachcompanyoratthenumeroustrade

associationmeetingswhereAgriStatsexecutivespresentedonaregularbasis. Forinstance,

AgriStatsprovidedaservicetoDefendantswherebyeachquarterAgriStatswouldmeeteach

Defendant’sexecutivesandmakeadetailedpresentationaboutcompanyandindustrydata.At

thesepresentations,AgriStatswouldleaddetaileddiscussionsaboutindustryprofitabilityand

thekeyfactorsthatcontributethereto,includingitemssuchassizeandaverageageofBroiler

breederflock,averagehatchabilityofeggs,mortalityrates,averagebirdrate,feedcost,andother

performancefactorsbasedondataDefendantsprovided.AtthesepresentationsAgriStatswould

alsoleaddiscussionsabouttheoverallprofitofthecompanyandindustry,includingrankingsof

companies,overallindustryaverage,andtopandbottom thirdoftheindustry.AgriStatswould

alsotellcompanyexecutiveshow muchtheindustrywasover-orundersupplyingthemarket,

indicateitsestimateofdemand,and shareotherinformation based on thedataDefendants

provided. Atsuch meetings,AgriStatswould often beasked to confirm theidentityofa

particularcompetitorinanAgriStatsreport,whichitcoulddomoresubtlyduringtheQ&A

portionofthemeeting.Further,sinceAgriStatstravelledbetweeneachDefendantregularlyand

discussedeachDefendant’snon-public,proprietarydata,AgriStatswasinauniquepositionto

shareinformationamongDefendants.

95. AgriStatsreportsareasyetnotpubliclyavailablebecauseDefendantsandAgri

StatspermitonlyparticipatingBroilerproducerstoreceivethereports. Accordingly,thereis
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littlepubliclyavailableinformationabouteventhecategories ofinformationcontainedinthe

lengthyweeklyandmonthlyreportseachBroilerproducerreceives.Forinstance,inresponseto

arequestforproductionofAgriStatsreportsbytheStateofOklahomainlitigationinvolving

environmentalissues,George’s Inc.responded thatAgriStats“information isproprietary,

privileged and isalso confidentialbusiness/financialinformation notsubjectto disclosure.”

Nevertheless,despitethetightcontroloverAgriStatsdata,theNationalChickenCouncilhas

readyaccesstoitandreliesonAgriStatsdatasummariesforitsstudiesandpublications.

96. Upon information and belief,AgriStats’survey methodology involvesdirect

electronicdatasubmissionson adaily,weekly,and monthly basisoffinancial,production,

capacity,cost,andnumerousothercategoriesofinformationbyeachBroilerproducer.Ateach

ofDefendants’Broilercomplexes,anemployeeisresponsibleforsubmittingitsdatatoAgri

Stats. AgriStatsreliesuponadetailedauditprocesstoverifytheaccuracyofdatafrom each

complex,sometimesdirectlycontactingDefendantstoverifydata.

97. W hileAgriStatsreportsareacloselyguardedsecretbyDefendantsandtheirco-

conspirators,basedonahandfulofpubliccommentsbyDefendants’seniorexecutivesandother

information,andafteranextensiveinvestigation,PlaintiffsbelieveandallegethatAgriStats

reportsincludeataminimum thefollowingcategoriesofinformation:

A.Nameofgeneticscompanyusedforprimarybreederstock;
B.Hatcherycapacity,costs,andageofBroilerbreederflocks;
C.Feed Manufacturing,Delivery and Formulation data,including corn and

soybeanmealcosts;
D.Growoutinformation for Broiler “flocks” provided to contractfarmers,

includingthenumberofBroilersplaced,chickmortalitybyweekandoverall
percentage,chickcost,daysbetweenflocksprovidedtocontractfarmers(aka,
“downtime”),feedconversionrate(poundsoffeedperpoundofBroiler),
averagedailyweightgainbychicks,livepoundsproducedpersquarefootof
growerhouse,growercompensation,includingaveragegrowerpaymentin
centsperpoundandcentspersquarefoot,breedcompositionofflock(breed
orcross-breed offlocks),detailed information on numerous mechanical

Case: 1:16-cv-08851 Document #: 1 Filed: 09/12/16 Page 31 of 166 PageID #:31Case: 1:16-cv-08637 Document #: 20-3 Filed: 09/19/16 Page 31 of 166 PageID #:430



42649 28

aspectsofBroilerhousing,andnumerousotherdetailedcost,mortality,and
operationalinformationaboutdisease,transportation,labor,andothergrow
outrelatedinformation;

E.Slaughter,processing,andfurtherprocessinginformation,includingpayfor
processingplantworkers,totalproductionvolume,marketageofBroilersat
slaughter,weightofBroilersatslaughter,birdspermanhour,processingline
speeds,andlaborhoursperpound;

F. InventorylevelsofBroilers;
G.Salesdataforfinishedproductform andtype,suchastypeofcut(wholebird,

cut-up,deboned),variouspackagingforms(suchasbulk,traypack,etc.),and
datasegmentedintovariouscategories(suchasexports,retail,foodservice,
etc.);and

H.Financialinformation,suchasmonthlyoperatingprofitperlivepound,sales
perlivepound,andcostperlivepound.

98. Defendants rarely mention their “proprietary, privileged, and confidential”

exchangeofinformationwithoneanotherthroughAgriStats.However,onaverysmallnumber

of occasions,Broiler producers (primarily Sanderson Farms) have referenced AgriStats

informationonearningscallsorinpublicstatements.Forinstance:

A.Sanderson Farmsreported in May 2008 that“every yearwe review our
operationsandeveryfacetwithinAgristats… wesetoperationalgoalsevery
year...and[we]trytoimproveouroperationswithinthisbenchmarking
servicewecallAgristats.”

B.Sanderson Farms CEO Joe Sanderson commented on a December2009
earningscallthat“myjudgmentisthatbasedonwhatIseeinAgr[i]stats
nobody isplanning on,pulletplacementssay no ramp up and whatI’ve
gleanedfrom Agr[i]stats,peoplearenotplanningonrampingup.Iseealot
ofinformationfrom Agr[i]statsthattellsmethatnobodyisgoingtoramp
up.”

C.SandersonFarmsCEO JoeSandersoncommentedinaMay2011earningscall
that“myjudgmentisthattherewillbesomeothersthataregoingtohaveto
makesomeadjustmentsthatIbelievecutswillbeforthcominginourindustry
basedonthelossesweseeinAgriStats.” Askedlateronthecallbyan
analystwhyhehadsaidonthecallandafew monthsearlierthathe“feel[s]
confidentthatwe are going to see cutbacks” based on AgriStatsdata,
Sandersonindicated“industryparticipantsexpectedthat[themarketwould
improveinJuneandJuly]andIthinktheywantedtocarrytheirproduction
intoJuneandJulyandseeifthemarketwouldrewardthem forthatitappears
rightnow....AndthenonceyougetpastJuly4...Ithinkthenyouwillstart
seeingreducedeggsets....Typicallyinmyexperiencethefirstcutisnot
enoughandyougobackandlookat2008,Ithinktheindustrystartedcutting
backmaybeinJuneandthatcutbackwasnotenoughandthentheymade
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anothercutinthelatefallandIbelievetheindustrybecameprofitablein
January.”

D.AtaMay19,2010BMO Conference,Tysoncompareditsoperatingprofitper
livepoundstatisticfrom AgriStatsagainstwhatitsaidwerethetotalof121
plantsintheAgriStatssurvey.

E.TysonFoodsnotedinaDecember2014investorpresentationthat“[t]hepoint
beingisthatwhenyoutalkaboutthechickencycle,mostpeoplewilllookat
thecyclicality.It’sveryprofitablerightnow.Andwewillnothitthetopof
thetop,becausewithin theprofitabilitysegmentation rightnow,themost
profitablesegmentsareinfactbigbird,andsecondly,traypack.W ecantell
thatthroughAgriStats. Now atthesametime,whenthereismorepoultry
availableandtheindustrymaynotbeasprofitable,wewouldnotexpecttobe
anywhereclosetowhatthebottom ofthatcyclewouldbe.”

99. SimilartoDefendants,AgriStatsonoccasionreferstothesecretexchangeof

informationitfacilitatesamongDefendants.Inmanyinstances,AgriStatshasplayedtheroleof

industry cheerleaderratherthan industry benchmarking service,with AgriStatssuggesting

specificallyhow muchBroilerproductionshouldbecutbasedonAgriStatsdata.

A.InJuly2012trialtestimonyinacontract-farmerlawsuitagainstPilgrim’s,
testimonyrevealedthataNovember2008AgriStatsreport“madestatements
to theeffectthatitthoughttheindustry was5-percentoversupplied ...
relative...todemand.”

B.AgriStatsholdsregular“poultry outlook conferences” formeatindustry
executives.Forinstance,AgriStatshostedanApril23,2015,conferencein
Atlanta,GeorgiaforwhichanagendaindicatedapresentationbyAgriStats
VicePresidentSueTrudellwouldbeprovidedconcerningthe“broilermarket
situationandoutlook”andananalysisoffeedandmacroeconomicfactors.
Such presentations are restricted from circulation outside the invited
participants to EMI’s poultry outlook conference and are notpublicly
available.

C.DefendantSandersonFarmsinvitesAgriStatsemployeestopresentaboutthe
industrytoPilgrim’sowninvestors,suchasanOctober18,2013,presentation
byAgriStatsVicePresidentSueTrudell.

D.InJanuary2009AgriStatsVicePresidentMikeDonohuecommentedthat
“We [i.e.,Broilerproducers]areanindustrythatisindemand....We havea
productthatpeoplewantandcontinuetoconsume.”(emphasisadded).

E.AgriStatssubsidiaryEMIalsoholdsregularinvitation-only“AnalyticsW eb
Conference”calls.

F. AgriStatsVicePresidentDonohuealsofrequentlyappearsatindustryevents,
suchastheSpring2011IPEconference.Donohueprovidedcommentsaspart
ofanannual“marketintelligence”forum aboutvariousindustryperformance
metrics. Additionally,Donohue’sco-panelist,BroilerindustryinsiderPaul
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Aho,explicitlysuggested“[t]hemarketiscallingforarounda5% reductionin
chickenproduction”inorderforproducerstoachievehigherpricesin2011.

G.DonohuealsoauthorsarticlesfortheAgriStatspublicationEMIVitalSigns.
Forinstance,thesole“sample”publicationavailableonEMI’swebsiteisa
May2013articleinEMIVitalSignsbyDonohue,whichanalyzeswhether
Broilerproducerscould continueto achievehigh profitlevels. Donohue
carefully analyzed Agri Stats data concerning pricing, inventory, and
productionlevels,ultimatelyconcluding“[w]hensupplyanddemandfactors
areingoodshapetheindustrycangetagoodreturnoninvestmentandforthe
shortandmedium term itappearsthatthereiscertainlyroom foroptimism in
thesefactors.”

H.DonohuehelpsforecastsupplyanddemandfortheBroilerindustrybyusing
AgriStatsdataonbreederplacementsandinventory.Forinstance,attheUS
Poultry & Egg Association’s Hatchery-Breeder Clinic in January 2012,
Donohuenotedthatchickenbreastpriceswereataparticularlyhighleveland
“[i]t’snotjustcutbacksinproductionthathavealreadyoccurredbutseasonal
demandlaterthisyearwhichmaysettheindustryupforanevenbetterfirst
halfof2012,”hesaid.“Ihopethiscarriesoverintothelatterhalfof2012
basedonsomeoftheproductionforecaststhatcanbemadebasedonbreeder
placementsand inventories.” Donohue also noted a concern that“ifthe
industrychosetodoso,itcouldrampupproductionwithina10-weekperiod
oftime. Theindustrycouldblow apartanyrecover[y]intheshortterm by
filing up incubators again,” butnoted thatAgriStatsdata indicates the
industry isslaughtering breederflocksat59 to 60 weeks(instead ofthe
typical65 weeks),which suggested to him theindustrywasmanaging its
productioncarefully.

100. OneBroilerindustryexperttestifiedinacontract-farmercasethatthesharingof

informationthroughAgriStatsbyBroilerproducersregardingpayforcontract-farmerscreates

“apotentialvehicleforcollusion”andpresentsa“classicalantitrustconcern.”Thisconclusionis

importantbecause besides Defendants,theiragents,and theirco-conspirators,only expert

witnessesandcourt-approvedadvisorsinahandfulofpriorlitigationhaveevenseen anactual

AgriStatsreports,butsuch individualsareexpressly prohibited from publicly releasing or

discussingsuchreportsbythetermsofprotectiveordersDefendantsandtheirco-conspirators

requirebeforeproducingAgriStatsreportsindiscovery.Thesameexpertalsoremarkedthat

AgriStatswasunusualevenamongotherpricesurveys,noting“[t]hesharingofpriceandother

marketinformation by so-called competitorsiswellknown asa significantantitrustissue.
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Growerpayoutand costinformation shared by mostintegratorsisincredibly detailed and

comprehensive.Assuchitcouldprovidecriticaldataforcompetitioninvestigationsandanalyses

ofoligopolyandoligopsonisticbehaviorfarmorecomplexandadvancedthanavailableforany

otheragriculturalindustry.Anintensiveinquiryisneeded.”

101. Thereisnoplausible,non-conspiratorialjustificationforDefendantstouseAgri

Statsto secretly share highly confidentialand proprietary information abouttheirpricing,

capacity,production,andcostsatthelevelofdetailatwhichtheydo.Inacompetitivemarket,

such proprietary,competitively sensitive information would be a closely guarded secret.

Economictheorysuggeststhattheroutineexchangeamongcompetitorsofsuchsensitiveinternal

companyinformationreducestheintensityofcompetition.

102. TheFTC’sandDOJ’s2000GuidelinesForCollaborationsAmongCompetitors

(“FTC/DOJGuidelines”),and presentationsbyFTC attorneys,suggestthatAgriStatsisfar

outsidethescopeofpermissibleinformationsharingamongcompetitors.Forexample:

A.TheFTC/DOJGuidelinesnotethehighriskofantitrustissuesforinformation
sharingprogramsinindustrieswithahistoryofcollusion.

B.Themorecompetitivelysensitivetheinformationbeingshared,thehigherthe
antitrustconcernforsuchinformationsharing.Uponinformationandbelief,
theweeklyand monthly AgriStatsreportincludedozensofcategoriesof
detailedinformationthatinacompetitiveindustrywouldbeconsideredtrade
secrets.Therefore,thecompetitivesensitivityofAgriStatsreportssuggestsa
particularlyhighlevelofantitrustconcern.

C.Theolderormorehistoricaltheinformationbeingshared,thelessconcernthe
FTC andDOJhavewithinformationcollaborations. However,AgriStats
reportsareissuedweeklyand/ormonthly,anditsEMIreportsareissueddaily,
soastoprovidenearlycurrentproduction,sales,andotherdatatoDefendants.
Moreover,thenatureofBroilerbreederflocksisthatthey predictfuture
Broiler supply,so by sharing such information in a way thatpermits
company-by-company identification,Defendantsare in factsharing future
anticipatedproductioninformationwithoneanother,whichclearlysuggests
highantitrustconcernundertheFTC/DOJGuidelines.

D.TheFTC/DOJGuidelinesalsoprovidea“safetyzone”(i.e.,presumptively
permissible)forcollaborationsamongcompetitorsthataccountfornomore
than20percentofeachrelevantmarketinwhichcompetitionmaybeaffected,
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butDefendantsandtheirco-conspiratorsaccountforapproximately90-95%
ofBroilerproduction.

C. Defendants Coordinated Production Cuts To Stabilize And Then Increase The Price
Of Broilers From 2008-2012, Then Continued Depressing Broiler Supply To
Maintain Historically High Prices.

103. AsallegedinthisComplaint,Defendantsengagedinaconspiracytofix,raise,

stabilize,and maintain thepriceofBroilersthroughouttheClassPeriod. Defendants’acts,

practices,and course ofconductin furtherance oftheirconspiracy evolved overtime and

included butwerenotlimited to thefollowing:engaging in continuouscommunicationson

confidentialandproprietarybusinessmatterstoeliminatepricecompetition;allocatingmarket

shares;restrictingsupplyofBroilers;usinginputcostsandothereventsasapretextforindustry-

wideproductioncuts;andconcoctingmechanismstonullifycompetitivesalesprocessestotheir

customers.ExamplesofDefendants’conductaredescribedindetailbelow.

104. In2008,Pilgrim’sretainedconsultantBain& Companytoanalyzeitsbusiness

operations. BainoutlinedastrategyforPilgrim’stohelpreshapethedynamicoftheBroiler

industry. TheBainplansuggestedthatPilgrim’smanagementneededtotakeactiontoreduce

supplyintheBroilerindustry,similartootherindustrieswhichinthethen-recentpasthadbeen

abletorestrictproductionandincreaseprices.

105. Defendantsadoptedtheeuphemism “capacitydiscipline”orsimply“discipline”

torefertotheiragreementtolimitBroilerproduction.Thekeyto“productiondiscipline”and

“capacitydiscipline”iswidespreadparticipationbytheindustry. Broilercompanieswillnot

reap outsized profitsifonly oneorafew Broilercompaniesexercisedisciplineby cutting

production. Putdifferently,ifasingleBroilercompanyreducesBroilercapacity,thereisno

guaranteethatcompetitorswilldothesame,andthereforethecompanyactingalonehassimply

cededmarketsharetoitscompetitors. However,ifotherBroilercompaniessimilarlyexercise
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disciplineandreducecapacityandproduction,Broilerpurchaserswillbefacedwithresulting

higherprices,whichtheywillhavenochoicebuttopay.Thealternative–tonotpurchase

Broilers–isnotanoptionformostofDefendants’customers.

106. Thus,exercising capacity disciplinewillonly benefitaBroilercompany ifit

knowsorisreasonablysurethatitscompetitorswilldolikewise. Absentsuchassurance,it

would be againsteach Broiler company’s independentself-interest to cutcapacity and

production. In Defendants’case,theirshared commitmentto capacity disciplinewasmade

feasibleandrationalbytheirknowledgethateachhadagreedtoengageinthesamecapacity

limitations.Asexplainedinthiscomplaint,Defendantsrepeatedlyconfirmedtoeachotherthat

theyremainedcommittedtothisagreementbypublicly(andprivately)discussingtheirplansto

continueexercising“capacitydiscipline,”solongasothersdidthesame.

107. Broilerproducershaveseveralmechanismsto reducethesupply ofBroilers.

GivenBroilerproducers’verticalintegrationandcontrolofbreederfarms,hatcheries,growout

farms,and slaughterhouses,theyhaveseveralmethodsto manipulatesupply,includingthe

following:

A.ReducethesizeofBroilerbreederflocksthroughtwomeasures:(1)retireand
killoffBroilerbreedersatanearlieragethanwouldnormallybetheoptimum
age fordoing so and/or(2)reducing purchasesofBreederpulletsfrom
geneticscompaniesthatsupply them. Such reductionsin Broilerbreeder
flockpurchasesbyBroilercompanieseffectivelyforcesgeneticscompaniesto
inturnreducetheirownstocksofparentandgrandparentBroilerbreeders(the
onefrom whichbroilercompanypulletsaresupplied).Suchreductionsbythe
geneticscompaniesextendintoaperiodofyearsthetimeittakestomaterially
increasethesuppliesofBroilers.

B.Reduce “egg sets” or“egg placements” (i.e.,numberofeggs placed in
incubators)bydestroyingsucheggsandsellingthem toarenderingplant,
whichcausesareductioninproductionwithinroughly7weeks,butthisdoes
notreducethesizeofBroilerbreederflock itselfand doesnotpreventa
producerfrom beingabletorampupproductionintheshortormedium term
shoulditsubsequentlydecideitwantstoquicklyrampupproduction;
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C.“Breakeggs”athatcheriesbydestroyingtheeggspriortosettingthem in
incubators;

D.Pull(i.e.,destroy)eggsalreadysetinincubatorssometimebeforethe21days
necessaryforeggstohatch;

E.Destroynewly hatched chicksathatcheriesbeforedeliveryto farmersfor
grow-out;

F. Reducethenumberorhealthofchicksdeliveredtocontractfarmersforgrow-
out,including by manipulation ofthe geneticsofchicksorproviding an
inferiortype ofBroilerto farmersforgrow-outofBroilersinto mature
Broilers;

G.ExtendtheperiodoftimebetweenpickupofmatureBroilersforslaughterand
deliveryofnew chickstocontract-farmersforgrow-out(a/k/a,“daysbetween
flocks”);

H.Reducethesizeofbirdsatslaughter,includingbyslaughteringbirdsbefore
theyreachfullmaturityorweight;

I. Slow down,temporarilyclose,orpermanentlycloseBroilerprocessingplants;
and

J. Exporthatchingeggsand/orday-oldchicksoutsidetheUnitedStates.

108. Historically,whenBroilerproducers“cutproduction,”theydidsothroughshort-

term cuts thattargeted the end ofthe supply chain,such as slaughtering Broilers early,

destroying eggsbeforeincubation,killing newly hatched chicksbeforedelivery to contract

farmers,and/orincreasing the daysbetween flocksdelivered to contractfarmers. Broiler

companieshistorically did notcuttheirBroilerbreederflocks(exceptfornormalseasonal

variations),however,becausedoingsowouldleaveaproducerunabletorampupproductionin

theshortormedium term shouldmarketconditionsimprove.

109. W ithrespecttothetype ofproductioncutsusedbyBroilerproducers,theperiod

from 2008throughthepresentischaracterizedbybothtraditionalproductioncuts(short-term in

nature),aswellasbyunprecedentedreductionsinBroilerbreederflocksbyBroilerproducers.

Asdiscussed below,Broilerproducersmade substantialand unprecedented cutsto Broiler

breederflocksin2008and2011thatpreventedthem from beingabletomeaningfullyincrease

supplyforyearstofollow.

1. Pre-Class Period Events.
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110. In2007,thetwolargestBroilerproducers,Pilgrim’sandTyson,reducedtheir

productionofBroilers,butonlyafew otherBroilerproducersfollowedtheirlead,namelyFoster

Farms(4.8% reduction in RTC pounds),Peco Foods(5.4% reduction in RTC pounds),and

PerdueFarms(unspecifiedcuts). However,cutsbyonlyfiveindustryparticipantswerenot

enoughtoaffectindustrysupplysufficienttoincreasepricesmeaningfully.Industrypublications

notedthatoversupplyofBroilerswasduetooverproductionbySandersonFarms,Mountaire

Farms,andHouseofRaefordFarms.DuetotheresultingoversupplyofBroilers,pricesfellin

late2007andintoearly2008.Inaddition,productioncutsin2007followedthetypicalpattern

offocusingonshort-term reductionsinproduction,suchasslaughteringBroilersearly,butnot

onlonger-term cutstoBroilerbreederflocks.

111. Thefailureofthe2007shorter-term productioncutstoraisepricesmadeTyson

andPilgrim’srealizethattheirunilateralsupplycutswouldneverbeenoughtoraiseindustry

priceswithoutabroaderindustrysupplycutbymostoftheircompetitors,andfurther,thatcuts

thatdidnotreduceBroilerbreederflockslefttheindustryvulnerabletonear-term increasesin

supply.TysonandPilgrim’srealizedthatbymakingcutsthatwerenotfollowedbytheirsmaller

competitors,theywereessentiallygivingawaymarketsharetothosecompetitors.

2. 2008-2009 Production Cuts.

112. On January 23-25,2008,Defendantsattended theIPE conferencein Atlanta,

Georgia. AccordingtotheIPE,over99.4% oftheproductionofthemajorBroilercompanies

participated in the IPE. Numerous employees from Defendants attended the conference,

includingDefendants’seniorexecutives.

113. OnaJanuary28,2008,earningscall,TysonCEO DickBonddeclaredbluntly

“wehavenochoice[but]toraisepricessubstantially.” However,thecommoditynatureof
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Broilersdoesnotallow oneproducerto successfully raisemarketpricesin theabsenceof

widespreadreductionsinsupplyrelativetothethen-currentdemand,soBond’scommentdoes

notmakesenseabsentanintention(orknowledge)onhispartthatDefendantswouldcoordinate

areductioninsupplyacrosstheBroilerindustry.Afterlearningin2007thatitsproductioncuts

alonecouldnotforceupindustryprices,Tysonalsosentaclearmessagetoitsco-Defendants

andco-conspirators:wearenotmakingproductioncutsuntilyoudo.

114. Inresponse,Pilgrim’sissuedacalltoactionforitscompetitorstoreducetheir

productionofBroilerstoallow pricestorecover.OnaJanuary29,2008,earningscall,Pilgrim’s

CFO RickCogdillsaidtheindustrywasoversupplyingBroilersanditwashurtingmarketprices.

Cogdillexplainedthathiscompanyhaddoneitspartin2007byreducingproduction5%,so“the

rest[]ofthemarketisgoingtohavetopick-upafairshareinorderfortheproductiontocome

outofthesystem.” Duringthecall,CogdillwentontoexplainthatPilgrim’salonecouldnot

reducesupplyenoughtohelpmarketpricesrecoveranditspasteffortstoreducesupplyhad

merelyledtosmallerplayersincreasingtheirmarketshareatPilgrim’sexpense.Cogdillwent

even furtherin describing specifically how he thoughtthe industry needed to coordinate

productioncutsinordertodriveupmarketpricing,includingmakingthefollowingstatements

urgingPilgrim’scompetitorstodotheirpartinreducingBroilerindustrysupplies:

A.“[A]ctionsaregoingtohavetobetakenonewayortheotherthroughthe
industrytopassalongthesecosts.W eweretheleaderincuttingproduction
lastyeartohelpdrivethat....[W ]e’vegottomakesurethatwegetthe
supplyinlinewithdemandatanacceptableprice,notjustinlinewithwhat
thecustomerwantstobuyatacheapprice.”

B.W henaskedbyananalyst“doyouhaveanestimateinternallyofwhatthe
stateofoversupplyintheindustrymightbe? W hatyouwouldhopetoseecut
from othersthatwouldmakeyoufeelliketheindustrywasmorerational?”
Pilgrim’sCFO Cogdillreplied“It’sreallyhardtosaythatthefasterwegetto
productionadjustmentthequickertherecoverycouldhappen....Andifthe
industrydoesn’treactsoonenoughitwillhavetoreactstrongerintheend.”
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C.“[W]ehavewalkedawayfrom salesincertaincases,wherethepricingjust
didnotmakeanysense.Sowearetryingtoholdtheline.W earelosingat
timesthecompetitivebids....Sowearetryingtotakealeadershipposition
from apricingperspective.”

D.JP Morgan analystPablo Zuanic asked “[D]o you and Tyson have the
evidence that your production call backs lead to significant price
improvementslastyear[?]… .Clearly,therearemoreproducerswhoarenot
followingyou.Onmymask[sic],accordingtoUSDA,theindustrywasup
5% intheDecemberquarter… .So,itmeansthattherestoftheindustrywasup
about9% in theDecemberquarter. So thereisevidencethatrestofthe
industryisnotfollowingyou.Youguysaretheleaders.Youknow thatthis
workedlastyear....Isitjustthatlastyearwediditfortheindustry,andthey
didn’tfollow andnow it’stheirturn?” Inresponse,CFO Cogdillnoted,“I
think youkindofhitonitthere....It’snotlikewehad5% ofsurplus
capacitythatwecouldjustreduceouroperationsandnotfeelthat...Imean
wecannotbetheonesthatareouttherecontinuallyreducingproduction,and
lettheotherproducerscapitalizeonthat.Imeanifit’s5% lastyear,5% this
year,5% nextyear,you can seethatthat’saspiralto thedemiseofour
company,whichwearenotwillingtoaccept.”

115. On aJanuary 31,2008,earningscall,Sanderson FarmsCEO JoeSanderson

explainedthatheanticipatedtheindustrywouldcutproduction. AskedaboutBroilerindustry

cutsbyananalyst,Sandersonreplied“wecouldseesomereductionsinproduction.” Askedto

expandonhiscommentsbyanotheranalyst,CEO Sandersonsaidhethoughtaproductioncut

was“probable”and“ifit’sbadanduglyanddeepinFebruary,MarchandApril,you’llseethe

productioncutstakeplaceduringthatperiodoftime. There’sstill25% oftheindustrystill

makingmoneybutIwouldexpecttoseethosereductionscomeoverthenext90to120days.”

Uponinformationandbelief,CEO Sanderson’sbasisforthestatementthat“25% oftheindustry

[was]stillmakingmoney”wasthroughthesecretsharingofinformationbyDefendantsthrough

AgriStats.

116. AroundMarch4,2008,seniorexecutivesfrom DefendantsmetatanExecutive

CommitteemeetingoftheNationalChickenCouncil’sBoardofDirectorsincludingPilgrim’s

CEO ClintRivers,TysonSeniorVPDonnieSmith,andFieldaleCEO ThomasHensley.
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117. Onlyamonthandahalfafterinstallingitsnew CEO,Pilgrim’sagainledthe

chargetocutoverallindustrysupplies,butthistimeitbackedupitsrhetoricwithproduction

cuts. On March 12,2008,Pilgrim’sannounced amassiveclosureofitsBroilerprocessing

plants. JustfivedaysaftertakingoverthepositionofPilgrim’sCEO,ClintRivers,publicly

announcedtheclosureofsevenBroilerfacilitiesinordertoreduceindustryoversupply,stating

“webelieve[these]actions...areabsolutelynecessarytohelpbringsupplyanddemandinto

betterbalance....Thatportionofthedemandforourproductsthatexistssolelyatpricing

levelsbelow thecostofproductionisnolongerademandthatthisindustry cancontinueto

supply.”(emphasisadded).

118. Normalsupplyanddemandwouldsuggestthatinthewakeofmassivesupply

cutsby Pilgrim’s,otherBroilerproducerswould jump into themassivegap in supply that

Pilgrim’s closures left. However, just the opposite occurred. Following Pilgrim’s

announcement,a series ofproduction cuts were publicly announced by otherDefendants

betweenApril3andApril11,2008.

A.On April3,2008,Fieldale Farms announced a 5% production cut. In
connection with the cut, Executive Vice President Tom Hensley told
Meatingplace.com thatFieldalehashadtroublepassingoncostincreasesto
bothfoodserviceandretailcustomers.“Everytimewetry[toincreaseprices],
oneofourcompetitorscomesinwithapricelowerthanourpreviousprice,”
Hensleysaid.Fieldale,whichhasbeenabsorbingfeed-costincreases,hopes
itsmovewillhelpeasecontinuingpricepressure.“W ecan’tsell[someof]the
chickensatapricehigherthanthecost,”Hensleysaid.“W e’rehopingthiscut
putssupplyanddemandbackintobetterbalance.”

B.OnApril9,2008,SimmonsFoodsannounceda6% reductioninproduction
throughoutitsprocessingplants. Accordingtoameatingplace.com article,
SimmonsPreparedFoodsPresidentDavidJacksonsaidinapressreleasethat
“[r]ecentU.S.chicken marketpricelevelshavenotallowed processorsto
recoverthespiralingcostsofcorn and soymeal....Thisincreased cost
burden hasyetto bereflected in domesticpoultry prices.” BMO Capital
MarketsanalystKennethZaslow welcomedSimmons’productioncut,saying
inanotetoinvestorsthatproductioncutsacrosssmallercompaniesinthe
Broilerindustry would bepositiveforBroilerprices. On April9,2008,
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according to a meatingplace.com article,BMO CapitalMarkets analyst
Kenneth Zaslow welcomed Simmons’production cut,saying in anoteto
investorsthatproductioncutsacrosssmallercompaniesintheBroilerindustry
wouldbepositiveforBroilerprices.

C.OnApril10,2008,Cagle’sInc.announceda4% reductioninprocessingof
Broilers.Accordingtoapressreleasefrom Cagle’sPresidentandCEO,Doug
Cagle,“[c]urrentchickenpriceshavefailedtoreflectthetremendousincrease
inthecostoffeed.Ingredientprices,mostlycornandsoybeanmeal,have
increasedover80percentinthelasttwoyearsraisingthecosttoproduce
chickenbymorethan$.17apound.Theseareunprecedentedtimesandgiven
currentUSDA forecastsitappearsthathigh feed costsare here forthe
foreseeable future.The cutback in production willnoteffect[sic]our
customerswith existing commitmentsbutwillreduce productbeing sold
throughlessprofitablecommodityoutlets.”

D.BetweenApril3-11,2008,W ayneFarms,O.K.Foods,andKochFoodseach
announced2-8% reductionsinproduction.

E.A numberofotherBroilercompaniescuttheirproductionbetweenApril1,
2008andMay28,2008,butdidnotpubliclyannouncethosecuts. Instead,
these Broilercompaniescommunicated such cutsto theirco-conspirators
throughAgriStatsand/orothermeansofcommunication.Forinstance,athis
BMO CapitalMarketsConferencepresentationonMay28,2008,Sanderson
FarmsCEO JoeSandersonstatedthat“wehaveseenforthelast6or7weeks.
..somecompaniesinourindustryannouncecutbacks. TherehavebeenI
thinksixcompanieshaveannouncedcutbacks.Iknow somecompanieshave
cutbackandhavenotannounced.” Suchknowledgeofnon-publicproduction
cutsby competitorsishighly suggestive ofsecretcommunication among
Broilercompanies.

119. Afterwitnessing asteady stream ofitscompetitorscloseproduction capacity

between April3 and 11,Pilgrim’ssaw thatotherindustryparticipantswerecontributing to

reducingindustrysupply. Pilgrim’sdecideditcouldnow takefurtherstepstoreduceindustry

supply.

120. On April11,2008,Pilgrim’ssuggested itmightclose itslarge ElDorado,

Arkansasprocessingplant,whichemployed1,620workers.

121. OnApril14,2008,Pilgrim’sannouncedafurtherproductioncutof5% ofegg

sets.
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122. OnApril29,2008,TysonCEO DickBonddescribedthechangeintheindustryin

responsetoananalystquestion,noting“[y]ouareright.Ithinktheindustryhaschanged.Diane,I

don’tthinktheindustrywillbeupthatmuchanymore,wehaveseensomesizabledeclineshere

lately in egg setsand placements.So,we’regoing to beup alittlebitbutprobablynota

significantamount,notasmuchaswemighthaveonceanticipated.”

123. Despitethelargenumberofcoordinatedproductioncutsannouncedbyproducers

inApril2008,Pilgrim’sconcludedthesecutswerenotsufficient. Therefore,Pilgrim’sCEO

ClintRiversencouragedfurtheractionbytheindustryataMay15,2008,speechattheBMO

CapitalMarketsThird AnnualAg & Protein Conference,which wasattended bySanderson

FarmsCEO JoeSandersonandCFO MikeCockrell,TysonCEO RichardBond,andPilgrim’s

CFO RichardCogdill.CEO RiversannouncedthathehopedtoseetheBroilerindustrycontinue

to cutproduction to help theindustryreturn to profitability,statingthat“hewould likethe

industrytotrim totalproductionby3%-4%,callingitaprudentmoveinlightofrecentprice

volatilityinthegrainmarkets.”Healsonotedthat“[t]hecutsneedtobefairlydeep.”

124. A May21,2008,W allStreetJournalarticlenotedthatconditionsintheindustry

werestartingtochange. “Threethingsaremakinganalystsmoreoptimistic:Companiesare

cuttingproduction,weeklyegg-setnumbersaredeclining(eggsetsarefertileeggsplacedin

incubators),andpricesarerespondingpositivelytothethinningsupplylines.” Thearticlealso

noted“[i]tisunusualforeggsetstodeclineatthistimeofyear.” Thereasonsuchareduction

wasunusualinMayisthateggsetsresultinBroilersthatarereadyformarketapproximately10

weekslater,whichinthiscasewouldhavebeenfirstweekofAugust,andisstillthepeakofthe

high-demandsummergrillingseason.
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125. DuringanearningscallonMay22,2008,SandersonFarmsCEO JoeSanderson

wasaskedifhethoughtindustrycutsweresufficienttokeeptheindustryprofitableinthefall.

Inresponse,Sandersonnoted,“[w]edon’tknow yet.W ewillmakeacutaswealwaysdoafter

LaborDay. W ewillmakea4-5% cutfollowing LaborDay aswealwaysdo going into

Thanksgiving,Christmas,and January we reduce ouregg sets and around Thanksgiving,

Christmas,New YearsandMartinLutherKing.Thatisaperiodofslow demandforus,andwe

don’tannouncethat,butwealwaysdoit.Itisjustaperiodwhenwetakedowndaysandwewill

dothat.Butifwethinkmoreisneeded,wewillevaluatethatsometimeinAugust,andifneed

bewilldoit.W ecutbackin2006,wecutbackin’97-98.Idon’tknow ifweannounceditor

not,butwewilldo whatweneed to do.” Sanderson provided no explanation whyitwas

choosingtopubliclydiscloseits“regular”productioncutifithadneverdonesointhepast.

126. Six dayslater,on May 28,2008,CEO Sanderson attended theBMO Capital

MarketsConferencePresentation. OneormoreofSandersonFarms’competitorsattendedthe

sameconference. Sandersonexplainedtotheattendeesthatthecompanytrackseggsetdata

closelyandithadobservedmanycompaniescuttingproduction“forthelast6or7weeks.”

127. In early June 2008,Pilgrim’s CEO ClintRivers continued to keep up the

drumbeatforfurtherproductioncuts,notinginaJune4,2008,presentationthat“[o]ursupplyin

chicken,weareoversupply...weneedtoseesomebalanceinthesupply....Simplyput,atthis

timethereisstilltoomuchbreastmeatavailabletodrivemarketpricingsignificantlyhigher.”

128. OtherCEOspickeduponPilgrim’scallforfurtheraction.A few weekslateron

June19,2008,Broilerindustryexecutivesparticipatedinamediaconferencecallintendedto

lobby thefederalgovernmentto limittheethanolsubsidy. According to onereport,Mark

Hickman,ChairmanoftheNationalChickenCouncilandCEO ofPeco,toldparticipantsthat
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“thepoultryindustryisenteringasecondphaseofproductioncutbacks,followinga1percentto

2percentcutbackinproductionearlierthisyear.‘W earehearingtalkthatthiswasnotnearly

enough,so liquidation isin round two.’” Upon information and belief,“liquidation”isa

referencetotheneedforDefendants’decisiontoreduceBroilerbreederflockstoaffectlonger-

term supplyrestraintintheindustry,ratherthanmereshort-term productioncutslikebreaking

eggsorslaughteringBroilersearliertoreduceweight.

129. Asnotedabove,AgriStats’subsidiaryEMIissuesregularreportstoitsclients,

whicharenotpubliclyavailable.However,EMI’swebsitecurrentlyhasavailablea“sample”

reportavailablefrom June20,2008.Thesamplereportnotesthat“[b]eginninginApril[2008],

theweeklyhatcherydatastartedtoshow declinesineggsetsandchickplacementsrelativeto

year-earlier,which confirmstheannounced intentionsto reduceBroilerproduction and will

resultinslaughterfallingbelow year-agobymidJune.” Thesamereportalsonotesthat“[i]tis

unclearhow longtheslaughterdeclineswillcontinue,andifothercompanieswillchoosetocut

production aswellmaking them deeperthan initially thought.Thosewho haveannounced

cutbacksindicatetheywillcontinueuntilmarginsnormalize.Atthistimeweexpecttoseethe

declinescontinueuntilatleastlate2009,andcutscouldbedeeperthannow projected.”

130. Threedayslater,onJune23,2008,W ayneFarmsannouncedanadditional6%

production cut. W ayne FarmsPresident& CEO Elton Maddox said in a statementthat

“[s]oaring feed ingredientcostsaggravated by thegovernment’sfood forfuelmandatehas

createdtheneedforustorationalizeourbusiness.” Likemanyotherexecutives,Maddoxcited

ethanolsubsidiesasthereasonfortheproductioncuts.W ayneFarms’announcementcameonly

threedaysafterAgriStatssuggestedfurthercutswereneededandfourdaysafterPecoCEO

Hickmansuggestedfurthercutswereneeded.
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131. On June 23-25,2008,USPOULTRY held its annualFinancialManagement

Seminar.Defendants’seniorexecutivesattendedtheseminar.

132. OnJuly2,2008,FosterFarmsannounceditwasabandoningplanstobuildanew

BroilerplantinnortheasternColoradothatithadpreviouslyannouncedinApril2008would

employabout1,000people. Inastatement,FosterFarmsCEO DonJacksonnoted“[i]nthese

difficultconditionswithcostsescalatingprimarilyduetograinandfuelpricesandchickenprices

laggingitdoesnotmakeeconomicsensetogoforwardwithexpansionatthistime.”

133. On July7,2008,O.K.Foodsannounced a7.5% reduction in eggsets,citing

“recordhighpricesforcornandsoybeanmeal,whichitattributestotheU.S.government’s

mandatedethanolpoliciesalongwithrecentfloodingintheMidwest‘CornBelt’region.”

134. OnJuly20-22,2008,theNationalChickenCouncilheldathree-day“Chicken

Marketing Seminar”attended by Defendants’seniorexecutives. Theeventwasbilled asa

marketing seminarthat“includes socialnetworking events and recreationalopportunities,

includingagolftournament.”

135. On July31,2008,Tyson cancelled acontractwith PetitJean Poultryforthe

processingofBroilersatPetit’sBuffalo,Missouriplant. TysonsubsequentlytoldtheCityof

Buffalothatnoamountofincentivescouldconvinceittorenew itscontractwithPetit.

136. OnAugust11,2008,Pilgrim’sannouncedtheclosureofitsClinton,Arkansas,

processingplantandafurtherprocessingfacilityinBossierCity,Louisiana.5 Pilgrim’spress

5 “Furtherprocessingplants”arefacilitiesthatprocesswholeorcut-upBroilersintoproductsforend
users,suchaschickennuggets. Notably,furtherprocessingplantsalonearenotabottleneckforthe
supplyofBroilersandwerenotthefocusofDefendants’coordinationtoreduceandrestrictBroiler
suppliesasallegedherein. DuringtheClassPeriod,someDefendantshaveincreasedtheamountof
furtherprocessingtheyperform internallyinordertocaptureprofitsthathadpreviouslybeenearnedby
third party furtherprocessorswho purchased unprocessed Broilersfrom Defendants. A few further
processing plantclosuresare noted in thisComplaintwhere they were closed in conjunction with
processingplants.
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releasenotedtheclosures“arepartofthecompany’songoingefforttooperatemoreefficiently

andreturntoprofitabilityamidhighfeedcostsandanoversupplyofchickenonthemarket.”

TheclosureoftheClintonprocessingplantrepresentedanadditional1.25% incrementalincrease

ofthecompany’spreviouslyannouncedproductioncuts.Pilgrim’sstatedthatitwouldkeepboth

plantsidleduntil“industrymarginscanbesustainedatmorenormalizedlevelsofprofitability.”

Pilgrim’salsonotedthat“[w]ithLaborDayapproachingandnoindicationthattheactionstaken

todatebyPilgrim’sPrideorotherindustrymembersarehavingapositiveeffectonsellingprices

forourproducts,itisnow clearthatmoresignificantdecisiveactionisnecessary.”

137. On an August26,2008,earningscall,Sanderson FarmsCEO JoeSanderson

statedthat“[s]olongasthisweaknesscontinues,thepoultryindustrywillneedtocutproduction

furtheruntilsupplyisinlinewithdemand.” W henaskedlaterwhethertheindustryhadalready

madeenoughproductioncuts,henoted“wekindofthoughtweweregoingtoseereductionsin

July...[basedon]213/214[million]eggssetsbackinAprilandthatreallydidnotmaterialize.

W henyoulookatUSDA slaughternumbersinJuly,theywere100% and101% andnow we’re

lookingateggsetsof206and207millionthataregoingtoshow upsometimeinOctoberor

November.W e’llseewhenwegetthere.Thosearebarelyimpressivecuts.Mysuspicionis,as

I’vetoldyouinMay,theindustrytypicallymakethecut[sic]andit’stentative.W e’llhaveto

seeifitworks....I’m veryskepticalthatthosecutsaregoingtobeenoughtoreturnusmargins

tocoverthesegraincosts.”

138. OnSeptember23,2008,Pilgrim’sannouncedthelayoffof100employeesatits

ElDorado,Arkansasprocessingplant.

139. BySeptember2008,BroilerindustrypublicationW attsPoultryUSA reportedthat

“[m]ostU.S.broilerintegratorsha[d]announcedplanstoclosesmalloperations,consolidate
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complexesand furtherprocessing plantsand to reduceoutputby 3 percentto 5 percentto

‘maximizeefficiency.’”

140. OnOctober3,2008,Defendants’seniorexecutivesattendedtheNationalChicken

Council’sAnnualMeeting.AgriStatsCEO BillSnydermoderatedaCEO panelthatincluded

Pilgrim’s,Tyson’s,Perdue’s,andSandersonFarms’CEOs.ExplainingPilgrim’sdesiretopush

throughanindustry-widepriceincrease,Pilgrim’sCEO ClintRiverstoldpanelmembersandthe

audience“[w]eneedtogetthose[input]costspushedthrough,butwe’veyettoseethathappen.”

141. On October10,2008,Pilgrim’s gave an interview to the Associated Press

regardingaUSDA reportoffallingeggsetsintheBroilerindustry. SpokesmanGaryRhodes

notedthat“[t]hisisverypositivenewsfortheindustryandmaysignalthattheindustryistaking

amorerationalizedapproachtoproductionheadingintothefall.”

142. DuringFall2008,SandersonFarmsalsoimplementeditspreviouslyannounced

“fallcuts”amonthearlyanddelayedtheopeningofanew deboningfacility.

143. OnOctober18,2008,W ayneFarmsPresident& CEO EltonMaddoxreleaseda

statementannouncingtheclosureofthecompany’sCollegePark,Georgiaplant,resultinginthe

layoffofover600 employees. Maddox cited “changing marketconditions”and aneed to

“maximizeefficiencies”asjustificationfortheplantclosure.

144. OnaNovember10,2008,Tysonearningscall,CEO DickBondclaimedthat

Tysonwouldnotbemakingadditionalproductioncutsbecauseithadalreadydoneitspartto

reduceindustrysupplywithpriorproductioncutsin2007andearlier.However,D.A.Davidson

& Co.analystTim Rameyasked“Dick,ayearagoyoutalkedaboutpriceencourage[sic]thenI

wasoutwithDonnieSmithfourfivemonthsago,youguystalkedaboutwellwe’renotgoingto
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betheonetocut.” Tysondidn’tresponddirectly,butcitedTyson’sattentionto“supplyand

demand.”

145. On November 12, 2008, industry analyst Ken Zaslow noted that “many

companies,suchasPilgrim’s,havepledgedtocutproduction,butTysonincreaseditsvolume

about6percentinthequarter....Theindustryhascutabout10to12percentofitsproduction.”

146. Despite claims to the contrary on its November2008 earnings call,Tyson

substantially reduced production in December2008. First,on December18,2008,Tyson

announcedthecancelingofadeboningcontractwithPetitJeanPoultryatPetit’sLittleRock,

Arkansasprocessingplantthatresultedinthelayoffof700employeesbyPetit. Second,by

December23,2008,itwasreportedthatTyson hadcutitsproductionby5%. Askedbya

meatingplace.com reporteraboutthecuts,TysonspokesmanGaryMickelsonstatedthat“[w]hile

wewouldrathernotsharedetailsofourcurrentpoultryproductionlevels,wecantellyouwe

continuetocloselyevaluatemarketconditionsinanefforttomatchcustomerdemandwithour

supply.” Themeatingplace.com articlealsonotedthatTysonhadreducedproduction“inrecent

yearsthroughtheclosingorsaleofpoultryplantsandbyrunningthecompany’sremaining

operationsatreducedcapacityutilization.”

147. OnaJanuary26,2009,Tysonearningscall,ananalystaskedwhyTysoncut

productioninDecember2008afterclaimingitwouldnotdosoinitsNovember2008earnings

call.Tyson’sSeniorVPDonnieSmithrepliedthatTyson’sinventorygrowthhadtriggereditto

cutproductioninDecember2008.

148. On January 28-30,2009,Defendants’ senior executives attended the 2009

InternationalPoultryExpoinAtlanta,Georgia.
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149. InaFebruary18,2009,interview,TysonSeniorGroupVicePresidentDonnie

Smithnotedthat“[a]crossourindustry,we’redownaboutsixpercentversuswherewewerea

yearago.W e’reseeinganimpactfrom thatonmarketprices...theindustryfundamentalsare

improving.”

150. InlateFebruary2009,areportnotedthatPilgrim’shadcutanother9-10% ofits

production.Accordingtothesamereport,TysontoldtheaudienceataFebruary2009investors’

conference thatitdid notintend to reduce itsproduction furtherbecause “[u]sing W ATT

PoultryUSA dataonready-to-cook(RTC)pounds,ournumbershavedeclined5-7% from 2000

to2008onRTCpoundswhileatthesametimetheindustryhasgrown31%.Overtime,wehave

doneplentyofcuttingback.” Inotherwords,Tysonfeltithadalreadytakenitsfairshareof

neededproductioncuts,socompetitorsneededtotakefurtheractions. However,asindicated

below,Tyson’sstatementsaboutnotreducing production appearto be posturing,because

generallyTysondidreduceitsproductionduringthe2008-2015timeperiodinlinewithother

producers,apparentlyhopingthethreatofitnotreducingproductionwouldleadotherproducers

toreduceproductionfirst.

151. ByFebruary25,2009,SandersonFarmstoldTheMorningNewsthatithadmade

cutstoitssupplyofBroilersbyprocessingsmallerBroilersand runningitsplantsatlower

capacity utilization rates. Sanderson also told a group ofinvestorsaround thistime that

“[b]ecausewedon’texpectmuchhelpfrom thedemandside,chickenmarketimprovementwill

havetocomefrom supplycuts.”

152. Similarly,SimmonsFoodsCEO ToddSimmonsnotedinaFebruary25,2009,

interview that“[w]eareseeinglowerdemandinthefood-servicecustomerbase.W ehavemade

adjustmentsinbirdweightstoensureourproductionmeetswithourcustomer’sneeds.”
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153. Seeing furthercuts from smallerproducers in the industry led Pilgrim’s to

announcehistoricallylargecutsto itsproduction on February27,2009. In apressrelease

announcing theclosureofthreeprocessing plantslocated in Douglas,Georgia,ElDorado,

Arkansas,andFarmerville,Louisiana,Pilgrim’sindicatedtheplantswere“underperforming”

and said theclosureswould “improvethecompany’sproductmix by reducing commodity

productionandtosignificantlyreduceitscostsinthemidstofanindustry-wideoversupplyof

chickenandweakconsumerdemandresultingfrom anationalrecession.” Pilgrim’sindicated

thattheidlingofthesethreeplantswouldreduceproduction9-10% intotalpoundsofBroilers

producedbythecompany.

154. Overall,“[a]tleast11 companiesreported reductionsin weeklyready-to-cook

productionin2008,”includingTyson,Pilgrim’s,Perdue,Simmons,HouseofRaeford,Cagle’s,

George’s,O.K.Foods,ColemanNaturalFoods,HarrisonPoultry,andGNPCompany. Other

companiesreducedtheirplannedproductionlevelsand/ordelayedtheplannedopeningofnew

Broilercomplexes.

3. Defendants’ 2008 To Early 2009 Broiler Production Cuts Included
Unprecedented Reductions To Broiler Breeder Flocks.

155. As noted above, 2008 ended a decades-long trend of additional Broiler

production,andsurprisedindustryobservers.However,whatmakestheproductioncutsin2008

evenmoreremarkableisthatBroilerproducersdidnotmerelymakeanunprecedentedreduction

inthepoundsofBroilerstheyproduced–theyalsowentfurtheruptheirsupplychainsthanever

beforetorestricttheirabilitytorampupproductionforyearsintothefuture. Thisproduction

restrictionwasaccomplishedbyreducingBroilerbreederflocksandtherebyforcinggenetics

companiestoreducesuppliesofgrandparentstocks.
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156. Broilerbreederflocksonaveragearekeptinactive“lay”for65weeks,sooverits

lifespanabreederhenproducesanaverageof140eggsperyearthatareincubatedatBroiler

producer-ownedhatcheries. BecauseBroilerbreederflocksarecreatedfrom alimitedpoolof

grandparentBroilers from the three Broiler genetics companies (Tyson’s Cobb-Vantress,

Aviagen,andHubbard),ittakessubstantialtimetore-populateaBroilerbreederflockthathas

beenreducedthroughearlyslaughter.ByreportingthesizeofeachDefendant’ssupplyflocks

throughAgriStats,Defendantscouldcloselymonitoroneanother’ssupplyflockreductionsand

dealwith a co-conspiratorwho was ramping up production in conflictwith Defendants’

conspiracy.

157. Defendants’reduction in Broilerbreederflocksduring2008 and thefirsttwo

monthsof2009wasunprecedented.W hilepreviousdownturnshadledsomeproducerstouse

short-term methodstoreduceoverallpoundsofBroilersslaughtered,in2008Defendantstook

theirreductionstothenextlevelbysubstantiallyreducingtheirBroilerbreederflocks(aka,

“BroilerHatcherySupplyFlock”),asshownbelow.
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4. The Cuts in 2008 and 2009 Led To Record Broiler Prices For Much Of
2009 And Early 2010.

158. TheeffectofthesupplycutsonBroilerpricingin2008andthefirsttwomonths

of2009wasclear–duringtheworstrecessioningenerations,Broilerpricesrosethroughmidto

late2008,stayingatornearall-timehighsuntillate2009. Forinstance,byMay28,2009,

SandersonFarmsreportedstrongprofitsthatweretwicethepredictionsofW allStreetanalysts,

whichaccordingtooneindustrypublicationwas“aidedbyproductioncutsandlowerfeedcosts

thatoffsetstill-weakdemand.” Similarly,ataMay14,2009,BMO CapitalMarketsconference,

interim Tyson CEO Leland Tollettnoted that“poultry marketfundamentalshad improved.

Pulletplacements,an[]indication offutureBroilersupplies,havebeen down thepastfive

monthscomparedtothesameperiodlastyear. Eggsetscontinuetorunsixpercentormore
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below yearagolevelsandcoldstorageinventoriesofpoultryhavedeclinedabout20percent

sincepeakinginNovember2008.”

159. However,aspricescontinuedtoriseduringlate2009andearly2010,producers

started increasingproduction in responseto thehigherprices,astheyhad donein previous

decades. Therisingproductionbyproducersinearly2010ledto areportedoversupplyof

Broilersthatbegantodepresspricesbylate2010.However,Defendantshadlearnedthevalue

ofcoordinatedsupplyreductionsin2008,sowerequicktoreactwithanew roundofpublicly

announcedproductioncutsinthefirsthalfof2011,whichquicklyhelpedpricesrecover.

160. During2009and2010,Defendants’seniorexecutivescontinuedtomeetwithone

anotherattradeassociationmeetingsandindustryevents,suchastheNationalChickenCouncil

andtheInternationalPoultryExpo. Forinstance,attheNationalChickenCouncil’sOctober

2009AnnualConference,oneindustryanalystwrotethatparticipantshademphasizedcontinued

“production discipline.” Asused by Defendants,“capacity discipline”isaeuphemism for

limitingBroilersupplies.Defendants’conspiratorialeffortstoartificiallylimitBroilersupplies

enabledDefendantstoraisepricesBroilerstosupracompetitivelevels.

5. Defendants Reacted With Unprecedented Speed To Overproduction In
2011, Which Led To A Second Wave Of Unprecedented Production Cuts.

161. Aroundearly2011,TysonwasoneofthefirstDefendantstoseethecoming

overproductionofBroilers. Inadditiontolimitingitsownproduction,Tysonembarkedona

new strategytosoakupexcesssupplyproducedbyitscompetitors. Tysoncalledthestrategy

“Buyvs.Grow.” AsdescribedfurtherinSectionVI(F)ofthisComplaint,Tyson’sBuyvs.Grow

strategy allowed Tyson to buy up excess production from its competitors and avoid the

depressionofpricesthatwouldoccurhadtheexcessproductionbeensoldontheopenmarket.

Inreturn,TysoncouldcommunicatethevolumesofBroilersitwouldbewillingtopurchase
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from competitorsin thecurrentand futuremonths,thussuggesting to each competitorthe

amountofproductionitshouldcutthatwouldnotbepurchasedbyTyson.Asoneinvestment

analystdescribedit,Tyson’sprogram “involvesmaintainingorevenreducing[Tyson’s]own

chickenproductionlevels,withbuyingmorechickenontheopenmarketfrom theirrivalchicken

producers,inanefforttokeepthechickenmarketfrom beingoversupplied.” Eventhoughit

wouldhavebeencheaper(withrespecttothecostofpoundspurchased)forTysontogrow its

ownBroilersinsteadofbuyingthem from acompetitor,TysonengagedinitsBuyvs.Grow

program becauseitallowedTysontobettercontrolsupplyandproductionintheBroilerindustry

andreapthebenefitofhighermarketpricesonalloftherestofitsBroilerpoundssold.

162. OnJanuary24-26,2011,Defendants’seniorexecutivesattendedtheInternational

PoultryExpoinAtlanta,Georgia,includingTysonCEO DonnieSmith. TheIPE featuredan

annualmarketintelligencepanelwithMikeDonohuefrom AgriStatsandindustry-insiderPaul

Aho.Accordingtoonereport,Donohuenotedthat“‘2008wastheworstyearfinanciallyforthe

(U.S.)broilerindustrythatmostpeoplehaveeverseen’...Theindustry’sresponsein2008was

a5to6% reductioninpoundsproduced.Hesaidthatthebroilerindustryiscurrentlyatrecord

highweeklyslaughtervolumes.” Ahonoted“[t]hiscouldbeaverydifficultyearwithcutbacks,

rationalization,andconsolidation.... Themarketiscallingforarounda5% reductionin

chickenproduction.”

163. OnaFebruary4,2011,Tysonearningscall,COO JamesLochnernotedthat“until

industry supply more closely aligns with demand” Tyson’s Broiler business would “be

challenged.” TysonCFO DennisLeatherbyalsoreferredtoasupply-demandimbalanceinthe

chickenindustry.
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164. OnaFebruary16,2011,Cagle’searningscall,Cagle’sreportedlysaidithad

beguna20% reductioninproductionatadeboningoperationinanefforttobalancesupplyand

demand. Cagle’stoldonepublicationthatitwas“optimisticthattheindustrywillexhibitthe

productionrestraintnecessarytosupporthigherpricingforCagle’sproductsallowingforreturn

toprofitablemargins.”

165. On or around February 25,2011,Sanderson Farms CEO Joe Sanderson

announced on an earnings callthatSanderson would be delaying the developmentand

constructionofasecondNorthCarolinaBroilercomplex.

166. OnMarch7,2011,HouseofRaefordannounceda10% reductionineggsetsthat

beganinearlyFebruary. CEO BobJohnsonnotedinanaccompanyingpressreleasethat“we

decidedthatactingnow wasaresponsibleactionforourcompanyinlightofcontinuingunstable

economicconditions....Hopefullythechickenpriceswillbegintoincreaselaterthisyear.In

addition,ifCongresswilltakeactiontocutunreasonablegovernmentsupportfortheethanol

industry,thengrainpricesshoulddecreasetoamoremanageablepricinglevel.”

167. OnMarch15,2011,Simmonsannounceditwaslayingoff180workersatits

Siloam Springs,Arkansasprocessingplant“[d]uetoeconomicsspecifictoourindustry,resulting

from highgrainpricespredominantlycausedbycornbeingusedinethanol,wehavedecidedto

realignsomeofourproductionresultingintheeliminationof180positionsasofApril15.”

168. OnApril13-15,2011,theGeorgiaPoultryFederationhelditsannualmeetingat

theBrasstownValleyResortinGeorgia.Defendants’seniorexecutivesattendedthemeeting.

169. On April15,2011,Mountaire Farmsannounced itwasabandoning a 3-5%

capacityincrease.MountairePresidentPaulDownesexplainedMountaire’sjustificationforthe

cuttoanticipatedcapacityinstarklysimpleterms:“Theonlywaytohigherpricesislesssupply.
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Theonlywaytolesssupplyischickencompanieswillshutdownorcutback.That’snotgood

forpoultrygrowersortheeconomy.ButIthinkthat’swhatwe’regoingtosee.” Inotherwords,

Mountairehad learned from theindustry’scoordinated action in 2008to reducesupplyand

realizedthattheoversupplyanddecreasingpricesinearly2011couldonlybeaddressedthrough

collectiveactionbytheBroilerindustrytorestrainproduction.

170. During2011,FieldaleFarmsreduceditsproductionbyanunspecifiedamount.

171. OnMay1-3,2011,Defendants’seniorexecutives,includingTysonCEO Donnie

Smith,attended UrnerBarry’sAnnualExecutiveConferenceand MarketingSeminar,which

includesanannualgolfoutingatalocalcountryclub.

172. OnMay17-18,2011,seniorexecutivesfrom SandersonFarms,Pilgrim’s,and

TysonattendedtheBMO Farm toMarketConference.AttendingwereSandersonFarmsCEO &

ChairmanJoeSanderson,SandersonPresident& COO LampkinButts,Pilgrim’sPresident&

CEO BillLovette,TysonCEO DonnieSmith,andTysonSeniorGroupVPofFreshMeatsNoel

W hite.

173. Pilgrim’sPresident& CEO BillLovettepresentedattheMay17,2011,BMO

Farm toMarketConference.Lovette’spresentationnotedPilgrim’sshiftawayfrom fixed-rate

contractstomarket-basedpricing.Pilgrim’salsonoteditsnew focusonmatchingproductionto

forecasteddemand,includingbyadjustingheadandbirdweightsatselectedplantstobetter

balancesupplyandcustomerdemand.

174. OnaMay24,2011,earningscall,SandersonFarmsCEO JoeSandersonstated

“thedealisthattheindustry— forgetSanderson— theindustrycannotsustainlosseslikethey

aresustaining foralong period oftime.They will— they can’tdo itand you havebeen

observingthisforyearsandyearsandtheindustryhasbeenlosingmoneysinceNovemberish
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andbalancesheetsdeteriorateandlosseshavetostop.Theonlywaytostoplosseswith$7corn

istoreduceproductionandgetpricesup.Thatistheruleandthelaw ofthejungle.”(emphasis

added).Sandersoncontinued,“myjudgmentisthattherewillbesomeothersthataregoingto

havetomakesomeadjustmentsthatIbelievecutswillbeforthcominginourindustrybasedon

thelossesweseeinAgriStats.”

175. OnJune6,2011,Cagle’sannouncedonanearningscallthat“[t]heindustrymust

lowersupplyinordertooffsetreduceddemandandtosupporthighermarketprices.Cagle’s

continuestoprocessat80percentofcapacityatitsPineMountainValleydeboningfacilityand

doesnotcontemplateanyincreaseintheforeseeablefuture.”

176. OnJune7-10,2011,theUSAPEEC helditsannualmeetingatTheGreenbrier

America’sResortinW estVirginia.Defendants’seniorexecutivesattended.

177. OnapproximatelyJune20,2011,Tysonbeginpullingeggsfrom itsincubatorsto

reduceBroilervolumes.

178. OnJune21,2011,Cagle’sannounceditwaslayingoff300employeesatitsPine

MountainValley,GeorgiaplanttoreduceBroilervolumes.

179. On June 27-29,2011,the US Poultry & Egg Association held a Financial

ManagementSeminarattheRitzCarltoninAmeliaIsland,Florida.Amongotherpresentations,

Pilgrim’sPresident& CEO BillLovettepresentedtoagroupof150attendeesthatincluded

seniorexecutivesfrom Defendants.

180. On June27,2011,Simmonsannounced itwaslaying off223 employeesby

AugustatitsSiloam Springs,Arkansasplantto“shiftproductiontobetteraddresssoaringcorn

prices.” Initspressrelease,SimmonsblamedU.S.Ethanolpoliciesforreducingitsproduction.
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181. OnJuly12,2011,TysonCEO DonnieSmith,TysonexecutiveBernardLeonard

(ChairmanoftheNCC atthetime),SandersonFarmsCOO LampkinButts,PecoCEO Mark

Hickman,andPerdueFarmsCEO Jim Perdueparticipatedinapaneltogetheratthe2011Food

MediaSeminar.

182. OnJuly29,2011,Pilgrim’sannouncedtheclosureofitsDallas,Texasprocessing

plantandthelayoffof1,000employees.Pilgrim’sPresident& CEO BillLovetteexplainedthat

“[w]hilethedecisiontocloseaplantandeliminatejobsisalwayspainful,wemustmakebetter

useofourassetsgiventhechallengesfacingourindustryfrom record-highfeedcostsandan

oversupplyofchicken....A keycomponentofthateffortisimprovingourcapacityutilization

throughproductionconsolidationandotheroperationalchanges.ByclosingtheDallasfacility,

wecanconsolidatethatproductionvolumeatthreeotherplantsandhelpthosesitesruncloserto

fullcapacity.”

183. OnanAugust1,2011,earningscall,SandersonFarms’CEO reportedlysaidthat

SandersonFarms’normalfallproductioncutof4% beginninginNovemberwouldremainin

placebeyondJanuaryof2012[and...]untildemandimproves. Sandersonalsostated“we

aren’tgoing to setany moreeggsuntilwepick up abig accountorwecan’tsupply our

customers’needs.W ethinkdemandimprovementwillrequireunemploymenttodrop....It

wouldn’tsurprisemeiftheindustrymakesfurther,deeperreductionsineggsetsinOctoberor

November,”hesaid.“NobodyknowswhatcutsmightbeneededuntilwegettoOctober,”“butI

thinkthatthecutbacksmayneedtobemorethanthe6% inheadthattheindustryalreadyhasin

place.”

184. On an August8,2011,Tyson earnings call,CEO Donnie Smith said that

“[d]omesticavailabilitymustbeinbalancewithdemandbeforeindustryeconomicscanimprove.
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Tysoncontinuouslystrivestomatchoursupplytodemandandasaresultwemadeaproduction

adjustmentinthethirdquarter....Ourgoalistomatchsupplytodemand.Andfollowingover-

productiontheindustryexperienced,wecutproductioninthethirdquarter,butthosecutshave

notyetimpactedthemarket.”

185. OnAugust18,2011,Cagle’sannounceditwasreducing20% ofitsproductionat

itslargePineMountainValley,Georgiaplant.

186. From October5-7,2011,Defendants’seniorexecutivesattended theNational

ChickenCouncil’s57thAnnualConference.Aspartoftheconference,seniorexecutivesfrom

PerdueFarmsand Koch Foodsparticipatedinapanelregardingthe“new paradigm”inthe

Broilerindustry. According to areportby meatingplace.com,panelmembersClintRivers

(Perdue Farms,PresidentofFoodservice and Supply Chain),BillAnderson (SeniorVice

President,KeystoneFoods),MikeHelgeson(CEO,GNP),andMarkKaminsky(KochFoods

COO & CFO)said“theindustryisaccustomedtocycles,butnotonequitelikethelatest,and

companiesaregoing to need to adjust. Disciplineon thesupplysidewasonesuggestion.

Gettingbetterpricesfrom retailerswasanother.”

187. On November17,2011,W ayneFarmsissued apressreleaseannouncing the

closureofitsDecatur,Alabamaplantandlayoffsof360employees.

188. On November21,2011,earningscall,Sanderson FarmsCEO JoeSanderson

respondedtoaquestionaboutaproductiondecreasethat“whenwetalkaboutthe4% number,

thatiswhatweprojecttheindustrytobe.Obviously,we’regoingtobeapartofthat.”

189. OnDecember6-8,2011,theUSAPEEC helditsannualCouncilmembersonly

wintermeeting.Defendants’seniorexecutivesattendedthemeeting.
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190. AtUSPOULTRY’sHatchery-BreederClinicin January2012,AgriStatsVice

PresidentDonohuenotedtheimportanceofreducingBroilerbreederflocks,notingthat“ifthe

industrychosetodoso,itcouldrampupproductionwithina10-weekperiodoftime. The

industrycouldblow apartanyrecover[y]intheshortterm byfilingupincubatorsagain,”but

notedthatAgriStatsdataindicatestheindustryisslaughteringbreederflocksat59to60weeks

(instead ofthe typical65 weeks),which suggested to him the industry wasmanaging its

productioncarefully.Theearlyslaughterofbreederflocksin2011throughmid-2012meantthat

Defendantssubsequentlywereunabletoincreaseproductionforatleasteighteenmonths,asthey

wouldhavebeenabletodohadtheynotmadecutssohighinthesupplychain.

191. Defendants’seniorexecutivesattended theJanuary 25-26,2012,International

PoultryandProcessingExpoinAtlanta,Georgia.TheNationalChickenCouncilhelditsBoard

ofDirectorsmeetinginconjunctionwiththemeeting.

192. Inearly2012,SandersonFarmscutitsproduction4%.

193. OnMarch20-21,2012,theNationalChickenCouncilBoardofDirectorsmetin

W ashingtonD.C.Defendants’seniorexecutivesattendedthemeeting.

194. On an April27,2012,earningscall,Pilgrim’sPresident& CEO BillLovette

reportedthat“thedieiscastfor2012,”andthat“we’recomfortablethattheindustryisgoingto

remainconstrained.”

195. OnApril29-May1,2012,UrnerBarryhelditsAnnualExecutiveConferenceand

MarketingSeminar.Defendants’seniorexecutivesattendedtheconference.

196. OnMay7,2012,Tysonheldanearningscallandannouncedithaddecreasedits

productionby4% throughlongerdaysbetweenflocksforitsgrowersandbyincreasingitsBuy

vs.Grow program.Tysonnotedonitsearningscallthat“theindustryasawholehasreduced

Case: 1:16-cv-08851 Document #: 1 Filed: 09/12/16 Page 62 of 166 PageID #:62Case: 1:16-cv-08637 Document #: 20-3 Filed: 09/19/16 Page 62 of 166 PageID #:461



42649 59

productionpoundsby4% to6% year-over-year. Tohelpkeepourproductionbalanced,we

boughtchickenontheopenmarketratherthangrowingallthebirdsweneeded.W ewon’tgrow

abirdsolelyforthepartinthehighestdemandbecausewehavetoselltheentirebird.Grow

versusbuyisastrategywelookatcontinuallybasedoninputcosts,revenuedemandforecast

andtheneedsofourcustomers.” TysonCEO DonnieSmithalsonotedontheearningcallthat

“webegantocutbacklastyear”withrespecttoeggsetsandplacements.

197. On June 6,2012,Pilgrim’s announced the layoffof190 employees atits

Chattanooga,Tennesseedeboningplant.Thecompanynotedthat“[w]hilethedecisiontoreduce

theworkforceinChattanoogawasnotmadelightly,weareconfidentthattheseactionswill

improvetheefficiencyofourplant,maintainourmutuallyprofitablerelationshipwithgrowers,

andstrengthenourabilitytoproducequalitypoultryproductsinTennessee,...[but][t]he

Chattanoogaoperationremainsavitalpartofourongoingstrategy.”

198. On June21,2012,theNationalChicken CouncilBoard ofDirectorsheld its

summermeetingattheRitz-CarltonHighlandsinLakeTahoe,California. Defendants’senior

executivesattendedthemeeting.

199. InaJuly9,2012,article,TysonCEO DonnieSmithwasquotedassaying“the

company willnotoverproduce chicken atthese expensive grain levels,preferring to buy

commoditypiecesinthesecondarymarkettofillorderswherenecessary.”

200. On July 15,2012,Defendants’seniorexecutivesattended a meeting ofthe

NationalChicken Council’sMarketing CommitteeattheStoneMountain Lodgein Stowe,

Vermont.

201. OnanAugust6,2012,earningscall,TysonCEO DonnieSmithstatedthat“[o]ver

thepastcoupleofyearswehavesubstantiallyreducedanumberoffixedpricecontractswehave
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withcustomersandcurrentlyhavelessthan15% ofourPoultryvolume[on]annualfixedprice

contracts. The vastmajority ofourcontracts are tied to specific markets orallow for

conversationsaboutadjustingpricestomove–pricestooffsethigherinputandwewillcontinue

topushforevenmoreofthesetypesofcontracts.Ibelievesupplywillbegintorationalizeas

well,makingiteasierforustohavethosepricingconversations.”

202. OnAugust23,2012,KochFoodsCEO JosephGrendysgaveaninterview with

BloombergNews. Hestatedthat“[c]ostshavegoneupsomuchduetothedroughtthatthe

industrywillbeforcedtogetpriceincreasesof10to15percentacrossallproductlines”for

2013overthisyear. Hewentontonotethat“‘[t]heindustryneedstobesmart’andfocuson

pricingtoensureitremainsprofitable....Evenifitdoesbecomeunprofitableinthefourth

quarter,theindustrymayresumemakingmoneyafterthefirstquarterof2013.” Thearticlealso

mentionedKochwasgoingtousequarterlyadjustmentsforpriceinitscontractsforthefirsttime

since2008.

203. OnAugust28,2012,SandersonFarmsannouncedafurther2% productioncut

thatitblamedoncornandsoybeanprices.

204. BySeptember2012,theeffectofDefendants’earlierproductioncutsstartingin

2011hadbeguntoleadtoincreasedBroilerprices. Mostimportanttotherecordprofitsthat

weretocome,DefendantshadnotjustcutthenumberofpoundsofBroilersslaughtered,but

Defendants destroyed a significantproportion oftheirBroilerbreederflocks. As noted

previously,doingsomeantthatDefendantscould not increaseBroilersuppliesintheshortor

medium term,eveniftheywantedto.

205. OnOctober10-11,2012,theNationalChickenCouncilhelditsannualmeetingat

TheMandarinHotelinW ashington,D.C.Defendants’seniorexecutivesattendedthemeeting.
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206. Theactionsallegedabove,takencollectivelyandnotinisolation,demonstratea

levelofcoordinationand“discipline”notseeninthisindustrypriortotheClassPeriodalleged

herein.

6. Defendants’ 2011-2012 Production Cuts Lowered Broiler Breeder Flocks
To Unprecedented Levels, Which Led To Record Profits For The 2013-
2014 Time Period.

207. Defendants’cutsto theBroilerbreederflocksin 2011-2012 sentflock levels

downtolevelsnotseenforalmosttwodecades,asshownbythegraphbelow.

208. Formuchoftheremainderof2012through2014,Defendantsreapedthebenefits

ofcoordinatedsupplyrestraintsintheform ofrisingpricesandrecordprofits. Duringthis

periodDefendants’executivesrepeatedlymadestatementscongratulatingindustryplayersonthe

“discipline”theyhadshownbykeepingsupplyrestrained. Forinstance,onaMay3,2013,

earningscall,Pilgrim’sPresident& CEO BillLovettestatedthat“[w]ell,obviously,revenueis
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goingtobeafunctionofprice,inpart,andinthiscaseabigpart;andobviously,priceisgoingto

strengthenassupplycontinuestobedisciplinedandconstrained....SoIthinktheindustryis

doing an admirable job in being disciplined on the supply side and Ithink we’ve gota

combinationwherewecombinethatdisciplinewithstrongdemandforproductandthat’swhy

you’veseenthepricingenvironmentthatwe’renow enjoying.” Lovettealsocommentedthat“I

believetheindustryhaslearnedoverthepastthreetofiveyearsthatchickeneconomicsisgoing

tobedrivenbythesupplyanddemandofchickenandnotnecessarilywhatcornorsoybeanmeal

costs.IthinkI’m confidenttosaywe’ve,wefiguredthatoutandwe’redoingagoodjobof

balancingsupplyanddemand.”

209. On theMay 3,2013,earningscall,Pilgrim’sPresident& CEO Lovettealso

discussedtheimportanceofcontinuedrestraintoftheindustry’sbreedersupplyflock,noting

“[w]ell,Ionlyknow whatwe’veseenhappeninthepast.Now,certainly,thissummerifthe

industrychoosestogrow thebreedersupplysignificantly,that’sdefinitelygoingtoimpact2014.

W hatI’m sayingis,sofar,we’veseennoindicationthattheindustryplanstogrow thebreeder

supplyandasamatteroffact,it’sactuallyshrunk.Sothat’sthesourceofmycomments.DoI

know what’sgoingtohappeninJuneorJulyorAugustofthisyearwithrespecttobreeder

placements,Idon’tknow that.Iwouldtellyouthatbasedonthelastthreetofiveyears,though,

again,I’llreiteratethatIthinktheindustryhaslearnedthattheeconomicsofourbusinessistied

verycloselytothesupplyofchickensandwe’vedoneagoodjobsofarofmaintainingdiscipline

suchthatevenpayingnearly$8.50forcorn,we’vebeenabletobeprofitableasanindustry.”

(emphasisadded)

210. OnOctober4,2013,CEOsandotherseniorexecutivesofDefendants’companies

metattheannualNCC meetinginW ashingtonD.C. ThemeetingfeaturedapanelwithGNP
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CEO MikeHelgeson,Tyson CEO DonnieKing,and SimmonsFoodsCEO Todd Simmons.

Accordingtoonepublication’saccountofthepanel,theCEOswere“chipperabouttheprospects

fortheirindustryinthenextfew years.”

211. OnaJanuary31,2014,earningscall,TysonCEO DonnieSmithreportedthat

throughTyson’s“buyversusgrowthstrategywecontinuetokeepoursupplyshortofdemand..

..” Tyson’scontinueduseofBuyvs.Grow,includingthroughthepresent,allowsTysonand

otherDefendantstoreduceproductiononamonth-to-monthbasisandhaveopportunitiesto

learnmoreinformationaboutoneanother’sproductionandpricing.

212. OnaFebruary21,2014,earningscall,Pilgrim’sPresident& CEO BillLovette

reflectedonwhathadledtorecordearningsforPilgrim’s.Henotedthat“Ithinktheonething

thatcreates… hascreatedthatstabilityisthedisciplineoftheindustrytonotallow profitabilityin

thepasttodrivesuppliesinthefuture.Ithinkweallhaveanunderstandingthatourindustryis

mature,especiallyintheU.S.Consumptionoftotalmeatinthelastfiveyearshasnotgrownand

ourgrowthinthefutureisgoingtocomefrom marketsoutsidetheU.S.Andso,wehavea

differentmodeltodaythanwehad15… 10or15yearsagointhatconsumptioninthiscountryis

notgrowingasrobustlyasitusedto.AndIthinkthatdisciplinereally,Ken,istheoneingredient

thathasmadeformorestableearningsthatwehaveseen.W ehavecertainlyseen alotof

volatilityinfeedingredientcosts,evenasrecentasthispastyear.AndIdon’tknow what… I

meanyoucanmakeasolidargumentforcornandsoybeanmealbeingmuchcheaperin2014

and‘15,giventherebuildingofworldinventoriesofcornandgrowinginventoriesofsoybeans.

Butwejustdon’tknow whatthenextweathereventineither,SouthAmerica,NorthAmericaor

evenEasternEuropemaypresentintermsofthesuppliesofthosefeedingredients.”
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213. OnMarch12,2014,TysonCEO DonnieSmithattendedanindustryconference

andtoldtheattendeesthat“[a]‘meaningfulchange’inbirdproductionwon’toccuruntilthe

secondhalfof2015.” Smith’sconfidenceaboutbroilerproductionwaspossiblebecauseofthe

radicalreductionsinBroilerbreederflocksDefendantshadmadeduring2011andearly2012,

which Smith knew made itimpossible forDefendantsto “meaningful[ly]change” Broiler

production.

214. IndustryanalystsnotedthechangeinthenatureofDefendants’productioncuts.

OnMay6,2014,aStephens,Inc.analystsaidinaninterview thathistorically“ithasbeenvery

easytoincreasethechickensupplybecausethecycleissoshort. Itonlytakesfourtoeight

weekstogrow achicken,butU.S.chickenproducersarehavingahardtimeincreasingthe

chickensupplybymuch.Theycutproductioncapacitythroughoutthesupplychainwhengrain

priceswereveryhigh. Becauseofthis,theycannotmateriallyincreasesupplyfor2014. W e

likelywon’tseeamaterialincreaseinproductionuntilthesecond-halfof2015.”

215. During2013andinto2014,Defendantscontinuedtofindwaystoactivelydepress

thesizeofBroilerhatcheryflocks,suchasusingthepretextofavianfluinMexicotojustify

exportinghatcheryflockBroilerstoMexicotorepopulateflocksratherthanusesuchBroilersto

increasedomesticproductionlevels. Indeed,Defendantscontinuedtheirprogram ofexporting

Broilerhensand eggsto Mexico in 2015,with Tyson explicitlynoting in aMay 4,2015,

earningscallthatitwassending3% ofitseggstoMexicoto“fillincubators.” Similarly,during

aJuly2016earningscall,Pilgrim’sCEO BillLovettenotedhis“confidencethatwe’regoingto

dotherightthingwithrespecttomaintaining[]discipline.W e’vecertainlyhadthehatchingegg

supplytogrow muchmoreifwechosenottoexportthoseeggs.IthinkinMayweexported81

millionhatchingeggsorsooutsideofthecountry.Theindustrycouldhavechosentosetsomeof
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thoseeggsdomestically,butthatwasnotthechoicethatwasmade.Andsoagainthatgivesus

confidencethatwe’regoingtocontinuetobedisciplinedasanindustry.”

216. Defendants’coordinatedexportationofBroilerhatchingeggsfrom theU.S.from

2013throughthepresentisanactiveefforttoartificiallyreducethesupplyofBroilersinthe

U.S.below whatitwouldbeabsentDefendants’activeandcontinuedparticipationinanillegal

antitrustconspiracy. Upon information and belief,Tyson and otherDefendants exported

hatchingeggstoMexicoandotherforeigncountriesfrom 2013-2016toartificiallyreducethe

supplyofBroilersintheU.S.andincreasethepriceofBroilersintheU.S.ThevalueTysonand

othersreceivedforexportinghatcheryeggstoMexicowouldhavebeenfarexceededbythe

priceTyson would havereceived forhatching thosesameeggsin theU.S.and selling the

resulting Broilermeatin the U.S.market. Therefore,butforDefendants’agreementand

conspiracy asalleged in thisComplaint,itwould have been againstTyson’sindependent

economicself-interesttoexporthatchingeggstoMexicoandtoforgohigherhatchingeggprices

intheUnitedStates.ButDefendants’new-founddisciplineamelioratedanyremainingriskand

resultedinhigherU.S.broilerprices.

217. AccordingtoanOctober1,2014,CoBankanalysisoftheBroilerindustry,the

strategyofDefendantstotargetBroilerbreederflockspaiddividendsduring2013and2014.

Accordingtothereport,“[b]roilerproductdemandshouldremainrobustthroughtherestofthis

yearand wellinto 2015,bolstered by agradually improving domesticeconomy,continued

strength in exportdemand,and thetowering pricesofbeefand pork. Broilerproduction,

however,hasbeenslow torespond,withintegratorshavinghadproblemsexpandingthenumber

ofchicksplacedforgrowout. Broilermeatproductionisontracktogrow just1.5percentin

2014from ayearago,withasimilarlymodestgainexpectedfor2015.Producershavebeen
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somewhatconstrained in theirattemptsto expand thenation’schicken flock bythelimited

supplyofbroilerhatchingeggs.W henthebroiler-producingindustryreducedproductionin2011

and2012,thehatcherysupplyflockwasalsoreduced,andithasnotyetbeenrebuilttoprior

levels. Followingsevenmonthsof[Year-over-Year(“YoY”)]declines,thenumberofchicks

placedforgrowoutfinallypostedamodest1percentYoY gaininAugust.However,itwilltake

another6-9monthsforintegratorstorebuildthesupplyofbroilerhatchingeggsinpreparation

forexpandingtheoverallflock,sosignificantgrowthinbroilerproductionwillnotmaterialize

untillate-2015orearly-2016.”

218. On October10,2014,NCC PresidentMike Brown wrote an op-ed in The

NationalProvisioner.ThetitleofBrown’sarticle,“Biofuelpolicyholdsbackproductionramp-

up,”continuedtoblametheBroilerindustry’sboogeymanoftheRenewableFuelStandard(aka

the ethanolmandate) instead of Broiler producers’ collusive agreementto notincrease

production in linewith demand. Brown wrote,“currentfavorablemarketconditionswould

normallystimulateproductiontobesomewhathigher,thatis,apercentagemorealignedwiththe

long-runannualaverageof4percent.Sowhyarechickenproducersnotsteppingupproduction

tobettermatchthelong-term averageof4percent? W ewouldifwecould,butwecan’t.W e

wouldliketoproducemorepoundsofchicken,butunfortunatelywearenotthereyet. The

primaryreasonfortheindustry’sinabilitytoincreaseproductioncanbeattributedtoproblems

causedbyafailedpolicy”oftheRenewableEnergyStandard. Brownalsowentontoblame

fertilityissuesinthebreederstockandapropaneshortagethatmadeitdifficulttoheatchicken

housesasotherreasonstheindustrycouldnotincreaseproduction.

219. On October 29,2014,Simmons Foods announced the closure of its Jay,

Oklahomaspenthenprocessingplant.SpenthensareBroilerbreedersthathavereachedtheend
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oftheirproductivelifecycle. TheSimmonsfacilityprocessedspenthensonbehalfofmany

Defendants,providing Simmonswith opportunitiesto monitorchangesin otherDefendants

Broilerbreedersupplies. TheclosureofSimmons’Jay,Oklahomafacilityisindicativeofthe

reducedBroilerbreedercapacityresultingfrom Defendants’initiativestocutBroilerbreeder

capacityacrosstheindustry.

7. Avian Flu Disrupted Export Relief Valve During 2015, But Prices And
Profitability Remained Relatively Stable Into 2016.

220. Signsinlate2014begantopointtowardsthepossibilityofrisingproduction

levels. A few Defendantsannouncedproductioncuts,butduetothesubstantialreductionsin

Broilerbreederflocks Defendants had already taken,Defendants’production was already

constrained. Defendantsundertookvariousaffirmativeactsinfurtheranceoftheconspiracy,

includingexportingofhatchingeggsoutsidetheU.S.,inter-Defendantpurchasesinfurtherance

ofDefendants’conspiracysuchasTyson’sBuyvs.Grow program,breakingeggsratherthan

setting eggs,dumping of excess Broiler supply in foreign markets,and closing Broiler

productionfacilities.

221. Forexample,TysonannouncedonMay4,2015,theclosureofitsBuenaVista,

Georgia,Broilerplantaspartofan ongoing effortto “increase efficiencies.” Tyson also

announceditwaseliminatingoneshiftatitsDawson,Georgiaplant.TysonannouncedinMay

2015thatitplannedtoreduceitsproductionafterJuly2015andkeepproductionflatthrough

2016byincreasingitsBuyvs.Grow purchases.

222. During2015,despitethedevastationAvianFlucausedtotheturkeyandtableegg

industries,theBroilerindustrywaslargelyunaffectedbythedisease,withtheprimaryeffect

beingtemporarybansonexportsfrom somespecificstatesorofallBroilerexportsfrom theU.S.

tovariouscountries,suchasChina,Korea,andanumberofothernations.
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223. Avian Flu-related export limitations during 2015 caused frozen Broiler

inventoriestobuildup intheU.S.,threatingthestabilityofBroilerpricesDefendantshave

workedsohardtoincreasesince2008.Inresponse,Defendantsworkedinconcerttocoordinate

thedumpingofexcessinventoriesofBroilersinforeignmarketstoavoiddeteriorationofthe

artificiallyhighpricesintheU.S.resultingfrom Defendants’conspiracy.Forinstance,inearly

October2015,Vietnam launched an inquiry into dumping by U.S.Broilerproducersafter

VietnameseBroilerproducersdeterminedthatdumpingoffrozenchickenbyU.S.producershad

costitover$120millioninthelast16months. A reportbyVietnam’sSoutheastLivestock

AssociationconcludedthatU.S.BroilercompaniesweresellingchickenthighsinVietnam for

29% ofthepriceofasimilarproductsoldintheU.S.market(e.g.,ataW almart),excludingthe

additionalcostoffrozen shipping rates,importdutiesand otherfeesassociated with U.S.

producerssellingchickenthighsintheVietnamesemarket.BylateMay2016,SandersonFarms

CEO JoeSandersonreportedonanearningscallthatallbutoneoftheAvianFluexportbanshad

beenlifted.

224. Inlate2015,BroilerindustryanalystHeatherJonesnotedthatchickensupplies

hadnotincreasedasexpectedfrom theAvianFluduetothefactDefendantshadstartedbreaking

eggsratherthansettingeggs. Defendantscoordinatedthebreakingofeggswithoneanother

during2015,inpart,bytheexchangeofproductioninformationthroughAgriStats.

225. W attsPoultryUSA’sMarch2016issuenotedthatTysonFoodsachieved“record

earningsandsalesinfiscalyear2015...posting$40.6billioninsales,includingringingup

higherchickensales.Yet,Tysonloweredchickenproductionin2015. W hat’satworkhere?

Thisparadoxicalperformance,inpart,reflectsthefactthatTyson,alongwithothertopU.S.

broilercompanies,isredefiningitsbusinessmodeltoachieveprofitablegrowth.” Infact,the
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explanation forTyson’s “paradoxical” 2015 performance— including increasing its Broiler

profitsbutloweringitsBroilerproduction— wastheresultoftheillegalconspiracyallegedin

thisComplaint.

226. Pricesduring 2015 remained relatively flat,which led NCC PresidentMike

Browntowriteanotherop-edinTheW allStreetJournalonMay15,2015,totrytoexplainwhy

Broilerpricesremainedsohigh.Likehispreviousop-ed,heagainblamedtheBroilerindustry’s

typicalboogeyman–theRenewableFuelStandard–forincreasedBroilerprices.

227. During2016,Broilerpriceshavedeclinedslightly. However,Defendantshave

maintainedhighprofitabilitybyexercising“discipline”ontheirBroilersupplythathasbroken

withthedecades’-longboom andbustcycleoftheBroilerindustry. Forinstance,duringan

April2016earningscall,ananalystnotedthatPilgrim’sCEO BillLovette“mentionedthatyou

thinktheindustrydomesticallyhasbeenmuchmoredisciplinedthantheyhavebeeninthepast,

I’m wonderingifyoucouldjustelaboratealittlebitmoreonwhatsortofdrivesthatview and

then maybewhatgivesyou confidencethatthisdisciplinewillhold.” Lovetteresponded,

“[w]hatdrivestheview istheactualnumbersthatwesee,readytocookpoundsareupabout

3.1% yeartodate.Ifyoulookatplacementsyeartodate,they’reup1%,eggsetsup0.7%,

hatcheryutilizationactuallydeclinedinQ1to91%.Sointhephaseofcomingofftwoofthe

mostprofitableyearsintheindustry,we’renotseeing,notrealizinglargeamountofproduction

increases.” Tellingly,Pilgrim’sCFO FabioSandriaddedimmediatelyafterLovette’scomments

that“whatdrovethatIbelieveitisthatindustryismoregearedtowardsprofitabilityratherthan

justmarketshareorfieldgrowth.” Putanotherway,Defendantsarenolongercompetingwith

one anotherto gain marketshare by growing theircompaniesasone would expectin a
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competitivemarket,butinsteadDefendantsareworkingcollectivelytoincreaseprofitabilityby

being“disciplined”intermsofsupplygrowth.

228. OtherCEOshavealsobeenforcedrecentlytotrytoexplainthemarkedshiftin

theBroilerindustryfrom itsdecades’-longpatternofboom andbust.DuringaFebruary2016

SandersonFarmsearningscall,BMO CapitalMarketsanalystKenZaslow notedtheBroiler

industry’shistoryofvolatilityinpricingandprofitabilityforchickencompaniesandquestioned

iftherewas“anychangingoftheindustrydynamic”thathadoccurred.SandersonFarmsCEO

JoeSandersonreplied“wemightbeatacapacitywall,youknow?...Sincebackin2007...

therearethreeorfourplantsshuttered...Itdoesfeeldifferent.”

229. During2016,Defendants’profitabilityhasalsobeenaided,inpart,bythefact

thatinputcostshavedecreased substantially,though Broilerpriceshavenotexperienced a

similardecline. DuringaBroilerindustryconferenceinFebruary2016,industryanalystDr.

PaulAhoreportedthatoverallprofitabilityhasremainedsteadyorincreased,asinputcostshave

drasticallydecreased.Ahonotedthatduring2016therehavebeen“broad-baseddeclinesinkey

commodities,especiallyfeedgrainsandenergy.” Infact,inMay2016Tysonpostedrecord

quarterlygrowth,withprofitmarginsforBroilersrisingtobetween9and11percent.

230. Defendantshavealsokeptuptheuseofsignalstooneanothertoperpetuatetheir

conspiracyduring2016byusingthecodeword“discipline”tonotetheircontinuedadherenceto

Defendants’conspiracy.Forinstance,duringaFebruary2016earningscall,Pilgrim’sCEO Bill

Lovettenotedthat“[t]heindustrycontinuestobedisciplinedintermsofU.S.supply.Although

monthly pulletdatatend to bevolatileand haveoccasionally been atthehigh end ofour

expectations,weseemodestgrowthofthebreederflock,andmoreimportantly,littletono

increaseineggsitsandchickplacementsasapositive.W ebelievethatatleastpartofthereason
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isbecausechickenproducersarebeingdisciplinedandaremuchquickertoreactthaninthepast

and in adjustingsupplygrowth to theactualmarketconditions.” Similarly,in aJuly2016

earningscall,Pilgrim’sCEO BillLovettenotedthat“Ithinkwhatwe’veseenwitheggsetsis

absolutelyatestamenttothedisciplineofourindustrythatwe’veseenthelastreallytwotothree

years.”

D. The Structure And Characteristics Of The Broiler Market, Together With Other
Factors, Render The Conspiracy Economically Plausible.

1. The Broiler Industry Is Highly Vertically Integrated.

231. The Broiler industry is almostentirely vertically integrated,with Broiler-

processingfirmsowningortightlycontrollingalmostallaspectsofproduction,processing,and

marketing. IntheBroilerindustry,“verticalintegration”meanstheBroilercompanyownsor

controlseachaspectofbreeding,hatching,rearing,feeding,basicprocessing,and sellingof

Broilers.ManyintegratedBroilercompaniesalsoownfurtherprocessingplants.6

232. Because Broilerproducershave determined overtime thatthe economicsof

growing chicksinto fullsizeBroilersareunfavorable,theBroilerindustryhasdeveloped a

system ofproduction-contractfarming.Theintegratedproducersprovidethefeedandchicksto

farmers(whichremainunderownershipoftheintegratedproducer);thecontractfarmerthenhas

roughly6-7weekstogrow thechicksintofullsizeBroilers.Duringthis“grow out”period,the

integratedproducer’semployeesfrequentlymonitortheBroilers.Oncefullygrown,Broilersare

pickedupbytheintegratedproducerandbroughttoanintegrator-ownedprocessingplant(aka,

slaughterhouse). SomeoftheBroilersaresold withoutanyfurtherprocessing,whileother

6See fn.5above.
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Broilersarefurtherprocessed byintegrated companiesinto specialtyproducts(e.g.,chicken

nuggets,etc.).

233. Thegraphicbelow indicatesthekeystagesofBroilerproductionthatvertically

integratedBroilercompaniescontrol,whichareallthosepointsintheproductionprocesswhich

provideintegratedBroilercompaniescompletecontroloversupplyandallow them tocapturethe

greatestprofitmargin:

234. AccordingtoapaperpreparedinconnectionwiththeUSDA andDOJ’sfailed

efforttoincreasecompetitionintheBroilerindustryin2010,“[c]ontroloverthenumberofbirds

delivered to theprocessing plantsallowsprocessorsto match moreclosely inputsto plant

capacitiesandlowerper-unitprocessingcosts,aswellastobettermeetconsumerrequirements.”

InconnectionwiththesameeffortbytheUSDA andDOJ,aformerexpertwitnessforDefendant
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Tyson,MichaelDicks,wrote,“[i]nthepoultryindustryverticalcoordinationallowsintegrators

tomanageexcesscapacitytomanageprice.Integratorscanminimizetheeffectonproducersby

increasingthetimebetweencollectionanddeliveryofbirdsorreducingthenumberofflocksper

yearratherthanterminatinggrowercontractsinmuchthesamewaytheUSDA requiresall

commodityprogram recipientstoadheretoacreagereductionprogram guidelinesandgrower

associationsrequirememberstocutbackmarketableoutput.”

235. ModernBroilerproducersrelyonahandfulofuniqueBroilerbreedlinestomass

produceessentiallyidenticalchickenswithdesirablegenetictraits.Geneticscompanies,which

developstrainsofgrandparentandgreat-grandparentbreedingstock,selltointegratedBroiler

producers’breedersthathavespecialhybridcharacteristics,suchasatendencytoproducea

largechickenbreast.Geneticscompaniescreatea“biologicallock”ontheiruniqueBroilerlines

bytightlycontrollingthepurebredgeneticstrainthattheydevelop.Afteranintegratedproducer

purchasesyoungbreederhens(aka“breederpullets”)from aprimarybreeder,theintegrated

producerraisesthebirdstobebreedersthatlayeggstobetakentoincubatorsatanintegrator-

ownedhatchery.Thechicksfrom Broilercompanyhatcheriesarethensentouttotheintegrated

producer’scontract-farmerstoraiseintoadultBroilers.

236. Atpresent,noBroilercompanyexceptTysonownsthegeneticsorproducesthe

grandparentorgreat-grandparentstrainfortheBroilersitraisesandslaughters.NearlyallU.S.

producersnow relyon 3globalgeneticsconglomerates: Cobb-Vantress(ownedbyTyson),

Hubbard,and Aviagen. These three companies supply the breederstock,and therefore

ultimatelytheBroilers,thataccountfor98% ofBroilersraisedintheU.S.and80% ofBroilers

raised globally. W hile there were 26 Broiler genetics companies world-wide in 1981,
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acquisitionsbythethreeremainingcompanieshaveessentiallyeliminatedanyothermeaningful

competitorsintheU.S.Tyson’sCobb-Vantresssubsidiaryhasapproximately50% marketshare.

237. Since a supply ofprimary breeders is essentialto each Broilerproducer’s

business, Tyson’s ownership and control of subsidiary Cobb-Vantress provides it with

exceptionalleverageoverotherDefendantsto mandatecompliancewith Defendants’illegal

agreement. TysoncanofferotherDefendantsthecarrotofaccesstoCobb-Vantress’unique

Broilergeneticlines,with desirablequalitieslikehigh conversion ratesoffeed into meat.

However,TysoncanalsouseCobb-VantressasastickagainstanycompetitorwhoTysonand/or

itsco-conspiratorsbelieveisoverproducing Broilersbyproviding such competitorsinferior,

sick,oraninsufficientnumberofbreederpullets,orwithholdingbreederpulletsaltogetherthat

thecompetitorneedstooperateaprofitablebusiness.

238. PerduewasthelastBroilerintegratorintheU.S.tomaintainitsowngenetics

researchcompanybesidesTyson,butPerduesolditsgeneticscompanytoTysonin2014. In

announcingthesale,Perdueissuedapressreleasethatstated“therearenolongersignificant

advantagestohavingourownbreed...itisimportantthatwehavetheflexibilitytoselectthe

breedercombinationthatworksbestforeachspecificcustomerrequirement.” Thepressrelease

wentontonotethat“[w]iththeoutstandingexceptionoftheCobb-Vantressenterpriseownedby

TysonFoods,noproducerhasmanagedtoeffectivelycompeteusinganin-companybreeding

program againstamultinationalprimarybreeder.Tobecosteffectiveageneticsprogram based

onindexselectionincorporatingthemeasurementofsignificanttraitsandapplyingsophisticated

molecularmarkersandfieldtestingrequiresamagnitudeofscaleexceedingthecapacityof

individualproducers.”

Case: 1:16-cv-08851 Document #: 1 Filed: 09/12/16 Page 78 of 166 PageID #:78Case: 1:16-cv-08637 Document #: 20-3 Filed: 09/19/16 Page 78 of 166 PageID #:477



42649 75

239. Upon information and belief,DefendantTyson,through its Cobb-Vantress

subsidiary,intentionallymanipulatesthesupplyofgrandparentandgreat-grandparentBroiler

stock(from whichitsuppliersintegratorswithBreederpullets)including,butnotlimitedto,only

providinghealthyandhighqualitybreederpulletstocertainofitsco-conspirators,butproviding

inferiorandsickqualitybreederpulletstoothersmallernon-DefendantBroilerproducers.This

practicecontributedsignificantlytothebankruptcyorfailureofanumberofsmallerBroiler

companiesinthe2010timeperiod.

2. The Market For Broilers Is Characterized By Inelastic Supply And Demand.

240. AccordingtoaMay2010paperwrittenbyBroilerindustryconsultantMichael

Dicks,“[b]ecauseoftheinelasticnatureofthesupplyanddemand[ofBroilers,]areductionin

supplywillproduceanoutcomemorepreferabletotheindustrythanmaintainingsupplywitha

lowerprice.” A studybyconsultantTheHudsonRiverGroupforPilgrim’sin2008foundthata

onepercentdecreaseinthesupplyofBroilersleadstoa0.8% increaseinthepriceofBroilers.

Inotherwords,demandforBroilersisinelastic,soadecreaseinsupplywillincreaseprices.

241. Defendants acknowledge thatsupply and demand in the Broilerindustry is

inelastic.Forinstance,inhisMay2010paper,BroilerindustryconsultantMichaelDickswrote

that“[a]ttemptingtomaintainsupplylevelswouldreducepricetolevelsunsustainableevenin

theshortrun. Becauseoftheinelasticnatureofthesupplyanddemandareductioninsupply

willproduceanoutcomemorepreferabletotheindustrythanmaintainingsupplywithalower

price.”

242. Broilerproducershaveassertedinpublicstatementsthatchangesinwholesale

Broilerpriceshavebeenduetochangesin“supplyanddemand.” However,demandforBroilers

hasbeenflatsince2008,whileatthesametimewholesaleBroilerpriceshaverisenroughly
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50%. Therefore,itisthereduction in the supply ofBroilersthathasled to Broilerprice

increases.

3. There Are No Significant Substitutes For Broilers.

243. PorkandbeefarethemostlikelyalternativesourcesofproteintoBroilers,but

porkandbeefarenoteconomicsubstitutesforBroilers.Numerousstudieshavefoundthatthe

crosselasticityofdemandbetweenBroilers,beef,andporkiseithernegativeorstatistically

insignificant,meaningthatporkandbeefarecomplements toBroilers,butnotsubstitutes.

244. ThehistoricallyhighspreadbetweenthepriceofporkandbeefversusBroilers

since2008hasalsoreducedanypossibilityofsubstitutionofBroilerswithporkorbeef.

4. The Broiler Industry Has Experienced High Consolidation And Is Highly
Concentrated.

245. AccordingtoaNovember2013USDA report,“[d]uringthepast16years,firms

intheBroilerindustrycontinuedtodecreaseinnumberandgrow insize,therebygainingfurther

economiesofscaleandscopeinprocessingandmarketing.AccordingtotheNationalChicken

Council,55 federally inspected Broiler companies operated in 1995,compared with 41

companiesin2010.” By2014,therewereonly35suchcompanies.

246. In fact,the trend towards consolidation among allsegments ofthe Broiler

industrygoesbackdecades,asshownbelow. Thisconsolidationhaslargelysqueezedoutthe

largenumberofsmallerBroilercompaniesthatusetorepresentasignificantportionofBroiler

industryproduction.
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247. Asof2015,Defendantscontrolled 88.8% ofBroilerproduction in theUnited

States.Sincethestartoftheclassperiod,therehasbeensurprisingstabilityinmarketsharefor

eachDefendant,asshownbythegraphbelow.ThetwoexceptionsarePilgrim’slossofmarket

shareduetoitslargeplantclosuresduringbankruptcyin2008-2009andKochFoods’increasein

marketshareduetothepurchaseofaplantfrom TysonandpurchaseofbankruptCagle’s,Inc.
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248. InadditiontoformalconsolidationamongDefendants,increasedantitrustscrutiny

ofacquisitionsin the Broilerindustry by the U.S.DepartmentofJustice hasled Broiler

companiestoincreasinglyrelyondefactoconsolidationwherebyDefendantsacquirenearly

completecontroloverseeminglyindependentsmallerBroilercompanies.Defendants’defacto

consolidationcreates“zombie”Broilercompaniesthatonpaperareseparateandindependent

entities,butareinfactcompletelycontrolledbyDefendantsthroughco-packingcontracts.For

instance,TysonFoodshasco-packingarrangementswithanumberofsmallerBroilerproducers

inwhichTysonpurchaseseither(1)thecompany’sentireproductionofBroilers(includingdark

meat)or(2)allofthecompany’swhitemeat(i.e.,chickenbreastandwings)andencouragesthe

companytoexportthelessvaluabledarkmeattoremovethatsupplyfrom theUnitedStates

market.

249. Upon information and belief,Defendants’co-packing contractswith smaller

producersaretypically2-5yearsinlength.Evenwheretheco-packingarrangementisonly10-

20% ofasmallerproducer’soverallsupply,Defendantsareinapositiontopressuresmaller

producerstolimittheirproduction.Co-packingcontractsgiveDefendantsunprecedentedcontrol
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oversupposedlyindependentproducers,includingcontroloverthebreedofbirdgrown,what

feedcanbeused,how manybirdscanbegrown,andnumerousotheraspectsofraisingBroilers.

W ithrespecttoprocessing,Defendantsnotonlyrequireexactingspecificationsforco-packing

partners,butalsoputDefendants’ownemployeesintheprocessingplantsoftheirco-packers

andsuperviseeverysignificantdetailoftheslaughterandpackingprocess.

250. Uponinformationandbelief,thepurposeand/oreffectofDefendants’co-packing

arrangementsisitavoidsscrutinyfrom antitrustregulatorsthatwouldcomewithformalmerger

arrangements,includingpossiblediscoveryofDefendants’anti-competitiveagreementtoreduce

thesupplyofBroilersintheU.S.

5. The Broiler Industry Has A History Of Government Investigations And
Collusive Actions.

251. InresponsetoaFederalTradeCommissioninvestigationin1919whichfound

oligopolydominationandanti-competitivemonopolisticbehaviorinthemeat-packingindustry,

Congresspassed thePackersand StockyardsAct(“PSA”). See 7 U.S.C.§ 193(a),§ 209.

Congressamendedthelaw toincludethepoultryindustryin1935.

252. In1922,theSupremeCourtupheldtheconstitutionalityofthePSA inStafford v.

Wallace,findingthat“theobjectofthePSA wastosecuretheflow oflivestockfrom thefarms

andrangestotheslaughteringcenterandintomeatproductsunburdenedbycollusionthatunduly

loweredthepricestotheshipperandundulyincreasedthepricetotheconsumer.”

253. InApril1973,theUnitedStatesDepartmentofJusticefiledacivilantitrustaction

againsttheNationalBroilerMarketing Association (“NBMA”)alleging theNBMA and its

membersconspiredtofixBroilerpricesandrestrictBroilerproductioninviolationofSection1

oftheShermanAct. TheDOJsoughttoenjointheNBMA anditsdozensofmembersfrom

continuing a conference call program where members (and even some non-members)
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coordinatedthepricingandproductionofBroilers.Inresponse,numerousprivatecivilantitrust

actionswerefiledagainsttheNBMA and42individualdefendantsintheIn re Chicken Antitrust

Litigation case. TheNBMA andBroilerproducerseventuallysettledthecase,resultingina

settlementofroughly$30million.

254. Beginningin2010,theUSDA undertookaseriesofpublicworkshopstoexplore

competitionissuesintheagricultureindustry.A workshopheldinNormal,Alabama,onMay

21,2010,focusedoncorporateconcentrationandlackofcompetitionintheBroilerindustry.

Theworkshopsledtotheproposalofnew rulesaimedatencouragingcompetitioninthemeat

industry,butextremepoliticalpressurefrom Defendantsand theirallieseventually watered

down the rule and led to the resignation ofthe officialcharged with imposing tougher

regulations.

255. In2011,George’sInc.acquiredtheHarrisonburg,Virginiaprocessingplantfrom

TysonFoods. TheDOJbroughtanactiontostoptheacquisition(United States v. George’s,

Inc.),7whichallegedthepurchasewouldimpermissiblyreducetheavailableoptionsforcontract

farmerstoselltheirgrowerservices. TheDOJeventuallysettledwithGeorge’sinJune2011

afterobtaininganagreementtorequireGeorge’stomakecapitalimprovementstothefacility

thatwouldincreaseitscapacityandpermitcontractfarmerstosellmoregrowerservicestothe

processingplant.

256. AccordingtoaJune2014USDA Report,“the[Broiler]industryfacesarangeof

publicpolicyissues,[including]competition....[c]oncerns[,including]theexerciseofmarket

powerby Broilerintegratorshaveprompted mergerlitigation,USDA regulatory initiatives,

congressionalproposals,andinvestigationsbyFederalagencies.”

7United States v. George’s Foods, LLC et al.,No.5:11-cv-00043(W .D.Va.).
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257. Numerouscasesinrecentyearshavedocumentedthelackofcompetitioninthe

contract-farmerBroilermarket,whichwhileupstream inthesupplychainfrom thePlaintiffs’

andthedirectpurchasermarket,suggestanabsenceoftruecompetitionandinsteadsuggesta

practiceofcoordinationandcollusionamongDefendants.IncasessuchasAdams v. Pilgrim’s

Pride,No.2:090-cv-00397(E.D.Tex.),Been v. O.K. Industries,No.08-7078(E.D.Okla.),and

Wheeler v. Pilgrim’s Pride Corp.,No.5:06-cv-00004(E.D.Tex.),contract-farmershavealleged

violationsofthePackersandStockyardsActbyintegratedBroilerproducers.

6. Defendants Had Numerous Opportunities To Collude.

a. Trade Associations.

258. DefendantsaremembersofseveralBroiler-relatedtradeassociationsandother

forums,whichtheyusedtofacilitatetheirconspiratorialconduct.IntegratedBroilerproducers

havenumerousregulareventsthroughwhichtheycancommunicateinpersonwithoneanother.

Regularand frequentattendance by Defendants’CEOs and top levelexecutives attrade

associationmeetingsisthenorm ratherthantheexception.

259. Accordingtoitswebsite,“[t]heNationalChickenCouncilrepresentsintegrated

chickenproducer-processors,thecompaniesthatproduce,processandmarketchickens. [The

40]membercompaniesofNCC accountforapproximately95percentofthechickensoldinthe

UnitedStates.” TheCEOsofthetopintegratedBroilerproducersareroutinelyontheboardof

directorsandmeetatleastquarterlywithoneanotherthroughtheNCC.

260. The NCC has three annualboard meetings attended by Defendants’senior

executives,includingmostorallDefendants’CEOsandothertopexecutives.CEOsgenerally

alwaysattendthefollowingthreeNCC meetingseachyear,inadditiontospecialcommittee

meetingsorotherspecialNCC events:(a)theJanuarymeetingoftheNCC heldalongwiththe
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InternationalPoultry Expo,(b)themid-yearBoard ofDirectorsmeeting,and (c)theNCC

AnnualMeetinginOctober. Generally,CEOsarrivethenightbeforeanNCC meetingand

socialize with theircolleagues,then have smallprivate dinnerswith one ormore oftheir

competitors’CEOsortopexecutives. Thenextday,theformalNCC meetingsareheldand

executivesfrom AgriStatsandotheralliedindustryorganizationsmakepresentationsatthe

meeting.A formallunchisheldduringthemeetingandprovidesCEOsandtopexecutivesand

opportunitytotalkcasuallywiththeircompetitors.Followingthemeeting,Defendants’CEOs

andtoplevelexecutivesoftenmeet,socializeandgolf,hunt,orfishtogether.

261. Uponinformationandbelief,CEOsandtoplevelexecutivesfrom Defendants

discusstopicswithoneanotherrelatingtopricing,production,andothernon-public,proprietary

information outside ofNCC’s formalmeetings atthe informalsettings surrounding NCC

meetingsdescribed above. These regular,informal,and in-person opportunitiesto discuss

pricingandproductionintheBroilerindustrygivesCEOsandtoplevelexecutivescomfortthat

theircompetitorsremaincommittedtoaplantoartificiallyrestrictBroilerproduction.

262. TheUnitedStatesPoultry& EggExportCouncil(“USAPEEC”)hasitshome

officeinStoneMountain,Georgia.DefendantsareallmembersofUSAPEEC.USAPEEChasa

network ofinternationaloffices and consultants in key exportmarkets. The mission of

USAPEEC istopromoteexportsofU.S.poultryandeggsaroundtheworld. Thegrouphas

evolved into an association thatis an advocate forthe industry on trade policy issues.

USAPEEC hasabout200 membercompaniesand organizations.USAPEEC holdsBoard of

Directorsmeetingsquarterlyandincludesexecutivesfrom allornearlyallDefendants.

263. The U.S.Poultry & Egg Association (“U.S.Poultry”)describesitselfasthe

world’slargestandmostactivepoultryorganization.U.S.Poultry’smembersincludeproducers
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andprocessorsofBroilers,turkeys,ducks,eggsandbreedingstock,aswellasalliedcompanies.

DefendantsareallmembersofU.S.Poultry.U.S.PoultryholdsregularBoard ofDirectors

meetingseachquarterduringJanuary,March,June,andeachfall.

264. ThePoultryFederationwasestablishedin1954asanon-profittradeorganization

torepresentthepoultryandeggindustriesinArkansas,Missouri,andOklahoma.In1998,the

Arkansas,Missouri,andOklahomaorganizationswereconsolidatedandbecameThePoultry

Federation.ThePoultryFederationclaimstopromoteallpoultryinterestsrelatingtoproduction,

distribution,merchandising,andconsumptionofpoultry,andpoultryproducts.Itdisseminates

informationrelatingtothevariousphasesoftheBroilerindustrytoimproveandexpandmarkets,

toincreaseefficiencyinproductionandmarketing,andtoencourageandsupportresearchin

productionandmarketingofpoultry.ThePoultryFederationholdsregularmeetingseachyear,

including Board ofDirectorsmeetingswith Defendants’seniorexecutivesidentified below.

DefendantsO.K.Industries,Inc.,Pilgrim’s,SimmonsFoods,Peco,TysonFoods,George’s,Inc.,

andW ayneFarmsareeachmembersofthePoultryFederation.

265. TheInternationalPoultryExpo(“IPE”)washeldannuallyfrom 2008-2012.The

IPEbilleditselfas“thenetworkinghuboftheworldforthepoultryindustry.” TheIPEwasheld

annuallyinlateJanuaryinAtlanta,Georgia.Defendants’seniorexecutives,andnumerousmid-

levelexecutivesandotheremployees,attendedtheIPEeachyear.TheInternationalProducers

andProcessorsExpo(“IPPE”)istheworld’slargestannualpoultry,meat,andfeedindustry

event.IPPEhelditsfirsteventinJanuary2013andcombinedthreepreviouslyseparateexpos–

theIPE,theInternationalFeedExpo,andtheInternationalMeatExpo.AccordingtotheIPPE’s

website,awiderangeofinternationaldecision-makersattendthisannualeventtonetworkand

becomeinformedonthelatesttechnologicaldevelopmentsandissuesfacingtheindustry.The
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2015IPPE featuredmorethan7,245internationalvisitorsfrom over103countries,including

attendeesfrom Chile,France,Singapore,andAustralia. IPPE indicatesthatDefendantseach

senttheir“TopManagement”tothe2014IPPEinJanuary2014.Themostpopularpaneleach

yearisthe “marketintelligence” forum,which features an AgriStatsexecutive speaking

regardingtheBroilerindustry.Similarly,Defendants’seniorexecutivesattendedIPPEin2015

and2016.

266. TheInternationalPoultryCouncil(“IPC”)wasformedin2005andiscomposed

ofnationaltradeassociationsfrom 23countries,aswellas40individualcompaniesthatare

“Associate”members.TheIPCwebsitebillstheorganizationasthe“voiceoftheglobalpoultry

industry”anditsmissionisto“strengthencommunicationbetweentheindustriesofdifferent

countries.” TheNCC,USAPEEC,andUSPOULTRY aremembersoftheIPC onbehalfof

UnitedStatespoultryproducers,alongwithindividualcompanymembersoftheIPC,including

Tyson,Cobb-Vantress(aTysonsubsidiary),SandersonFarms,andJBSS.A.(Pilgrim’sparent

company). Additionally,theChilean poultry tradeassociation (“APA”)and theAustralian

ChickenMeatFederation(“ACMF”)arealsomembersoftheIPC.

b. Overseas Distribution Solutions.

267. OverseasDistribution Solutions(“ODS”)isa W ebb Pomerene8 organization

foundedbyagroupofDefendantsin1999.A W ebbPomereneorganizationisanassociationof

exportersthatisexemptfrom certainprovisionsoftheShermanAntitrustActwhileengagingin

conducttopromoteUnitedStatestradeabroad.A W ebbPomereneorganizationmaynotengage

inimportationorsaleswithintheUnitedStates,however,anditsmembersmayundertakewhat

wouldotherwisebeconsideredactionablecollusiveconductonlytoexportsimilarproducts.

8W ebbPomereneActof1918,15U.S.C.§§61-66.
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268. ODS continued to operate at least through 2011. ODS membership by

DefendantshasincludedDefendantsW ayneFarms,SandersonFarms,Pilgrim’s,andTyson,as

wellasco-conspiratorCagle’s.TheprincipalofficeforODSwaslocatedformuchoftheClass

PeriodinthesametownasSandersonFarms’headquarters–Laurel,Mississippi.

269. W hile originally a memberofODS around the time itwasfounded,Tyson

withdrew from ODSsometimepriortothestartoftheClassPeriod.However,Tysonre-joined

ODS in2010,buttheninexplicablywithdrew withinafew months. W ithinafew yearsof

Tyson’ssuddendeparture,ODSdisbandedandstoppedfilingforW ebbPomerenestatus.

270. W hileODShadamandateundertheW ebbPomereneActtohavenoimpacton

theU.S.domesticmarket,Broilerindustryexecutivesrecognizeitisinevitablethatexportswill

impactU.S.domesticBroilerprices.Forinstance,formerPilgrim’sCEO Dr.DonJacksonhas

notedthat“thebroilermarketisglobalinnature.Obviously,theU.S.businessgenerallyhas

morevolumeobviouslygoingintothedomesticmarket,butboththedomesticandexportmakes

upthemarket.Andattimes,theexportmarketcanbeveryimpactfulfavorablyorunfavorably

totheU.S.market.” Therefore,accordingtothetestimonyofoneofDefendants’ownCEOs,it

wasimpossibleforODStocomplywiththeW ebbPomerenerequirementthatODSnotimpact

domesticpricesforU.S.Broilers.

c. Investor Conferences.

271. Defendants’ CEOs and senior executives participate in numerous investor

conferencesorganized by W allStreetanalysts,providing furtheropportunitiesto meetand

communicatewithoneanother. Suchconferencesareheldonanannualand/oradhocbasis

including,butnotlimitedto,theGoldmanSachsGlobalStaplesForum (heldeveryMay),Bank

ofAmericaMerrillLynchGlobalAgricultureConference(heldeveryFebruary),BMO Capital
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MarketsAnnualAg& ProteinConference(heldeveryMay),BMO CapitalMarketsConference

(heldeveryMay),BMO Farm toMarketConference(heldeveryMay),UrnerBarryAnnual

ExecutiveConferenceandMarketingSeminar(heldeveryAprilorMay),andJPMorganBasic

MaterialsConference(heldeveryJune).

d. Competitor Plant Tours.

272. Defendantsalsopermittedoneanothertotoureachother’sBroilerplants,which

revealedconfidentialbusinessmethodsemployedbyacompany.W hilesuchtourswereoften

framedas“bestpractices”informationexchanges,theypermittedtheopportunitytoconspire

amongseniorexecutives.

273. Defendantsalsopermitemployeestoregularlymovebetweencompanieswithout

non-compete limitations or confidentiality agreements that would protect a company’s

(seemingly)proprietarybusinessknowledgeandcustomerbase.Forexample,Dr.DonJackson

wasPresidentofFosterFarms’PoultryDivisionuntilDecember2008,butthenimmediately

tookapositionasCEO ofPilgrim’s. Similarly,ClintRivers,Pilgrim’sformerPresidentand

CEO untilDecember2008,leftthecompanyandbecamePerdueFarmsSeniorVPofOperations

andSupplyChainManagementforPerdueFarmsin2009.RiversthenmovedtoW ayneFarms

in2012,wherehebecameChiefOperatingOfficer. Numerousotherhighlevelandwellas

lowerlevelexecutivesmovefreelybetweenBroilercompanieswithlittleornoprovisionby

Defendantstoprotecttheirconfidentialinformation.

e. Merger, Acquisition, and Capital Financing Discussions.

274. Senior executives from Defendants had numerous opportunities to directly

communicatewithoneanotherregardingvariousmergersandacquisitionsbetween2008and

2016. Thesemergerandacquisitiondiscussionsincludebothcompletedagreements,suchas
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thosedescribedinSectionVI(D)(4)ofthisComplaint,aswellasproposedtransactionsthatwere

nevercompleted. In connection with mergers and acquisition discussions,due diligence

materialsregardingconfidentialbusinessinformationweresharedbetweenDefendants.

275. In addition,Defendantsallrelyon debtfinancingand mergerand acquisition

servicesfrom thesamesmallgroupoffinancialinstitutions. Inthecourseofprovidingsuch

services,financialinstitutions obtain unusually detailed access to Defendants’non-public

operationalinformation,includingproductionandpricinginformation,whichprovidesanother

opportunityforDefendantstoshareconfidentialbusinessinformation.

276. Completeinformationregardingthefullscopeofmerger,acquisition,andcapital

financingdiscussions,communications,andduediligenceinformationexchangedpresentlyis

knownonlytoDefendantsandtheiragents.

f. Other Business Dealings.

277. Defendantsalsoengagedinvariousbusinessdealingswithoneanother,including

purchasing feed from oneanotherand forming jointventuresforvariouspurposes,such as

constructionandoperationofrenderingplants.

7. There Are High Barriers To Entry In The Broiler Market.

278. The existence ofhigh barriers to entry isone factorwhich makes markets

susceptibletocollusion. A collusivearrangementthatraisesproductpricesabovecompetitive

levelswould,underbasiceconomicprinciples,attractnew entrantsseekingtobenefitfrom the

supracompetitivepricing.W here,however,therearesignificantbarrierstoentry,new entrants

arelesslikely.Thus,barrierstoentryhelpfacilitatetheformationandmaintenanceofacartel.
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279. DuringtheClassPeriodandcontinuingtoday,substantialbarriersimpedeentry

intotheBroilermarket. A new entrantintothemarketwouldfacecostlyandlengthystart-up

costs, including multi-million dollar costs associated with research and development,

construction ofprocessing plants,feed mills,hatcheries,equipment,energy,transportation

distributioninfrastructure(aka,“rollingstock”),skilledlabor,experiencedmanagement,askilled

contract-farmerbaseinaspecificgeographicarea,long-standingcustomerrelationships,safety

andqualityassurance,andregulatoryapprovalsrelatingtoenvironmental,workersafety,and

foodsafetyissues.

280. Defendantsthemselvesacknowledgethesubstantialcostsofenteringthemarket

andview itasimportantthatnew entrantsnotbeabletopurchaseclosedfacilities.Forexample,

whentheStateofLouisianapressuredPilgrim’stosellitsclosedFarmervilleBroilercomplex,

Pilgrim’sexecutivesexpressedconcernaboutanystateassistancetothebuyertopurchasethe

FarmervilleBroilercomplexbecausesuchassistancecouldsubstantiallyreducethebuyer’scost

basistherein,whichcouldthenpermitthebuyertofloodthemarketwithlow-costBroilers.

281. The price of construction of a new integrated Broiler processing complex

(hatchery,feed mill,and processing plant)ableto competeon pricewith currentintegrated

producersisrelativelyhigh. Evenforacurrentmarketparticipant,suchasthethird-largest

producer(SandersonFarms),constructionofanew Broilercomplex(i.e.,feedmill,hatchery,

andprocessingplant)in2010wasestimatedtocost$100-$125million. However,thesecosts

failtoaccountforotherhurdlestonew marketparticipants,discussedabove.

282. Thebarriersto entry in theBroilerindustry haveproved insurmountablefor

potentialnew marketentrants.Nocompanyhascreatedanew poultrycompanyfrom scratchin

decades.Further,whenoneforeignmeatcompany(aUkrainiancompany,Omtron)triedtoenter
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theU.S.marketinFebruary2011bybuyingaportionoftheassetsofbankruptBroilerproducer

Townsend’s,Omtroninvested$35milliontoimprovethefacility’sprocessingoperations,but

wentbankruptonlyfivemonthsaftermakingthepurchase.

283. A numberoflarge foreign meatconglomerates have acquired U.S.Broiler

producersin the pastdecade,including Brazil’sJBS S.A.(Pilgrim’s),Mexico’sIndustrias

Bachoco (O.K.Foods),Belgian company ContinentalGrain Company (W ayneFarms),and

MarfigAlimentosS.A.(KeystoneFoods).However,eachoftheseforeignmeatconglomerates

werealreadylargeplayersintheglobalmeatindustryandsimplycontinuedoperatingtheirpre-

existingU.S.Broilercompanyasasubsidiary.OwnershipofU.S.Broilersubsidiariesbysuch

large,well-financedconglomeratesdeterentrybysmaller,non-globalizedcompaniesthatmight

wanttoentertheU.S.Broilerproductionbusiness.

284. A furtherbarriertonew entrantsistheunwillingnessoflargeverticallyintegrated

producerstosellanidledBroilercomplex,whichalsokeepsopenthethreatthatanintegrated

producerwillrestartaclosedBroilercomplex. Pilgrim’shasbeenexplicitaboutthisthreatto

new marketentrants. Forinstance,in aFebruary 2014 earningscall,Pilgrim’swasasked

whetherithadanyplanstosell“acoupleofidledU.S.facilities...tousethatasasourceof

capital,”towhichPilgrim’sCFO FabioSandrireplied“[n]o. W earethinkingthoseareheld

defensive,sowedon’tplantosellthem inthisshort-term orinthenearfuture.” Suchathreatof

restartingidledfacilities,ratherthansellingthosefacilities,representsasubstantialbarrierto

entryfornew marketparticipantsbecausean existingBroilerproducercan merelyrestarta

closedmilltodrivedownpricesandrunanew entrantoutofbusiness.
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8. Defendants Have Similar Cost Structures And Work Collaboratively To
Share Cost Information.

285. Anotherfactorantitrustlaw andeconomicshaveidentifiedasmakingmarkets

susceptibletoprice-fixingissimilarcoststructures.ThemajorityofproductioncostsforBroiler

producersarevariable.Allotherfactorsbeingequal,whenvariablecostsareahighpercentage

ofproductioncosts,thereislessincentiveforaproducertooperateitsfacilitiesatfullcapacity,

andthismayallow acarteltoboostpricesartificiallywithgreatersuccessthanwhenfixedcosts

arethelargestcomponentofproductioncosts.

286. ThesinglelargestcostcomponentofproducingBroilersisfeed,whichprimarily

consistsofsoybeanmealandcorn. Broilerfeedpriceshavevariedwidelyfrom 2007-2016,

reaching71% ofthecostofgrowingBroilersin2012,butfallingtoonlyabout50% by2014.

287. Inputcostsotherthanfeedincludeprocessingplantlaborcosts(~15%),materials

(~11%),andcapitalequipment(~2.5%). Laborcostshavedeclinedsignificantlyoverthepast

two decades forDefendants,while atthe same time laborproductivity has substantially

increased.

288. Broilerfeedcostshavebeendecreasingsharplysincerecordhighsin2012.For

instance,pricesforsoybeanmealweredown10% in2014.SinceJanuary1,2008,cornprices

havedeclinedroughly23% andsoybeanpriceshavedeclined19.7%.Duringthesameperiod,

Broilerpricesincreasedroughly50%.

289. Defendantsandtheirco-conspiratorshaverelativelysimilarcoststructures.The

technologyandprocessofindustrialscalegrowingandprocessingBroilersiswellknownand

Defendantsandtheirco-conspiratorsemploythesametypesofequipmentandprocessesinthe

productionprocess. Defendantsalsohaveonlythreecompaniesfrom whichtheycanobtain

breederstockfrom whichtoraiseBroilers,sothereareverylimitedoptionswithrespectto
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purchasingthemostcostefficientBroilergeneticlines.Similarly,Defendantsallpurchasecorn

andsoybeansontheopenmarket,sotheyhavelimitedabilitytoobtainsubstantiallydifferent

pricingonthesekeyvariablecostinputsfortheirBroilers.

290. DefendantsuseAgriStatstoshareextraordinarilydetailedcostinformation(as

discussedbelow),sotheyareabletoconstantlyrealigntheircoststructureswithoneanother.

AgriStatspermitseachDefendanttohaveextremelyunusualknowledgeofcompetitorcostsand

to make adjustments to standardize each company’s coststructure across allAgriStats

participants.

291. Defendants engage in a program of“feedmillcross-testing” in which some

Defendantsexchangefeedandchickswithoneanotherforthepurportedpurposeofdetermining

whichDefendants’feedand/orchickshavesuperiorqualities. Defendantsclaim thisstrategy

helpsthem maximizeefficiency.However,itisnoteconomicallyrationalinatrulycompetitive

marketforaproducerto provideitsproprietaryfeed mixesand/orchicksto itscompetitor,

therebygivingawayanycompetitivecostadvantageoveritscompetitors.

292. AnothersignthatDefendantsdonotview productioncostsassecretisthefact

thatitisnotunusualforDefendantsto permitcompetitor’sCEOsaccessto each other’s

productioncomplexes.Inacompetitiveindustry,productionmethodsshouldbecloselyguarded

to protectproprietary methods ofproduction thatsave a company money and give ita

competitiveadvantageoveritscompetitors.However,thisisnotthecaseintheBroilerindustry.

Forexample,from April19-21,2013,Pilgrim’sPresident& CEO BillLovette,PerdueFarms

ChairmanoftheBoardJim Perdue,andSandersonFarmsPresident& COO LampkinButts

attendedathreedaylong“ChickenMediaSummit”inNorthCarolinathatincludedvisitsby

attendeestoaSandersonFarmsgrowhouseandprocessingplant.Similarly,from April19-21,
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2015,anotherChickenMediaSummitwassponsoredbytheNCC andUSAPEEC andincluded

toursofPerdueFarms’operationsandpaneldiscussionswithDefendants’seniorexecutives.

E. Since 2008 Defendants’ Collusion Has Led to Unprecedented Capacity Reductions,
Steadily Increasing Prices, and Record Profits.

293. Asdescribedabove,Broilerpriceshavesteadilyincreasedsince2008,despitea

historictrendofboom andbustpricingcyclesforBroilersasproducersoversupplythemarketin

responsetopriceincreases.Asoneindustryobservernoted,“[t]heprofitmarginsofthenation’s

biggestmeatpackersrosedramaticallybetween2008and2010(themostrecentyearforwhich

gooddataisavailable),evenasthenationaleconomycratered.TysonFoods,thenation’sbiggest

meatcompany,reportedrecordprofitsof$778millionlastyear[i.e.,2013]asthecompany

hikedpricesforbeef,pork,andchicken.”

294. ThehistoricpatternofannualincreasesinBroilerproductionwassoentrenched

overdecadesofexperiencebythe2000sthatonewidelyrepeatedquipintheindustrywasthat

therewerenow onlythreethingscertaininlife:“Death,taxesand3% morebroilers.” A leading

industrypublicationnotedinearly2009that“[b]roilerproductionintheU.S.usedtobejustlike

governmentspending,itneverwentdownandcutbacksonlyresultedinslowingtherateof

growth,butnotanymore”because“[f]orthefirsttimeindecades,totalbroilerproductionin

2008remainedvirtuallyunchangedfrom theyearbefore.WATT PoultryUSA 2008rankingsdata

show theindustry’stotalweeklyready-to-cook(RTC)productionat724.05millionpounds,just

slightlymorethanthe723.71millionRTCpoundsperweekreportedattheendof2007.”

295. During a February 12,2015,earningscall,Pilgrim’sPresident& CEO Bill

LovettesummeduptherestrictionofsupplywhichDefendantshadimplementedsince2008:“I

lookedatsomenumberssuppliedbyAgriStatsearlierintheweekandfoundsomeinteresting

facts. Ifyougobackto2008,theindustryslaughtered8.35billionhead. Andby2011,that
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slaughteredheadhaddeclinedbyapproximately8% to7.7billion.Andit’sactuallyremained

aboutthatsamelevelthrough 2014 atabout7.7 billion.Ifyou look atliveweightpounds

produced,itwas47.1billionin2008.Itdeclinedto45.06billionin2011.Andin2014,forthe

firsttimesince2008,itreached47.3billion,soonly200millionmorepoundsabove2008levels.

Andthenontheaverageweightside,theaverageweightin2008was5.64,andit’saveragedjust

above6from 2011through2014.Sowithallofthatdatainmind,whatittellsmeistheindustry

remainsfairlydisciplinedonthesupplysideanddemandhasbeenincreasingforchickenagainst

thebackdropofincreasingbeefandporksupplies.”

F. Defendants Reduced Their Own Production And Used Direct Purchases of Broilers
To Reduce Industry Supply.

296. Economictheoryand good businessstrategysuggeststhatrelyingupon one’s

competitorsto meetacompany’sown commitmentsto itscustomersisnotrational,asthe

competitorcan decide to cutoutthe middleman and selldirectly to the end customer.

Nevertheless,Tyson,FieldaleFarms,KochFoods,andotherDefendantshavecreatedasystem

ofinter-dependencewherebysomeBroilercompaniespurposelyunder-produceBroilersonthe

assumptiontheircompetitorswillsellthem whattheyneed.

297. DefendantsusedirectpurchasesofBroilersfrom oneanotherandfrom smaller

Broilerproducerstomeeteachcompany’sownsalesneeds.ThispermitsDefendantstosoakup

excesssupplythatcould depresspricesin themarketand also facilitatestheopportunityto

expresslydiscusspriceswithcompetitors. Suchpurchasesalsopermitcompaniestomaintain

theirmarketsharedespitereducingtheirownproduction.Additionally,inmanyinstanceslarge

inter-Defendant purchases are negotiated by CEOs or other senior level executives of

Defendants,providinganadditionalopportunityforsuchindividualstoconspire.
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298. Further,Defendants’participationinAgriStatsgivesthem visibilityintoeach

other’sprofitability,operatingmargins,and supplythatno ordinarycustomercould hopeto

achieve.

299. In 2011,asnoted above in Section VI(C)(5),Tyson began using whatwas

describedasa“veryuniquestrategy,”called“Buyvs.Grow.” Tyson’sstrategyessentiallytreats

theindustry supply asthough itwereforasingleunified company,ratherthan competing

businessesthatwouldrathersellself-producedproducttoacustomerthanacompetitor.

300. W hatmakesTyson’sprogram exceptionally“unique”isthatonlyafew years

beforeadopting a“Buy vs.Grow”strategy,Tyson declared such astrategy to be“stupid”

becauseitwouldbesubsidizingacompetitor’sgrowth. Tyson’sExecutiveVicePresident&

CFO,W adeMiquelonexplainedonanApril29,2008,earningscallthat“Ithinkwhatwesaid

alongiswe’regoingtomatchoursupplyanddemand.W e’renotgoingtocutbeyondthatand

thengooutandbuyopenmarketmeattosubsidizeotherpeople’sgrowth.” Therefore,Tyson’s

changein view towardsopen marketpurchasessuggestsithad confidenceby2011 thatits

competitorswouldmaintaintheirproductionlevelsandnot grow.

301. InaNovember5,2012,interview,FieldaleFarmsCEO Tom Hensleynotedhis

companywasalsopursuingastrategytobuyupexcesssupplyfrom itscompetitors,statingthat

“[i]fyoudon’thaveahomeforyourchickensonMondaymorning,youshouldn’thavethose

chickens.Now weknow whereallourchickensaregoing.Sowearebuyingchickensinthat

lowerpriceareainsteadofsellingthem.So,noexpansionforus.”

302. Bytheend of2014,Tyson reported itwasbuying over4 million poundsof

Broilersontheopenmarketeachweek.FourmillionpoundsofBroilersperweekismorethan
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anyofthe24th-30thlargestBroilercompaniesproduceonaweeklybasis,sotheamountof

Tyson’spurchaseswasquitesignificantintermsofvolume.

303. Duringthefirstpartof2015,TysonincreaseditsBuyvs.Grow purchasesby

50%,expandingTyson’spurchasesfrom competitorstounprecedentedlevels.

304. TysonannouncedplansinMay2015toincreaseitsBuyvs.Grow strategyto10

percent ofitssalesinthesecondhalfof2015and2016.TenpercentofTyson’s2014pounds

RTC is17.6million poundsperweek,avolumethatbyitselfwoulddwarftheentireaverage

weekly production ofany ofthe15th-30th largestBroilerproducers. Notably,Tyson also

announced in May 2015 thatitplanned to reduceitsproduction afterJuly 2015 and keep

productionflatthrough2016byincreasingitsBuyvs.Grow purchases.

305. Upon information and belief,Defendantsmadeuseofcontractsbetween one

anotherandsmallerBroilerproducerstoreducetheirownproductionwhilesoakingupexcess

supplyfrom competitors.

306. Defendants’useofdirectpurchasesfrom oneanotherandfrom smallerBroiler

producersprovidedDefendantsanuninterruptedflow ofsupplyandpricinginformationand

opportunitiestocommunicatedirectlywithoneanother.

G. Defendants Made A Coordinated Move Away From Fixed-Price Contracts To
Contracts That Changed Prices Quarterly Or Followed Broiler Price Indexes.

307. A coordinated moveaway from fixed pricecontractsto contractsthatpermit

pricestofluctuatewithanindexedpublicmarketpricehelpsfacilitateanantitrustconspiracy.

See In re High Fructose Corn Syrup Antitrust Litig.,295F.3d651,659(7thCir.2002).Thisis

preciselywhatoccurredinBroilermarketduringtheClassPeriod.

308. ForseveralyearspriortotheClassPeriod,manyverticallyintegrated Broiler

producersoffered somecustomerslong-term fixed-pricecontractsofayearormore. This
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guaranteed customersafixed price,butalso preventsBroilerproducersfrom being ableto

realizemarketpriceincreasesthatnaturallyresultfrom theirplannedsupplycuts.

309. Starting around January 2008,seniorexecutivesfrom Koch Foods,Pilgrim’s,

PerdueFarms,SandersonFarms,andTysonFoodspubliclyannouncedanefforttoreduceannual

fixed-pricecontracts.ThischangecoincidedwithDefendants’effortstoreduceBroilerindustry

suppliessoastodriveBroilermarketpriceshigher.

310. OnJanuary28,2008,TysonCEO DickBondannouncedonanearningscallthat

Tysonwaslookingatshorteningitsfixedpricecontracts,andbyJune2009Tysonreportedit

had“dramatically”shortenedtheamountoffixed-pricecontractsover90days.

311. OnJanuary29,2008,Pilgrim’sCFO RickCogdillreportedonanearningscall

thatPilgrim’shadstartedmovingawayfrom fixed-pricecontracts,butPilgrim’smoveswere

beingheldbackbylegacyfixed-pricecontractsenteredintobyGoldKistpriortoitsacquisition

byPilgrim’sinlate2006.Cogdillalsonotedthat“inasituationlikewherewearenow where

weneedtodrivecommoditypricesup,that[i.e.,havinglessfixedpricecontracts]isgoingto

giveustheopportunityformoreimmediatebenefittoourP&Lthanwhatwewouldhavehad

say,historicallythreeyear[s]ago,whenahigherpercentagewasfixedprice.” Pilgrim’slater

reportedthatbyMarch2012ithadreduceditsexposuretofixedpricecontracts,withmost

contractsnow market-basedorincludingaresetprovisionlinkedtotheunderlyingcommodity.

By2014,Pilgrim’sreportedthatlessthan5% ofallitscontractswere12-monthfixedprice

contracts.

312. On July 28,2008,Perdue spokesperson Julie DeYoung told an industry

publicationthatPerduewaslookingtoshortenitscontractterms,stating,“thecompanyisalso

seekingtoraisepricesandshortenitscontracts.”
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313. SandersonFarms’CEO JoeSandersonnotedinaJuly31,2008,earningscallthat

theindustrymaymovetowards“shorterterm agreements.”

314. IndustryobserversnotedthetrendofBroilerproducersmovingawayfrom fixed-

pricecontracts. Forinstance,aDecember2013reportbyStephens,Inc.analystFarhaAslam

noted that “[w]ith volume growth generally limited, companies are developing more

sophisticatedstrategiestogenerateprofits....‘Ratherthanannualfixedpricecontract[s]that

arenegotiatedeveryfall,companiesarepartneringwithcustomersandcreatingcontractsthat

canbemulti-yearinduration. Contractsarenow beingnegotiatedallyearlongandemploya

widevarietyofpricingmethodologies.’” Thisconfirmsthatevencontractswhicharelong-term

indurationarenot“fixed”soastopreventpriceincreaseswhencoordinatedsupplyreductions

driveupBroilermarketpriceindices.

VII. CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

315. Plaintiffsbringthisactiononbehalfofthemselves,andasaclassactionunderthe

FederalRulesofCivilProcedure,Rule23(a),(b)(2)and(b)(3),seekinginjunctivereliefpursuant

to federallaw,and damagespursuantto variousstate antitrust,unfaircompetition,unjust

enrichment,andconsumerprotectionlawsofthestateslistedbelow onbehalfofthemembersof

thefollowingclasses:

A.Nationwide Injunctive Relief class: Allpersonsandentitieswhoindirectly
purchased Broilersfrom Defendantsorco-conspirators,via a distributor,
duringtheClassPeriod.

B.Arizona class:Allpersonsand entitieswho are citizensofthe State of
Arizona who indirectly purchased Broilers from Defendants or co-
conspirators,viaadistributor,duringtheClassPeriod. 

C.Arkansas class: Allpersonsand entitieswho arecitizensoftheStateof
Arkansas who indirectly purchased Broilers from Defendants or co-
conspirators,viaadistributor,duringtheClassPeriod. 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D.California class: AllpersonsandentitieswhoarecitizensoftheStateof
California who indirectly purchased Broilers from Defendants or co-
conspirators,viaadistributor,duringtheClassPeriod.

E.District of Columbia class:Allpersonsandentitieswhoarecitizensofthe
DistrictofColumbiawhoindirectlypurchasedBroilersfrom Defendantsor
co-conspirators,viaadistributor,duringtheClassPeriod.

F. Florida class: AllpersonsandentitieswhoarecitizensoftheStateofFlorida
whoindirectlypurchasedBroilersfrom Defendantsorco-conspirators,viaa
distributor,duringtheClassPeriod.

G.Illinois class:AllpersonsandentitieswhoarecitizensoftheStateofIllinois
whoindirectlypurchasedBroilersfrom Defendantsorco-conspirators,viaa
distributor,duringtheClassPeriod.

H.Iowa class: AllpersonsandentitieswhoarecitizensoftheStateofIowawho
indirectly purchased Broilers from Defendants or co-conspirators,via a
distributor,duringtheClassPeriod.

I. Kansas class:AllpersonsandentitieswhoarecitizensoftheStateofKansas
whoindirectlypurchasedBroilersfrom Defendantsorco-conspirators,viaa
distributor,duringtheClassPeriod.

J. Maine class:AllpersonsandentitieswhoarecitizensoftheStateofMaine
whoindirectlypurchasedBroilersfrom Defendantsorco-conspirators,viaa
distributor,duringtheClassPeriod.

K.Massachusetts class:AllpersonsandentitieswhoarecitizensoftheStateof
Massachusettswho indirectly purchased Broilersfrom Defendantsorco-
conspirators,viaadistributor,duringtheClassPeriod.

L.Michigan class: Allpersonsand entitieswho arecitizensoftheStateof
Michigan who indirectly purchased Broilers from Defendants or co-
conspirators,viaadistributor,duringtheClassPeriod.

M.Minnesota class: AllpersonsandentitieswhoarecitizensoftheStateof
Minnesota who indirectly purchased Broilers from Defendants or co-
conspirators,viaadistributor,duringtheClassPeriod.

N.Mississippi class:AllpersonsandentitieswhoarecitizensoftheStateof
Mississippi who indirectly purchased Broilers from Defendants or co-
conspirators,viaadistributor,duringtheClassPeriod.

O.Missouri class:Allpersonsand entitieswho arecitizensoftheStateof
Missouri who indirectly purchased Broilers from Defendants or co-
conspirators,viaadistributor,duringtheClassPeriod.

P. Nebraska class: Allpersonsand entitieswho arecitizensoftheStateof
Nebraska who indirectly purchased Broilers from Defendants or co-
conspirators,viaadistributor,duringtheClassPeriod.
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Q.Nevada class:AllpersonsandentitieswhoarecitizensoftheStateofNevada
whoindirectlypurchasedBroilersfrom Defendantsorco-conspirators,viaa
distributor,duringtheClassPeriod.

R.New Hampshire class:AllpersonsandentitieswhoarecitizensoftheState
ofNew HampshirewhoindirectlypurchasedBroilersfrom Defendantsorco-
conspirators,viaadistributor,duringtheClassPeriod.

S. New Mexico class:AllpersonsandentitieswhoarecitizensoftheStateof
New Mexico who indirectly purchased Broilers from Defendants orco-
conspirators,viaadistributor,duringtheClassPeriod.

T.New York class: AllpersonsandentitieswhoarecitizensoftheStateofNew
YorkwhoindirectlypurchasedBroilersfrom Defendantsorco-conspirators,
viaadistributor,duringtheClassPeriod.

U.North Carolina class:AllpersonsandentitieswhoarecitizensoftheStateof
North Carolinawho indirectly purchased Broilersfrom Defendantsorco-
conspirators,viaadistributor,duringtheClassPeriod.

V.North Dakota class:AllpersonsandentitieswhoarecitizensoftheStateof
North Dakota who indirectly purchased Broilersfrom Defendantsorco-
conspirators,viaadistributor,duringtheClassPeriod.

W .Oregon class:AllpersonsandentitieswhoarecitizensoftheStateofOregon
whoindirectlypurchasedBroilersfrom Defendantsorco-conspirators,viaa
distributor,duringtheClassPeriod.

X.Rhode Island class:AllpersonsandentitieswhoarecitizensoftheStateof
Rhode Island who indirectly purchased Broilers from Defendants orco-
conspirators,viaadistributor,duringtheClassPeriod.

Y.South Dakota class:AllpersonsandentitieswhoarecitizensoftheStateof
South Dakota who indirectly purchased Broilersfrom Defendantsorco-
conspirators,viaadistributor,duringtheClassPeriod.

Z.Utah class:AllpersonsandentitieswhoarecitizensoftheStateofUtahwho
indirectly purchased Broilers from Defendants or co-conspirators,via a
distributor,duringtheClassPeriod.

AA.Vermont class:Allpersonsand entitieswho arecitizensoftheStateof
Vermont who indirectly purchased Broilers from Defendants or co-
conspirators,viaadistributor,duringtheClassPeriod.

BB.West Virginia:AllpersonsandentitieswhoarecitizensoftheStateofW est
Virginia who indirectly purchased Broilers from Defendants or co-
conspirators,viaadistributor,duringtheClassPeriod.

CC.Wisconsin class:AllpersonsandentitieswhoarecitizensoftheStateof
W isconsin who indirectly purchased Broilers from Defendants or co-
conspirators,viaadistributor,duringtheClassPeriod.
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316. TheStateClassesarecollectivelyreferredtoasthe“Classes”unlessotherwise

indicated.Specificallyexcludedfrom theseClassesaretheDefendants;theofficers,directorsor

employeesofanyDefendant;anyentityinwhichanyDefendanthasacontrollinginterest;and

anyaffiliate,legalrepresentative,heirorassignofanyDefendant.Alsoexcludedfrom these

Classesareanyfederal,stateorlocalgovernmentalentities,anyjudicialofficerpresidingover

thisactionandthemembersofhis/herimmediatefamilyandjudicialstaff,anyjurorassignedto

thisaction,andanyco-conspiratoridentifiedinthisaction.

317. ClassIdentity:Theabove-definedClassesarereadilyidentifiableandisonefor

whichrecordsshouldexist.

318. Numerosity:Plaintiffsdonotknow theexactnumberofclassmembersbecause

suchinformationpresentlyisintheexclusivecontrolofDefendants.Plaintiffsbelievethatdue

to the nature ofthe trade and commerce involved,there are thousandsofclassmembers

geographicallydispersedthroughouttheUnitedStates,suchthatjoinderofallclassmembersis

impracticable.Forexample,Pilgrim’salonereportsthatithasover5,000customers.

319. Typicality:Plaintiff’sclaimsaretypicaloftheclaimsofthemembersofthe

ClassesbecausePlaintiffspurchased Broilersindirectly from a distributorwhich purchased

Broilersfrom oneormoreoftheDefendantsortheirco-conspirators,andthereforePlaintiff’s

claimsarisefrom thesamecommoncourseofconductgivingrisetotheclaimsoftheClasses

andthereliefsoughtiscommontotheClasses.

320. CommonQuestionsPredominate:Therearequestionsoflaw andfactcommonto

theClasses,including,butnotlimitedto:

A.W hetherDefendants and theirco-conspirators engaged in an agreement,
combination,orconspiracytofix,raise,elevate,maintain,orstabilizeprices
ofBroilerssoldininterstatecommerceintheUnitedStates;

B.Theidentityoftheparticipantsoftheallegedconspiracy;
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C.Theduration oftheconspiracy alleged herein and theactsperformed by
Defendantsandtheirco-conspiratorsinfurtheranceoftheconspiracy;

D.W hethertheallegedconspiracyviolatedtheantitrustandconsumerprotection
lawsofthevariousstates;

E.W hethertheconductofDefendantsandtheirco-conspirators,asallegedin
thisComplaint,causedinjurytothebusinessorpropertyofthePlaintiffsand
theothermembersoftheClasses;

F. TheeffectofDefendants’allegedconspiracyonthepricesofBroilerssoldin
theUnitedStatesduringtheClassPeriod;

G.W hetherPlaintiffsandothermembersoftheClassesareentitledto,among
otherthings,injunctive reliefand ifso,the nature and extentofsuch
injunctiverelief;and

H.Theappropriateclass-widemeasureofdamages.

Theseandotherquestionsoflaw orfact,whicharecommontothemembersoftheClasses,

predominateoveranyquestionsaffectingonlyindividualmembersoftheClasses.

321. Adequacy:PlaintiffswillfairlyandadequatelyprotecttheinterestsoftheClasses

inthatPlaintiff’sinterestsarealignedwith,andnotantagonisticto,thoseoftheothermembers

oftheClasseswhoindirectlypurchasedBroilersfrom DefendantsandPlaintiffshaveretained

counselcompetentandexperiencedintheprosecutionofclassactionsandantitrustlitigationto

representthemselvesandtheClasses.

322. Superiority:A classactionissuperiortootheravailablemethodsforthefairand

efficientadjudicationofthiscontroversysinceindividualjoinderofalldamagedmembersofthe

Classesisimpractical.Prosecutionasaclassactionwilleliminatethepossibilityofduplicative

litigation.TherelativelysmalldamagessufferedbyindividualmembersoftheClassescompared

to theexpenseand burden ofindividualprosecution oftheclaimsasserted in thislitigation

meansthat,absentaclassaction,itwouldnotbefeasibleformembersoftheClassestoseek

redressforthe violationsoflaw herein alleged.Further,individuallitigation presentsthe

potentialforinconsistentorcontradictoryjudgmentsandwouldgreatlymagnifythedelayand

expensetoallpartiesandtothecourtsystem.Therefore,aclassactionpresentsfarfewercase
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managementdifficultiesandwillprovidethebenefitsofunitaryadjudication,economyofscale

andcomprehensivesupervisionbyasinglecourt.

323. TheprosecutionofseparateactionsbyindividualmembersoftheClasseswould

createtheriskofinconsistentorvaryingadjudications,establishingincompatiblestandardsof

conductforDefendants.

324. PlaintiffsbringtheClassesonbehalfofallpersonssimilarlysituatedpursuantto

Rule23,on behalfofallpersonsand entitiesthat,asresidentsofvariousstates,indirectly

purchasedoneormoreBroilersthatadefendantorco-conspiratorproducedduringtherespective

ClassPeriods.

325. DefendantshaveactedongroundsgenerallyapplicabletotheClasses,thereby

makingfinalinjunctivereliefappropriatewithrespecttotheClassesasawhole.

VIII. ANTITRUST INJURY

326. Defendants’anticompetitiveconducthadthefollowingeffects,amongothers:

A.PricecompetitionhasbeenrestrainedoreliminatedwithrespecttoBroilers;

B.ThepricesofBroilershavebeenfixed,raised,stabilized,ormaintainedat

artificiallyinflatedlevels;

C.Indirect purchasers of Broilers have been deprived of free and open

competition;

D.IndirectpurchasersofBroilers,includingPlaintiffs,paidartificiallyinflated

prices;and

E.Theseincreasedcostswerepassedthroughbydistributorstotheircustomers,

thePlaintiffsandputativemembersoftheClasses.
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327. DuringtheClassPeriod,PlaintiffsandtheClassespaidsupracompetitiveprices

forBroilers.

328. Byreasonoftheallegedviolationsoftheantitrustlaws,PlaintiffsandtheClasses

havesustainedinjurytotheirbusinessesorproperty,havingpaidhigherpricesforBroilersthan

theywouldhavepaidintheabsenceofDefendants’illegalcontract,combination,orconspiracy,

andasaresulthavesuffereddamages.

329. Thisisanantitrustinjuryofthetypethattheantitrustlawsweremeanttopunish

andprevent.

IX. STATUTES OF LIMITATIONS DO NOT BAR PLAINTIFFS’ CLAIMS

330. PlaintiffsandthemembersoftheClassesdidnotknow anddidnothaveareason

toknow ofDefendants’conduct. PlaintiffsandmembersoftheClassesdidnotdiscover,and

couldnothavediscoveredthroughtheexerciseofreasonablediligence,theexistenceofthe

conspiracyallegedhereinuntilshortlybeforefilingthisComplaint. Defendantsengagedina

secretconspiracythatdidnotrevealfactsthatwouldputPlaintiffsortheClassesoninquiry

noticethattherewasaconspiracytofixpricesforBroilers.

331. ThroughouttheClassPeriodsetforthinthisComplaint,DefendantsandtheirCo-

Conspiratorseffectively,affirmatively,andfraudulentlyconcealedtheirunlawfulcombination

andconspiracyfrom PlaintiffsandthemembersoftheClasses.

332. Thecombinationandconspiracyallegedhereinwasfraudulentlyconcealedby

Defendantsby variousmeansand methods,including,butnotlimited to secretmeetings,

surreptitiouscommunicationsbetween Defendantsby theuseofthetelephoneorin-person

meetingsattradeassociation meetings(and elsewhere)in orderto preventtheexistenceof

written records,limiting any explicitreference to competitor pricing or supply restraint
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communicationson documents,and concealing theexistenceand natureoftheircompetitor

supply restraintand price discussions from non-conspirators (including customers). The

conspiracywasbyitsnatureself-concealing.

333. Asallegedabove,in2008,afteryearsofboom andbustcyclesofproduction

leadingtotheregularriseandfallofprices,thepriceofBroilersbegananunprecedentedly

steadyincreasethatcontinuesthroughthefilingofthisComplaint.Defendantsaffirmativelyand

falselyattributedthepriceincreasetoincreasesinthepriceofinputs,amongotherreasons.

Thesewerepretextsusedtocoveruptheconspiracy. Infact,thesepriceincreaseswerethe

resultofcollusiveconductamongDefendants,whichwasundisclosedatthetime.

334. Duringtherelevantperiod,Defendantsaffirmativelymadenumerousmisleading

publicstatementsfalselyportrayingthemarketforBroilersasacompetitiveone.Forexample,

Defendants:

A.ProvidedtestimonyatworkshopsheldbytheU.S.DepartmentofJusticeand
USDA suggesting theBroilerindustrywascompetitiveand notsubjectto
anti-competitivepracticesandagreements.

B.RepeatedlyblamedtheRenewableFuelsmandateforincreasedBroilerprices,
both through the NCC,othertrade groups,and through press releases,
speeches,andotherpublicstatementsbyDefendants’employees,ratherthan
disclosingtheexistenceofanagreementtoillegallyrestrainthesupplyof
Broilers,whichistheonlymechanism bywhichBroilermarketpricesmaybe
actuallyincreased.

335. To explain theshortage ofBroilerssince2012,Defendantshaveprovided a

varietyofpretextualexplanations,includingthefollowing:(a)abreedingissuewithBroilers

during2014,(b)apricespikeoninputcosts(cornandsoybeans)in2012whichtheyblamedon

theRenewableFuelStandard,(c)aRussianbanofU.S.Broilerimports,and(d)a2013shortage

insupplydueinpartduetoanAvianFluoutbreakinMexicothatcausedasurgeindemandfor

hens to repopulate farms in Mexico. However,these explanations were pretextualand
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Defendantssoughttohidetheirconspiracyfrom discoverybyblamingBroilerpriceincreaseson

thesefactorsratherthanDefendants’owncollusiveconduct.

336. ThroughouttheClassPeriodDefendantsrepeatedlycitedincreasinginputcostsas

apretextfortheircollusiontorestrainsupplyandincreaseprices. Forinstance,Defendants

repeatedly claimed thatinputcostincreases during 2008 justified Broilerprice increases.

However,whilecornwas$5/bushelin2005-2006andincreasedto$9byMayorJune2008,it

quicklyfellbacktobelow $5/bushelbyfall2008.

337. AnotherexampleofthepretextualnatureofcostjustificationsforBroilerprice

increasesisaNovember2012interview,inwhichFieldaleFarm CEO Tom Hensleywasasked

whetherhethoughttherecentlyconcludedNCC AnnualConferencefocusedtoomuchtimeon

theRenewableFuelStandard becauseeliminatingtheethanolsubsidywould not“movethe

needleoncornsupplyandpricesthatmuch”andwhethertherewas“anydangertheindustryhas

focusedtoomuchonthisasamagicbullet?” CEO Hensleyresponded,“Ithinkthat’saccurate.

Thebest-casescenarioisthatcornwouldgodown$1.25perbushelandsomepeoplesayitwill

onlygodown50cents.”

338. The NationalChicken Councilhasserved asthe mouthpiece forDefendants

publicizedpretextualexcusesandreasonsforrisingBroilerprices. Amongotheractions,the

followingindicateanintenttodeceivepurchasersofBroilersintobelievingthatinputcosts,

ratherthanacollusiveagreementamongDefendantstoreducesupply,wasthecauseofrising

Broilerprices:

A.ThroughtheNationalChickenCouncil,Defendantsensuredthatthepretext
fortheirproductioncutsandpriceincreases,theethanolmandate,continued
to be blamed forincreased chicken pricesratherthan Defendants’secret
conspiracy.A May19,2010,reportbyFarmEconLLCwascommissionedby
theNCCandconcluded“[o]nthenationalscale,itistheoverallconclusionof
thisstudythatthechickenindustryisacompetitiveandthrivingsector.” The
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NCC trumpetedthefindingsthroughapressreleaseonitswebsitewiththe
headline “Competition in Broiler Sector Benefits Chicken Farmers,
Companies,andConsumers,StudyFinds.”

B.Asnotedabove,Brown’sOctober10,2014,andMay15,2015,op-edsin
nationalnewspapersattemptedtoexplainawaywhy“currentfavorablemarket
conditionsthatwouldnormallystimulateproductiontobesomewhathigher”
werenotdoingso. Theseop-edswereintendedtoconvincepurchasersof
Broilersthatinputcosts,ratherthanasecretconspiracy,weretoblamefor
increasingBroilerprices.

339. The Adams v. Pilgrim’s Pride case was originally filed as an adversarial

bankruptcyproceedingagainstPilgrim’sin2009,butwasstayedpendingresolutionofPilgrim’s

bankruptcy. Thebankruptcy courtsubsequently allowed the Adams caseto proceed. The

AmendedComplaintintheAdams casewasfiledonDecember7,2009,andliketheoriginal

complaint,disclosednothingaboutahorizontalconspiracyamongBroilerproducerstofixthe

priceofBroilers.

340. Notuntilaseriesoffiverecentinvestigationsbyforeigngovernmentsintoprice-

fixing conspiraciesin Broilermarketswere Plaintiffson notice thatsuch price-fixing was

possibly taking place in the United States. French,Chilean,Singaporean,Australian,and

Indonesianprice-fixinginvestigationsinthepasttwoyears(describedinsub-paragraphsA-E)

haveindicatedthatcollusionisevidentlyrampantintheBroilerindustry.Inparticular,thelarge

fine levied by France’s competition authority against21 separate companies and 2 other

organizationssuggeststhateven in aBroilerindustrywith almosttwodozen participants,a

price-fixing conspiracy is plausible even in the modern,industrialized reality of Broiler

production.

A.Chile:InaSeptember25,2014,decision,Chile’sTribunaldeDefensadela

LibreCompetencia(CourtfortheDefenceofFreeCompetition)concluded

thatthreeChileanBroilerproducershadcolludedtolimittheproductionof

Broilermeatofferedtothedomesticmarketandallocatedmarketsharesof

productionandmarketingofBroiler. TheCourtfoundthat“thesummoned

poultrycompanies,bydemandprojectionsdevelopedinconjunctionwiththe
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APA[,aChileanBroilertradeassociation],pursuedtherangeinwhichBroiler

pricesshould fluctuatethrough coordinated definition ofacertain levelof

production.” Based on the projected future demand for broilers,each

conspiratorwould be allocated a production quota. The collusion was

established through emailsand otherdocumentsseized bythecompetition

authority. TheCourtimposedfinesequivalenttoroughly$85millionand

disbandedaBroilertradeassociationusedbythedefendantstofacilitatetheir

conspiracy.

B.Australia:OnFebruary2,2015,TheAustraliannewspaperdisclosedthatthe

Australian Competition & Consumer Commission had initiated an

investigation into price-fixing in the Australian broiler industry. The

investigationisongoing.

C.Singapore:OnMarch7,2015,alocalnewspaperreportedforthefirsttime

thatthe Competition Commission ofSingapore (CCS)was investigating

price-fixingamonglivechickenslaughteringandfreshchickendistributionby

MalaysianbasedbroilerproducersandthePoultryMerchants’Association.

On March 8,2016,the Competition Commission ofSingapore charged

thirteenfreshchickencompaniesthatmakeupninetypercentofthemarketin

Singaporewithengaginginanti-competitivediscussionsfrom 2007through

2014.Thematterisongoing.

D.France:On May 6,2015,France’scompetition authority,l’Autoritédela

Concurrence announced thatafteran investigation into the entire French

Broilerindustry,ithaddecidedtoimposeapproximately$17.18millionin

fineson 21 companiesand 2 organizationsforprice fixing.The French

competition authority concluded thatbetween 2000-2007,French Broiler

producersheldalargenumberofmeetingstodiscussthepricestochargetheir

customers,aswellasotherbusinessdetails,allforthepurposeofgaininga

strongerposition in price negotiations with France’s largersupermarket

chains.OneoftheFrenchbroilercompanyconspirators,Doux,collaborated

withPilgrim’sparentcompany,JBS,S.A.,intheBrazilianbroilermarket.

E.Indonesia: On February 3, 2016, Indonesia’s Business Competition

Supervisory Commission (KPPU)announced thatithad compiled enough

evidenceofprice-fixinginthepoultryindustrytosummon12companieswho

constitute90percentofIndonesia’spoultryproduction.Theinvestigationis

ongoing.

341. Defendants’anticompetitiveconspiracy,byitsverynature,wasself-concealing.

Broilersarenotexemptfrom antitrustregulation,andthus,beforeSeptember2014,Plaintiffs

reasonablyconsideredittobeacompetitiveindustry.Accordingly,areasonablepersonunder
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the circumstances would nothave been alerted to begin to investigate the legitimacy of

Defendants’BroilerspricesbeforetheChileanCourtfortheDefenceofFreeCompetitionfound

onSeptember25,2014,thatparticipantsinChile’sBroilersindustrywereguiltyofconspiringto

fixthepriceofBroilersanddisbandedtheChileanbroilertradeassociation.

342. Plaintiffsexercised reasonablediligence. Plaintiffsand theClassescould not

havediscoveredtheallegedconspiracyatanearlierdatebytheexerciseofreasonablediligence

becauseofthedeceptivepracticesandtechniquesofsecrecyemployedbyDefendantsandtheir

Co-Conspiratorstoconcealtheircombination.

343. ByvirtueofthefraudulentconcealmentoftheirwrongfulconductbyDefendants

and theirCo-Conspirators,the running ofany statute oflimitations has been tolled and

suspendedwithrespecttoanyclaimsandrightsofactionthatPlaintiffsandthemembersofthe

ClasseshaveasaresultoftheunlawfulcombinationandconspiracyallegedinthisComplaint.

X. VIOLATION OF THE SHERMAN ACT

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act

15 U.S.C. § 1
(On Behalf of Nationwide Class for Injunctive and Equitable Relief)

344. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

345. Beginning atatimecurrently unknown to Plaintiffs,butatleastasearly as

January1,2008,andcontinuingthroughthepresent,theexactdatesbeingunknowntoPlaintiffs,

defendantsandtheirco-conspiratorsenteredintoacontinuingagreement,understanding,and

conspiracyinrestraintoftradeartificiallytofix,raise,stabilize,andpegpricesforBroilersinthe

UnitedStates,inviolationofSection1oftheShermanAct(15U.S.C.§1).
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346. In formulating and carrying outthe alleged agreement,understanding,and

conspiracy,theDefendantsandtheirco-conspiratorsdidthosethingsthattheycombinedand

conspiredtodo,includingbutnotlimitedtotheacts,practices,andcourseofconductsetforth

above,andthefollowing,amongothers:

A.Fixing,raising,stabilizing,andpeggingthepriceofBroilers;and

B.Allocating among themselvesand collusively reducing the production of

Broilers.

347. Thecombination and conspiracyalleged herein hashad thefollowing effects,

amongothers:

A.Pricecompetition in thesaleofBroilershasbeen restrained,suppressed,

and/oreliminatedintheUnitedStates;

B.PricesforBroilerssoldbyDefendantsandtheirco-conspiratorshavebeen

fixed,raised,maintainedandstabilizedatartificiallyhigh,non-competitive

levelsthroughouttheUnitedStates;and

C.Those who purchased Broilers indirectly from Defendants and theirco-

conspiratorshavebeendeprivedofthebenefitsoffreeandopencompetition.

348. PlaintiffsandmembersoftheClasseshavebeeninjuredandwillcontinuetobe

injuredintheirbusinessesandpropertybypayingmoreforBroilerspurchasedindirectlyfrom

theDefendantsandtheirco-conspiratorsthantheywouldhavepaidandwillpayintheabsence

ofthecombinationandconspiracy,asaresultofhigherpricespaidforBroilersbythedirect

purchasers.

349. Plaintiffs and members ofthe Classes are entitled to an injunction against

Defendants,preventingandrestrainingtheviolationsallegedherein.
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XI. VIOLATIONS OF STATE ANTITRUST LAWS

350. Plaintiffsincorporatebyreferencetheallegationsintheprecedingparagraphs.

351. ThefollowingSecondthroughTwenty-sixthClaimsforReliefarepleadedunder

theantitrustlawsofeachStateorjurisdictionidentifiedbelow,onbehalfoftheindicatedclass.

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of Arizona’s Uniform State Antitrust Act,

Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 44-1401, et seq
(On Behalf of the Arizona Class)

352. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

353. Byreasonoftheconductallegedherein,DefendantshaveviolatedArizonaRev.

Stat.§44-1401,et seq.

354. Defendantsenteredintoacontract,combination,orconspiracybetweentwoor

morepersonsinrestraintof,ortomonopolize,tradeorcommerceintheBroilersmarket,a

substantialpartofwhichoccurredwithinArizona.

355. Defendantsestablished,maintained,orusedamonopoly,orattemptedtoestablish

amonopoly,oftradeorcommerceintheRelevantMarkets,asubstantialpartofwhichoccurred

withinArizona,forthepurposeofexcludingcompetitionorcontrolling,fixing,ormaintaining

pricesintheBroilermarket.

356. Defendants’violationsofArizonalaw wereflagrant.

357. Defendants’ unlawful conduct substantially affected Arizona’s trade and

commerce.

358. AsadirectandproximatecauseofDefendants’unlawfulconduct,thePlaintiffs

and membersoftheArizonaClasshavebeen injured in theirbusinessorproperty and are

threatenedwithfurtherinjury.
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359. By reason oftheforegoing,Plaintiffsand membersoftheArizonaClassare

entitledtoseekallformsofreliefavailableunderArizonaRevisedStatute§44-1401,et seq.

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the Arkansas Unfair Practices Act,

Ark. Code Ann. § 4-75-201, et seq. and § 4-75-301, et seq.
(On Behalf of the Arkansas Class)

360. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

361. Byreasonoftheconductallegedherein,DefendantshaveviolatedArk.Code

Ann.§4-75-201,et seq.and§4-75-301,et seq.

362. Defendantsenteredintoacontract,combination,orconspiracybetweentwoor

morepersonsinrestraintof,ortomonopolize,tradeorcommerceintheBroilersmarket,a

substantialpartofwhichoccurredwithinArkansas.

363. Defendantsestablished,maintained,orusedamonopoly,orattemptedtoestablish

amonopoly,oftradeorcommerceintheRelevantMarkets,asubstantialpartofwhichoccurred

withinArkansas,forthepurposeofexcludingcompetitionorcontrolling,fixing,ormaintaining

pricesintheBroilersmarket.

364. Defendants’violationsofArkansaslaw wereflagrant.

365. Defendants’ unlawful conduct substantially affected Arkansas’s trade and

commerce.

366. Defendants’unlawfulconductcausedinjury,andasaresult,Plaintiffsandthe

membersofthe ArkansasClasshave been damaged in theirbusinessorproperty and are

threatenedwithfurtherdamages.
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367. Byreasonoftheforegoing,PlaintiffsandmembersoftheArkansasClassare

entitledtoseekallformsofrelief,includingtrebledamages,reasonableattorney’sfeesandcosts,

andinjunctivereliefavailableunderArk.CodeAnn.§4-75-211.

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of California’s Cartwright Act,

Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 16700, et seq.
(On Behalf of the California Class)

368. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

369. The California Business & Professions Code generally governs conductof

corporateentities. TheCartwrightAct,Cal.Bus.& Prof.Code§§ 16700-16770,governs

antitrustviolationsinCalifornia.

370. Californiapolicy isthat“vigorousrepresentation and protection ofconsumer

interestsareessentialtothefairandefficientfunctioningofafreeenterprisemarketeconomy,”

includingbyfosteringcompetitioninthemarketplace.Cal.Bus.& Prof.Code§301.

371. UndertheCartwrightAct,indirectpurchasershavestandingtomaintainanaction

basedonthefactsallegedinthisComplaint.Cal.Bus.& Prof.Code§16750(a).

372. A trustinCaliforniaisanycombinationintendedforvariouspurposes,including

butnotlimitedtocreatingorcarryingoutrestrictionsintradeorcommerce,limitingorreducing

theproductionorincreasingthepriceofmerchandise,orpreventingcompetitioninthemarket

foracommodity.Cal.Bus.& Prof.Code§16720.EverytrustinCaliforniaisunlawfulexcept

asprovidedbytheCode.Id. at§16726.

373. Plaintiffspurchased Broilerswithin the State ofCalifornia during the Class

Period.ButforDefendants’conductsetforthherein,thepriceperpoundofBroilerswouldhave

beenlower,inanamounttobedeterminedattrial.
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374. Defendantsenacted acombination ofcapital,skilloractsforthepurposeof

creatingandcarryingoutrestrictionsintradeorcommerce,inviolationofCal.Bus.& Prof.

Code§16700,et seq. 

375. PlaintiffsandmembersoftheClasswereinjuredintheirbusinessorproperty,

withrespecttopurchasesofBroilersinCaliforniaandareentitledtoallformsofrelief,including

recoveryoftrebledamages,interest,andinjunctiverelief,plusreasonableattorneys’feesand

costs.

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the District of Columbia Antitrust Act,

D.C. Code § 28-4501, et seq.
(On Behalf of the District of Columbia Class)

376. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

377. ThepolicyofDistrictofColumbiaCode,Title28,Chapter45 (Restraintsof

Trade)isto“promotetheunhamperedfreedom ofcommerceandindustrythroughouttheDistrict

ofColumbiabyprohibitingrestraintsoftradeandmonopolisticpractices.”

378. Plaintiffspurchased Broilerswithin theDistrictofColumbiaduringtheClass

Period.ButforDefendants’conductsetforthherein,thepriceperpoundofBroilerswouldhave

beenlower,inanamounttobedeterminedattrial.

379. UnderDistrictofColumbialaw,indirectpurchasershavestandingtomaintainan

action underthe antitrustprovisionsofthe D.C.Code based on the factsalleged in this

Complaint,because “any indirectpurchaser in the chain of manufacture,production or

distributionofgoods...shallbedeemedtobeinjuredwithinthemeaningofthischapter.” D.C.

Code§28-4509(a).
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380. Defendantscontracted,combinedorconspiredtoactinrestraintoftradewithin

theDistrictofColumbia,andmonopolizedorattemptedtomonopolizethemarketforBroilers

withintheDistrictofColumbia,inviolationofD.C.Code§28-4501,et seq.

381. PlaintiffsandmembersoftheClasswereinjuredwithrespecttopurchasesof

Broilersin theDistrictofColumbiaand areentitled to allformsofrelief,including actual

damages,trebledamages,andinterest,reasonableattorneys’feesandcosts.

SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the Illinois Antitrust Act,

740 Ill. Comp. Stat. Ann. 10/3(1), et seq.
(On Behalf of the Illinois Class)

382. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

383. The Illinois AntitrustAct,740 ILCS 10/1,et seq.,aims “to promote the

unhamperedgrowthofcommerceandindustrythroughouttheStatebyprohibitingrestraintsof

tradewhicharesecuredthroughmonopolisticoroligarchicpracticesandwhichactortendtoact

todecreasecompetitionbetweenandamongpersonsengagedincommerceandtrade....” 740

ILCS10/2.

384. PlaintiffspurchasedBroilerswithintheStateofIllinoisduringtheClassPeriod.

ButforDefendants’conductsetforthherein,thepriceperpoundofBroilerswouldhavebeen

lower,inanamounttobedeterminedattrial.

385. UndertheIllinoisAntitrustAct,indirectpurchasershavestandingtomaintainan

actionfordamagesbasedonthefactsallegedinthisComplaint.740ILCS10/7(2).

386. Defendantsmadecontractsorengagedinacombinationorconspiracywitheach

other,thoughtheywouldhavebeencompetitorsbutfortheirprioragreement,forthepurposeof
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fixing,controllingormaintainingpricesforBroilerssold,and/orforallocatingcustomersor

marketsforBroilerswithintheintrastatecommerceofIllinois.

387. Defendantsfurtherunreasonablyrestrainedtradeorcommerceandestablished,

maintainedorattemptedtoacquiremonopolypoweroverthemarketforBroilersinIllinoisfor

thepurposeofexcludingcompetition,inviolationof740ILCS10/1,etseq.

388. PlaintiffsandmembersoftheClasswereinjuredwithrespecttopurchasesof

Broilersin Illinoisand are entitled to allformsofrelief,including actualdamages,treble

damages,reasonableattorneys’feesandcosts.

SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the Iowa Competition Law

Iowa Code § 553.1, et seq.
(On Behalf of the Iowa Class)

389. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

390. TheIowaCompetitionLaw aimsto“prohibit[]restraintofeconomicactivityand

monopolisticpractices.” IowaCode§553.2.

391. PlaintiffspurchasedBroilerswithintheStateofIowaduringtheClassPeriod.But

forDefendants’conductsetforthherein,thepriceperpoundofBroilerswouldhavebeenlower,

inanamounttobedeterminedattrial.

392. Defendantscontracted,combinedorconspiredtorestrainormonopolizetradein

themarketforBroilers,andattemptedtoestablishordidinfactestablishamonopolyforthe

purposeofexcludingcompetitionorcontrolling,fixingormaintainingpricesforBroilers,in

violationofIowaCode§553.1,et seq.
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393. PlaintiffsandmembersoftheIowaClasswereinjuredwithrespecttopurchases

ofBroilersinIowa,andareentitledtoallformsofrelief,includingactualdamages,exemplary

damagesforwillfulconduct,reasonableattorneys’feesandcosts,andinjunctiverelief.

EIGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the Kansas Restraint of Trade Act

Kan. Stat. Ann. § 50-101, et seq.
(On Behalf of the Kansas Class)

394. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

395. TheKansasRestraintofTradeActaimstoprohibitpracticeswhich,inter alia,

“tendtopreventfullandfreecompetitionintheimportation,transportationorsaleofarticles

importedintothisstate.”Kan.Stat.Ann.§50-112.

396. PlaintiffspurchasedBroilerswithintheStateofKansasduringtheClassPeriod.

ButforDefendants’conductsetforthherein,thepriceperpoundofBroilerswouldhavebeen

lower,inanamounttobedeterminedattrial.

397. UndertheKansasRestraintofTradeAct,indirectpurchasershavestandingto

maintainanactionbasedonthefactsallegedinthisComplaint.Kan.Stat.Ann§50-161(b).

398. Defendantscombinedcapital,skilloractsforthepurposesofcreatingrestrictions

intradeorcommerceofBroilers,increasingthepriceofBroilers,preventingcompetitioninthe

saleofBroilers,orbindingthemselvesnottosellBroilers,inamannerthatestablishedtheprice

ofBroilersandprecludedfreeandunrestrictedcompetitionamongthemselvesinthesaleof

Broilers,inviolationofKan.Stat.Ann.§50-101,etseq.

399. PlaintiffsandmembersoftheClasswereinjuredwithrespecttopurchasesof

BroilersinKansasandareentitledtoallformsofrelief,includingactualdamages,reasonable

attorneys’feesandcosts,andinjunctiverelief.
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NINTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the Maine’s Antitrust Statute
Me. Rev. Stat. Ann. Tit. 10 § 1101, et seq.

(On Behalf of the Maine Class)

400. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

401. Part3ofTitle10theMaineRevisedStatutesgenerallygovernsregulationof

tradeinMaine.Chapter201thereofgovernsmonopoliesandprofiteering,generallyprohibiting

contractsinrestraintoftradeandconspiraciestomonopolizetrade.Me.Rev.Stat.Ann.Tit.10,

§§1101-02.

402. PlaintiffspurchasedBroilerswithintheStateofMaineduringtheClassPeriod.

ButforDefendants’conductsetforthherein,thepriceperpoundofBroilerswouldhavebeen

lower,inanamounttobedeterminedattrial.

403. UnderMainelaw,indirectpurchasershavestandingtomaintainanactionbased

onthefactsallegedinthisComplaint.Me.Rev.Stat.Ann.Tit.10,§1104(1).

404. Defendantscontracted,combinedorconspiredinrestraintoftradeorcommerce

of Broilers within the intrastate commerce of Maine,and monopolized or attempted to

monopolizethetradeorcommerceofBroilerswithin theintrastatecommerceofMaine,in

violationofMe.Rev.Stat.Ann.Tit.10,§1101,etseq.

405. PlaintiffsandmembersoftheClasswereinjuredwithrespecttopurchasesof

Broilersin Maine and are entitled to allformsofrelief,including actualdamages,treble

damages,reasonableattorneys’andexperts’feesandcosts.

TENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the Michigan Antitrust Reform Act

Mich. Comp. Laws § 445.771, et seq.
(On Behalf of the Michigan Class)
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406. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

407. TheMichiganAntitrustReform Actaims“toprohibitcontracts,combinations,

and conspiraciesin restraintoftradeorcommerce...to prohibitmonopoliesand attemptsto

monopolizetradeorcommerce...[and]toprovideremedies,fines,andpenaltiesforviolationsof

thisact.”Mich.Act274of1984.

408. PlaintiffspurchasedBroilerswithintheStateofMichiganduringtheClassPeriod.

ButforDefendants’conductsetforthherein,thepriceperpoundofBroilerwouldhavebeen

lower,inanamounttobedeterminedattrial.

409. UndertheMichiganAntitrustReform Act,indirectpurchasershavestandingto

maintain an action based on the facts alleged in this Complaint. Mich.Comp.Laws.

§452.778(2).

410. Defendantscontracted,combinedorconspiredtorestrainormonopolizetradeor

commerceinthemarketforBroilers,inviolationofMich.Comp.Laws§445.772,et seq.

411. PlaintiffsandmembersoftheClasswereinjuredwithrespecttopurchasesof

BroilersinMichiganandareentitledtoallformsofrelief,includingactualdamages,treble

damagesforflagrantviolations,interest,costs,reasonableattorneys’fees,andinjunctiveorother

appropriateequitablerelief.

ELEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the Minnesota Antitrust Law,

Minn. Stat. § 325D.49, et seq.
(On Behalf of the Minnesota Class)

412. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.
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413. TheMinnesotaAntitrustLaw of1971aimstoprohibitanycontract,combination

orconspiracywhenanypartthereofwascreated,formed,orenteredintoinMinnesota;any

contract, combination or conspiracy, wherever created, formed or entered into; any

establishment,maintenanceoruseofmonopolypower;andanyattempttoestablish,maintainor

usemonopolypower,wheneveranyoftheseaffectMinnesotatradeorcommerce.

414. Plaintiffspurchased Broilerswithin the State ofMinnesota during the Class

Period.ButforDefendants’conductsetforthherein,thepriceperpoundofBroilerswouldhave

beenlower,inanamounttobedeterminedattrial.

415. UndertheMinnesotaAntitrustActof1971,indirectpurchasershavestandingto

maintainanactionbasedonthefactsallegedinthisComplaint.Minn.Stat.§325D.56.

416. Defendantscontracted,combinedorconspiredinunreasonablerestraintoftrade

orcommerce in the marketforBroilerswithin the intrastate commerce ofand outside of

Minnesota;established,maintained,usedorattemptedtoestablish,maintainorusemonopoly

poweroverthetradeorcommerceinthemarketforBroilerswithintheintrastatecommerceof

and outside ofMinnesota;and fixed pricesand allocated marketsforBroilerswithin the

intrastatecommerceofandoutsideofMinnesota,inviolationofMinn.Stat.§325D.49,et seq.

417. PlaintiffsandmembersoftheClasswereinjuredwithrespecttopurchasesof

BroilersinMinnesotaandareentitledtoallformsofrelief,includingactualdamages,treble

damages,costsanddisbursements,reasonableattorneys’fees,andinjunctivereliefnecessaryto

preventandrestrainviolationshereof.

TWELVTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the Mississippi Antitrust Statute,

Miss. Code Ann. § 74-21-1, et seq.
(On Behalf of the Mississippi Class)
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418. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

419. Title75 oftheMississippiCoderegulatestrade,commerceand investments.

Chapter21thereofgenerallyprohibitstrustsandcombinesinrestraintorhindranceoftrade,with

theaim that“trustsandcombinesmaybesuppressed,andthebenefitsarisingfrom competition

inbusiness[are]preserved”toMississippians.Miss.CodeAnn.§75-21-39.

420. Trustsare combinations,contracts,understandingsoragreements,expressor

implied,wheninimicaltothepublicwelfareandwiththeeffectof,inter alia,restrainingtrade,

increasingthepriceoroutputofacommodity,orhinderingcompetitionintheproductionorsale

ofacommodity.Miss.CodeAnn.§75-21-1.

421. Plaintiffspurchased Broilerswithin theStateofMississippiduring theClass

Period.ButforDefendants’conductsetforthherein,thepriceperpoundofBroilerswouldhave

beenlower,inanamounttobedeterminedattrial.

422. UnderMississippilaw,indirectpurchasershavestandingtomaintainanaction

underthe antitrustprovisions ofthe MississippiCode based on the facts alleged in this

Complaint.Miss.CodeAnn.§75-21-9.

423. Defendants combined,contracted,understood and agreed in the marketfor

Broilers,inamannerinimicaltopublicwelfare,withtheeffectofrestrainingtrade,increasing

thepriceofBroilersandhinderingcompetitioninthesaleofBroilers,inviolationofMiss.Code

Ann.§75-21-1(a),etseq.

424. Defendantsmonopolizedorattemptedtomonopolizetheproduction,controlor

saleofBroilers,inviolationofMiss.CodeAnn.§75-21-3,etseq.
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425. Defendants’BroilersaresoldindirectlyviadistributorsthroughouttheStateof

Mississippi. During the Class Period,Defendants’ illegalconductsubstantially affected

Mississippicommerce.

426. PlaintiffsandmembersoftheClasswereinjuredwithrespecttopurchasesof

BroilersinMississippiandareentitledtoallformsofrelief,includingactualdamagesanda

penaltyof$500perinstanceofinjury.

THIRTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the Missouri Merchandising Practices Act,

Mo. Ann. Stat. § 407.010, et seq.
(On Behalf of the Missouri Class)

427. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

428. Chapter 407 of the MissouriMerchandising Practices Act(the “MMPA”)

generallygovernsunlawfulbusinesspractices,includingantitrustviolationssuchasrestraintsof

tradeandmonopolization.

429. PlaintiffspurchasedBroilerswithinthe5trsaStateofMissouriduringtheClass

Period.ButforDefendants’conductsetforthherein,thepriceperpoundofBroilerswouldhave

beenlower,inanamounttobedeterminedattrial.

430. UnderMissourilaw,indirectpurchasershavestanding to maintain an action

undertheMMPA basedonthefactsallegedinthisComplaint.Gibbons v. J. Nuckolls, Inc.,216

S.W .3d667,669(Mo.2007).

431. Defendantscontracted,combinedorconspiredinrestraintoftradeorcommerce

ofBroilerswithin the intrastate commerce ofMissouri,and monopolized orattempted to

monopolizethemarketforBroilerswithintheintrastatecommerceofMissouribypossessing

monopolypowerinthemarketandwillfullymaintainingthatpowerthroughagreementstofix
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prices,allocatemarketsandotherwisecontroltrade,inviolationofMo.Ann.Stat.§407.010,et

seq.

432. Plaintiffs and members ofthe MissouriClass were injured with respectto

purchasesofBroilersinMissouriandareentitledtoallformsofrelief,includingactualdamages

orliquidateddamagesinanamountwhichbearsareasonablerelationtotheactualdamages

whichhavebeensustained,aswellasreasonableattorneys’fees,costs,andinjunctiverelief.

FOURTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the Nebraska Junkin Act,

Neb. Rev. Stat. § 59-801, et seq.
(On Behalf of the Nebraska Class)

433. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

434. Chapter59oftheNebraskaRevisedStatutegenerallygovernsbusinessandtrade

practices. Sections801 through 831 thereof,known asthe Junkin Act,prohibitantitrust

violationssuchasrestraintsoftradeandmonopolization.

435. PlaintiffspurchasedBroilerswithintheStateofNebraskaduringtheClassPeriod.

ButforDefendants’conductsetforthherein,thepriceperpoundofBroilerswouldhavebeen

lower,inanamounttobedeterminedattrial.

436. UnderNebraskalaw,indirectpurchasershavestanding to maintain an action

undertheJunkinActbasedonthefactsallegedinthisComplaint.Neb.Rev.Stat.§59-821.

437. Defendantscontracted,combinedorconspiredinrestraintoftradeorcommerce

ofBroilerswithin the intrastate commerce ofNebraska,and monopolized orattempted to

monopolizethemarketforBroilerswithintheintrastatecommerceofNebraskabypossessing

monopolypowerinthemarketandwillfullymaintainingthatpowerthroughagreementstofix
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prices,allocatemarketsandotherwisecontroltrade,inviolationofNeb.Rev.Stat.§59-801,et

seq.

438. PlaintiffsandmembersoftheClasswereinjuredwithrespecttopurchasesof

BroilersinNebraskaandareentitledtoallformsofrelief,includingactualdamagesorliquidated

damagesinanamountwhichbearsareasonablerelationtotheactualdamageswhichhavebeen

sustained,aswellasreasonableattorneys’fees,costs,andinjunctiverelief.

FIFTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the Nevada Unfair Trade Practices Act,

Nev. Rev. Stat. § 598A.010, et seq.
(On Behalf of the Nevada Class)

439. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

440. TheNevadaUnfairTradePracticeAct(“NUTPA”)statesthat“free,openand

competitiveproductionandsaleofcommodities...isnecessarytotheeconomicwell-beingofthe

citizensoftheStateofNevada.”Nev.Rev.Stat.Ann.§598A.030(1).

441. ThepolicyofNUTPA istoprohibitactsinrestraintoftradeorcommerce,to

preserveandprotectthefree,openandcompetitivemarket,andtopenalizeallpersonsengaged

inanticompetitivepractices.Nev.Rev.Stat.Ann.§598A.030(2).Suchactsinclude,inter alia,

pricefixing,divisionofmarkets,allocationofcustomers,andmonopolizationoftrade. Nev.

Rev.Stat.Ann.§598A.060.

442. PlaintiffspurchasedBroilerswithintheStateofNevadaduringtheClassPeriod.

ButforDefendants’conductsetforthherein,thepriceperpoundofBroilerswouldhavebeen

lower,inanamounttobedeterminedattrial.

443. UnderNevadalaw,indirectpurchasershavestandingtomaintainanactionunder

NUTPA basedonthefactsallegedinthisComplaint.Nev.Rev.Stat.Ann.§598A.210(2).
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444. DefendantsfixedpricesbyagreeingtoestablishpricesforBroilersinNevada,

divided Nevada markets, allocated Nevada customers, and monopolized or attempted

monopolize trade or commerce of Broilers within the intrastate commerce of Nevada,

constitutingacontract,combinationorconspiracyinrestraintoftradeinviolationofNev.Rev.

Stat.Ann.§598A,etseq.

445. PlaintiffsandmembersoftheClasswereinjuredwithrespecttopurchasesof

Broilersin Nevadain thatatleastthousandsofsalesofDefendants’Broilerstook placein

Nevada,purchasedbyNevadaconsumersatsupra-competitivepricescausedbyDefendants’

conduct.

446. Accordingly,PlaintiffsandmembersoftheNevadaClassareentitledtoallforms

ofrelief,including actualdamages,treble damages,reasonable attorneys’fees,costs,and

injunctiverelief.

447. Inaccordancewiththerequirementsof§598A.210(3),noticeofthisactionwas

mailedtotheNevadaAttorneyGeneralbyPlaintiffs.

SIXTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of New Hampshire’s Antitrust Statute,

N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. Tit. XXXI, § 356, et seq.
(On Behalf of the New Hampshire Class)

448. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

449. Title XXXI of the New Hampshire Statutes generally governs trade and

commerce.Chapter356thereofgovernscombinationsandmonopoliesandprohibitsrestraintsof

trade.N.H.Rev.Stat.Ann.§§356:2,3.
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450. PlaintiffspurchasedBroilerswithintheStateofNew HampshireduringtheClass

Period.ButforDefendants’conductsetforthherein,thepriceperpoundofBroilerswouldhave

beenlower,inanamounttobedeterminedattrial.

451. UnderNew Hampshirelaw,indirectpurchasershavestanding to maintain an

actionbasedonthefactsallegedinthisComplaint.N.H.Rev.Stat.Ann.§356:11(II).

452. Defendants fixed, controlled or maintained prices for Broilers, allocated

customersormarketsforBroilers,and established,maintained orused monopolypower,or

attemptedto,constitutingacontract,combinationorconspiracyinrestraintoftradeinviolation

ofN.H.Rev.Stat.Ann.§356:1,et seq.

453. PlaintiffsandmembersoftheClasswereinjuredwithrespecttopurchasesof

BroilersinNew Hampshireandareentitledtoallformsofrelief,includingactualdamages

sustained,trebledamagesforwillfulorflagrantviolations,reasonableattorneys’fees,costs,and

injunctiverelief. 

SEVENTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the New Mexico Antitrust Act,

N.M. Stat. Ann. §§ 57-1-1, et seq.
(On Behalf of the New Mexico Class)

454. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

455. The New Mexico Antitrust Act aims to prohibit restraints of trade and

monopolisticpractices.N.M.Stat.Ann.57-1-15.

456. PlaintiffspurchasedBroilerswithintheStateofNew MexicoduringtheClass

Period.ButforDefendants’conductsetforthherein,thepriceperpoundofBroilerswouldhave

beenlower,inanamounttobedeterminedattrial.
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457. UnderNew Mexicolaw,indirectpurchasershavestandingtomaintainanaction

basedonthefactsallegedinthisComplaint.N.M.Stat.Ann.§57-1-3.

458. Defendants contracted,agreed,combined orconspired,and monopolized or

attemptedtomonopolizetradeforBroilerswithintheintrastatecommerceofNew Mexico,in

violationofN.M.Stat.Ann.§57-1-1,et seq.

459. PlaintiffsandmembersoftheClasswereinjuredwithrespecttopurchasesof

BroilersinNew Mexicoandareentitledtoallformsofrelief,includingactualdamages,treble

damages,reasonableattorneys’fees,costs,andinjunctiverelief.

EIGHTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of Section 340 of the New York General Business Law

(On Behalf of the New York Class)

460. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

461. Article22oftheNew YorkGeneralBusinessLaw generalprohibitsmonopolies

andcontractsoragreementsinrestraintoftrade,withthepolicyofencouragingcompetitionor

thefreeexerciseofanyactivityintheconductofanybusiness,tradeorcommerceinNew York.

N.Y.Gen.Bus.Law §340(1).

462. Plaintiffspurchased Broilerswithin theStateofNew York during the Class

Period.ButforDefendants’conductsetforthherein,thepriceperpoundofBroilerswouldhave

beenlower,inanamounttobedeterminedattrial.

463. UnderNew Yorklaw,indirectpurchasershavestandingtomaintainanaction

basedonthefactsallegedinthisComplaint.N.Y.Gen.Bus.Law §340(6).

464. Defendantsestablishedormaintainedamonopolywithintheintrastatecommerce

ofNew York forthetradeorcommerceofBroilersand restrained competition in thefree
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exerciseoftheconductofthebusinessofBroilerswithintheintrastatecommerceofNew York,

inviolationofN.Y.Gen.Bus.Law §340,et seq.

465. PlaintiffsandmembersoftheClasswereinjuredwithrespecttopurchasesof

BroilersinNew Yorkandareentitledtoallformsofrelief,includingactualdamages,treble

damages,costsnotexceeding$10,000,andreasonableattorneys’fees.

NINETEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the North Carolina General Statutes,

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-1, et seq.
(On Behalf of the North Carolina Class)

466. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

467. Defendants entered into a contractorcombination in the form oftrustor

otherwise,orconspiracyinrestraintoftradeorcommerceintheBroilerMarket,asubstantial

partofwhichoccurredwithinNorthCarolina.

468. Defendantsestablished,maintained,orusedamonopoly,orattemptedtoestablish

a monopoly,oftrade orcommerce in the BroilerMarket,forthe purpose ofaffecting

competitionorcontrolling,fixing,ormaintainingprices,asubstantialpartofwhichoccurred

withinNorthCarolina.

469. Defendants’unlawfulconductsubstantiallyaffectedNorthCarolina’stradeand

commerce.

470. AsadirectandproximatecauseofDefendants’unlawfulconduct,Plaintiffsand

themembersoftheNorthCarolinaClasshavebeeninjuredintheirbusinessorpropertyandare

threatenedwithfurtherinjury.
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471. Byreasonoftheforegoing,PlaintiffsandmembersoftheNorthCarolinaClass

areentitledtoseekallformsofreliefavailable,includingtrebledamages,underN.C.Gen.Stat.

§75-1,et seq.

TWENTIETH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the North Dakota Uniform State Antitrust Act,

N.D. Cent. Code § 51-08.1, et seq.
(On Behalf of the North Dakota Class)

472. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

473. TheNorthDakotaUniform StateAntitrustActgenerallyprohibitsrestraintsonor

monopolizationoftrade.N.D.Cent.Code§51-08.1,et seq.

474. PlaintiffspurchasedBroilerswithintheStateofNorthDakotaduringtheClass

Period.ButforDefendants’conductsetforthherein,thepriceperpoundofBroilerswouldhave

beenlower,inanamounttobedeterminedattrial.

475. UndertheNorthDakotaUniform StateAntitrustAct,indirectpurchasershave

standingtomaintainanactionbasedonthefactsallegedinthisComplaint.N.D.Cent.Code§

51-08.1-08.

476. Defendantscontracted,combinedorconspiredinrestraintof,ortomonopolize

tradeorcommerceinthemarketforBroilers,andestablished,maintained,orusedamonopoly,

orattempted to do so,forthe purposesofexcluding competition orcontrolling,fixing or

maintainingpricesforBroilers,inviolationofN.D.Cent.Code§§51-08.1-02,03.

477. PlaintiffsandmembersoftheClasswereinjuredwithrespecttopurchasesin

NorthDakotaandareentitledtoallformsofrelief,includingactualdamages,trebledamagesfor

flagrantviolations,costs,reasonableattorneys’fees,andinjunctiveorotherequitablerelief.

TWENTY-FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
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Violation of the Oregon Antitrust Law,
Or. Rev. Stat. § 646.705, et seq.
(On Behalf of the Oregon Class)

478. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

479. Chapter646oftheOregonRevisedStatutesgenerallygovernsbusinessandtrade

practiceswithinOregon.Sections705through899thereofgovernantitrustviolations,withthe

policy to “encourage free and open competition in theinterestofthegeneralwelfare and

economyofthestate.”Or.Rev.Stat.§646.715.

480. PlaintiffspurchasedBroilerswithintheStateofOregonduringtheClassPeriod.

ButforDefendants’conductsetforthherein,thepriceperpoundofBroilerswouldhavebeen

lower,inanamounttobedeterminedattrial.

481. Under Oregon law, indirect purchasers have standing under the antitrust

provisionsoftheOregonRevisedStatutestomaintainanactionbasedonthefactsallegedinthis

Complaint.Or.Rev.Stat.§646.780(1)(a).

482. Defendantscontracted,combined,orconspiredinrestraintoftradeorcommerce

ofBroilers,andmonopolizedorattemptedtomonopolizethetradeorcommerceofBroilers,in

violationofOr.Rev.Stat.§646.705,et seq.

483. PlaintiffsandmembersoftheClasswereinjuredwithrespecttopurchasesof

Broilerswithin the intrastate commerce ofOregon,oralternatively to interstate commerce

involvingactualorthreatenedinjurytopersonslocatedinOregon,andareentitledtoallformsof

relief,includingactualdamages,trebledamages,reasonableattorneys’fees,expertwitnessfees

andinvestigativecosts,andinjunctiverelief.

TWENTY-SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the Rhode Island Antitrust Act,
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R.I. Gen Laws § 6-36-1, et seq.
(On Behalf of the Rhode Island Class)

484. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

485. The Rhode Island AntitrustActaimsto promote the unhampered growth of

commerceandindustrythroughoutRhodeIslandbyprohibitingunreasonablerestraintsoftrade

andmonopolisticpracticesthathamper,preventordecreasecompetition.R.I.Gen.Laws§6-

36-2(a)(2).

486. PlaintiffspurchasedBroilerswithintheStateofRhodeIslandduringtheClass

Period.ButforDefendants’conductsetforthherein,thepriceperpoundofBroilerswouldhave

beenlower,inanamounttobedeterminedattrial.

487. UndertheRhodeIslandAntitrustAct,asofJanuary1,2008,indirectpurchasers

havestandingtomaintainanactionbasedonthefactsallegedinthisComplaint.R.I.Gen.Laws

§6-36-11(a).InRhodeIsland,theclaimsofthePlaintiffsandtheClassallegedhereinrunfrom

January1,2008,throughthedatethattheeffectsofDefendants’anticompetitiveconductcease.

488. Defendantscontracted,combinedandconspiredinrestraintoftradeofBroilers

within the intrastate commerce ofRhode Island,and established,maintained orused,or

attemptedtoestablish,maintainoruse,amonopolyinthetradeofBroilersforthepurposeof

excludingcompetitionorcontrolling,fixingormaintainingpriceswithintheintrastatecommerce

ofRhodeIsland,inviolationofR.I.Gen.Laws§6-36-1,etseq.

489. PlaintiffsandmembersoftheClasswereinjuredwithrespecttopurchasesof

BroilersinRhodeIslandandareentitledtoallformsofrelief,includingactualdamages,treble

damages,reasonablecosts,reasonableattorneys’fees,andinjunctiverelief.

TWENTY-THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
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Violation of the South Dakota Antitrust Statute,
S.D. Codified Laws § 37-1-3.1, et seq.

(On Behalf of the South Dakota Class)

490. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

491. Chapter37-1 oftheSouth DakotaCodified Lawsprohibitsrestraintoftrade,

monopoliesanddiscriminatorytradepractices.S.D.CodifiedLaws§§37-1-3.1,3.2.

492. PlaintiffspurchasedBroilerswithintheStateofSouthDakotaduringtheClass

Period.ButforDefendants’conductsetforthherein,thepriceperpoundofBroilerswouldhave

beenlower,inanamounttobedeterminedattrial.

493. UnderSouthDakotalaw,indirectpurchasershavestandingundertheantitrust

provisionsoftheSouthDakotaCodifiedLawstomaintainanactionbasedonthefactsallegedin

thisComplaint.S.D.CodifiedLaws§37-1-33.

494. Defendantscontracted,combinedorconspiredinrestraintoftradeorcommerce

ofBroilerswithintheintrastatecommerceofSouthDakota,andmonopolizedorattemptedto

monopolizetradeorcommerceofBroilerswithintheintrastatecommerceofSouthDakota,in

violationofS.D.CodifiedLaws§37-1,etseq.

495. PlaintiffsandmembersoftheClasswereinjuredwithrespecttopurchasesof

BroilersinSouthDakotaandareentitledtoallformsofrelief,includingactualdamages,treble

damages,taxablecosts,reasonableattorneys’fees,andinjunctiveorotherequitablerelief.

TWENTY-FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the Utah Antitrust Act,

Utah Code Ann. §§ 76-10-911, et seq.
(On Behalf of the Utah Class)

496. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.
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497. TheUtah AntitrustActaimsto “encouragefreeand open competition in the

interestofthegeneralwelfareandeconomyofthisstatebyprohibitingmonopolisticandunfair

tradepractices,combinationsandconspiraciesinrestraintoftradeorcommerce....” Utah

CodeAnn.§76-10-3102.

498. PlaintiffspurchasedBroilerswithintheStateofUtahduringtheClassPeriod.But

forDefendants’conductsetforthherein,thepriceperpoundofBroilerswouldhavebeenlower,

inanamounttobedeterminedattrial.

499. UndertheUtahAntitrustAct,indirectpurchaserswhoareeitherUtahresidentsor

UtahcitizenshavestandingtomaintainanactionbasedonthefactsallegedinthisComplaint.

UtahCodeAnn.§76-10-3109(1)(a).

500. Defendantscontracted,combinedorconspiredinrestraintoftradeorcommerce

ofBroilers,andmonopolizedorattemptedtomonopolizetradeorcommerceofBroilers,in

violationofUtahCodeAnn.§76-10-3101,et seq.

501. PlaintiffsandmembersoftheClasswhoareeitherUtahresidentsorUtahcitizens

wereinjuredwithrespecttopurchasesofBroilersinUtahandareentitledtoallformsofrelief,

including actualdamages,treble damages,costs of suit,reasonable attorneys’ fees,and

injunctiverelief.

TWENTY-FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the West Virginia Antitrust Act,

W. Va. Code §47-18-1, et seq.
(On Behalf of the West Virginia Class)

502. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

503. Theviolationsoffederalantitrustlaw setforthabovealsoconstituteviolationsof

section47-18-1oftheW estVirginiaCode.
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504. During the ClassPeriod,Defendantsand theirco-conspiratorsengaged in a

continuingcontract,combinationorconspiracyinunreasonablerestraintoftradeandcommerce

andotheranticompetitiveconductallegedaboveinviolationofW .Va.Code§47-18-1,et seq.

505. Defendants’anticompetitive actsdescribed above were knowing,willfuland

constituteviolationsorflagrantviolationsoftheW estVirginiaAntitrustAct.

506. AsadirectandproximateresultofDefendants’unlawfulconduct,Plaintiffsand

membersoftheW estVirginiaClasshavebeeninjuredintheirbusinessandpropertyinthatthey

paid moreforBroilersthan theyotherwisewould havepaid in theabsenceofDefendants’

unlawfulconduct.AsaresultofDefendants’violationofSection47-18-3oftheW estVirginia

AntitrustAct,PlaintiffsandmembersoftheW estVirginiaClassseektrebledamagesandtheir

costofsuit,including reasonable attorneys’fees,pursuantto section 47-18-9 ofthe W est

VirginiaCode.

TWENTY-SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the Wisconsin Antitrust Act,

Wis. Stat. Ann. § 133.01(1), et seq.
(On Behalf of the Wisconsin Class)

507. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

508. Chapter133oftheW isconsinStatutesgovernstrustandmonopolies,withthe

intent“tosafeguardthepublicagainstthecreationorperpetuationofmonopoliesandtofoster

andencouragecompetitionbyprohibitingunfairanddiscriminatorybusinesspracticeswhich

destroyorhampercompetition.”W is.Stat.§133.01.

509. Plaintiffspurchased Broilerswithin the State ofW isconsin during the Class

Period.ButforDefendants’conductsetforthherein,thepriceperpoundofBroilerswouldhave

beenlower,inanamounttobedeterminedattrial.
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510. UnderW isconsin law,indirectpurchasers have standing underthe antitrust

provisionsoftheW isconsinStatutestomaintainanactionbasedonthefactsallegedinthis

Complaint.Wis.Stat.133.18(a).

511. Defendantscontracted,combinedorconspiredinrestraintoftradeorcommerce

ofBroilers,andmonopolizedorattemptedtomonopolizethetradeorcommerceofBroilers,

with theintention ofinjuringordestroyingcompetition therein,in violation ofWis.Stat.§

133.01,etseq.

512. PlaintiffsandmembersoftheClasswereinjuredwithrespecttopurchasesof

Broilersin W isconsin in thattheactionsalleged herein substantially affected thepeopleof

W isconsin,withatleastthousandsofconsumersinW isconsinpayingsubstantiallyhigherprices

forDefendants’BroilersinW isconsin.

513. Accordingly,Plaintiffsand membersoftheClassareentitled to allformsof

relief,including actualdamages,treble damages,costsand reasonable attorneys’fees,and

injunctiverelief.

514. Defendants’and theirco-conspirators’anticompetitiveactivitieshavedirectly,

foreseeablyandproximatelycausedinjurytoPlaintiffsandmembersoftheClassesintheUnited

States.Theirinjuriesconsistof:(1)being denied theopportunity to purchaselower-priced

Broilersfrom Defendants,and(2)payinghigherpricesforDefendants’Broilersthantheywould

haveintheabsenceofDefendants’conduct. Theseinjuriesareofthetypeofthelawsofthe

aboveStatesweredesignedtoprevent,andflow from thatwhichmakesDefendants’conduct

unlawful.

515. DefendantsarejointlyandseverallyliableforalldamagessufferedbyPlaintiffs

andmembersoftheClasses.
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XII. VIOLATIONS OF STATE CONSUMER PROTECTION LAWS

516. Plaintiffsincorporatebyreferencetheallegationsintheprecedingparagraphs.

517. ThefollowingTwenty-sevenththroughForty-fifthClaimsforReliefarepleaded

undertheconsumerprotectionorsimilarlawsofeachStateorjurisdictionidentifiedbelow,on

behalfoftheindicatedclass.

TWENTY-SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the Arkansas Deceptive Trade Practices Act,

Ark. Code Ann. § 4-88-101, et seq.
(On Behalf of the Arkansas Class)

518. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

519. Byreasonoftheconductallegedherein,DefendantshaveviolatedArk.Code

Ann.§4-88-101,etseq.

520. Defendantsenteredintoacontract,combination,orconspiracybetweentwoor

morepersonsin restraintof,orto monopolize,tradeorcommercein theBroilermarket,a

substantialpartofwhichoccurredwithinArkansas.

521. Defendantsestablished,maintained,orusedamonopoly,orattemptedtoestablish

amonopoly,oftradeorcommerceintheRelevantMarkets,asubstantialpartofwhichoccurred

withinArkansas,forthepurposeofexcludingcompetitionorcontrolling,fixing,ormaintaining

pricesintheBroilerMarket.

522. Defendants’conductwasunfair,unconscionable,ordeceptivewithintheconduct

ofcommercewithintheStateofArkansas.

523. Defendants’conductmisledconsumers,withheldmaterialfacts,andresultedin

materialmisrepresentationstoPlaintiffsandmembersoftheClasses.
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524. Defendants’ unlawful conduct substantially affected Arkansas’s trade and

commerce.

525. Defendants’conductwaswillful.

526. AsadirectandproximatecauseofDefendants’unlawfulconduct,Plaintiffsand

themembersoftheArkansasClasshavebeen injured intheirbusinessorpropertyand are

threatenedwithfurtherinjury.

527. Byreasonoftheforegoing,PlaintiffsandmembersoftheArkansasClassare

entitledtoseekallformsofrelief,includingactualdamagesplusreasonableattorney’sfees

underArk.CodeAnn.§4-88-113.

TWENTY-EIGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of California’s Unfair Competition Law

Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200, et seq. (the “UCL”)
(On Behalf of the California Class)

528. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

529. Theviolationsoffederalantitrustlaw setforthabovealsoconstituteviolationsof

section17200, et seq. ofCaliforniaBusinessandProfessionsCode.

530. Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair,unconscionable,

deceptiveorfraudulentactsorpracticesinviolationoftheUCL byengagingintheactsand

practicesspecifiedabove.

531. Thisclaim isinstituted pursuantto sections17203 and 17204 ofCalifornia

BusinessandProfessionsCode,toobtainrestitutionfrom theseDefendantsforacts,asalleged

herein,thatviolatedtheUCL.

532. The Defendants’ conductas alleged herein violated the UCL. The acts,

omissions,misrepresentations,practicesandnon-disclosuresofDefendants,asallegedherein,
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constitutedacommon,continuous,andcontinuingcourseofconductofunfaircompetitionby

meansofunfair,unlawful,and/orfraudulentbusinessactsorpracticeswithinthemeaningofthe

UCL,including,butnotlimited to,the violationsofsection 16720,et seq.,ofCalifornia

BusinessandProfessionsCode,setforthabove.

533. Defendants’acts,omissions,misrepresentations,practices,andnon-disclosures,

asdescribedabove,whetherornotinviolationofsection16720,et seq.,ofCaliforniaBusiness

andProfessionsCode,andwhetherornotconcertedorindependentacts,areotherwiseunfair,

unconscionable,unlawfulorfraudulent.

534. Plaintiffsand membersoftheCaliforniaClassare entitled to fullrestitution

and/ordisgorgementofallrevenues,earnings,profits,compensation,andbenefitsthatmayhave

beenobtainedbyDefendantsasaresultofsuchbusinessactsorpractices.

535. Theillegalconductallegedhereiniscontinuingandthereisnoindicationthat

Defendantswillnotcontinuesuchactivityintothefuture.

536. TheunlawfulandunfairbusinesspracticesofDefendants,andeachofthem,as

describedabove,havecausedandcontinuetocausePlaintiffsandthemembersoftheCalifornia

Classtopaysupra-competitiveandartificially-inflatedpricesforBroilerssoldintheStateof

California. PlaintiffsandthemembersoftheCaliforniaClasssufferedinjuryinfactandlost

moneyorpropertyasaresultofsuchunfaircompetition.

537. Asalleged in thisComplaint,Defendantsand theirco-conspiratorshavebeen

unjustlyenrichedasaresultoftheirwrongfulconductandbyDefendants’unfaircompetition.

PlaintiffsandthemembersoftheCaliforniaClassareaccordinglyentitledtoequitablerelief

includingrestitutionand/ordisgorgementofallrevenues,earnings,profits,compensation,and
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benefitsthatmay havebeen obtained byDefendantsasaresultofsuch businesspractices,

pursuanttoCaliforniaBusinessandProfessionsCodesections17203and17204.

TWENTY-NINTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the District of Columbia Consumer Protection Procedures Act,

D.C. Code § 28-3901, et seq.
(On Behalf of the District of Columbia Class)

538. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

539. PlaintiffsandmembersoftheDistrictofColumbiaClasspurchasedBroilersfor

personal,family,orhouseholdpurposes.

540. Byreasonoftheconductallegedherein,DefendantshaveviolatedD.C.Code§

28-3901, et seq.

541. Defendantsare“merchants”withinthemeaningofD.C.Code§28-3901(a)(3).

542. Defendantsenteredintoacontract,combination,orconspiracybetweentwoor

morepersonsin restraintof,orto monopolize,tradeorcommercein theBroilermarket,a

substantialpartofwhichoccurredwithintheDistrictofColumbia.

543. Defendantestablished,maintained,orusedamonopoly,orattemptedtoestablish

amonopoly,oftradeorcommerceintheRelevantMarkets,asubstantialpartofwhichoccurred

withintheDistrictofColumbia,forthepurposeofexcludingcompetitionorcontrolling,fixing,

ormaintainingpricesintheBroilerMarket.

544. Defendants’conductwasan unfairmethod ofcompetition,and an unfairor

deceptiveactorpracticewithintheconductofcommercewithintheDistrictofColumbia.

545. Defendants’unlawfulconductsubstantiallyaffectedtheDistrictofColumbia’s

tradeandcommerce.
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546. AsadirectandproximatecauseofDefendants’unlawfulconduct,Plaintiffsand

membersoftheDistrictofColumbiaClasshavebeeninjuredintheirbusinessorpropertyand

arethreatenedwithfurtherinjury.

547. Byreasonoftheforegoing,PlaintiffsandmembersoftheDistrictofColumbia

Classareentitledtoseekallformsofrelief,includingtrebledamagesor$1500perviolation

(whicheverisgreater)pluspunitivedamages,reasonableattorney’sfeesandcostsunderD.C.

Code§28-3901, et seq. 

THIRTIETH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act,

Fla. Stat. § 501.201(2), et seq.
(On Behalf of the Florida Class)

548. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

549. TheFloridaDeceptive& UnfairTradePracticesAct,FloridaStat.§§501.201,et

seq. (the“FDUTPA”),generallyprohibits“unfairmethodsofcompetition,unconscionableacts

orpractices,andunfairordeceptiveactsorpracticesintheconductofanytradeorcommerce,”

includingpracticesinrestraintoftrade.FloridaStat.§501.204(1).

550. TheprimarypolicyoftheFDUTPA is“[t]oprotecttheconsumingpublicand

legitimatebusinessenterprisesfrom thosewho engagein unfairmethodsofcompetition,or

unconscionable,deceptive,orunfairactsorpracticesintheconductofanytradeorcommerce.”

FloridaStat.§501.202(2).

551. A claim fordamagesundertheFDUTPA hasthreeelements:(1)aprohibited

practice;(2)causation;and(3)actualdamages.
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552. UnderFloridalaw,indirectpurchasershavestandingtomaintainanactionunder

theFDUTPA basedonthefactsallegedinthisComplaint. Fla.Stat.§501.211(a)(“...anyone

aggrievedbyaviolationofthis[statute]maybringanaction...”).

553. PlaintiffspurchasedBroilerswithintheStateofFloridaduringtheClassPeriod.

ButforDefendants’conductsetforthherein,thepriceperpoundofBroilerswouldhavebeen

lower,inanamounttobedeterminedattrial.

554. Defendantsenteredintoacontract,combinationorconspiracybetweentwoor

morepersonsinrestraintof,ortomonopolize,tradeorcommerceintheBroilersmarket,a

substantialpartofwhichoccurredwithinFlorida.

555. Defendantsestablished,maintainedorusedamonopoly,orattemptedtoestablish

amonopoly,oftradeorcommercein themarketforBroilers,forthepurposeofexcluding

competitionorcontrolling,fixingormaintainingpricesinFloridaatalevelhigherthanthe

competitivemarketlevel,beginningatleastasearlyas2000andcontinuingthroughthedateof

thisfiling.

556. Accordingly,Defendants’conductwasanunfairmethodofcompetition,andan

unfairordeceptiveactorpracticewithintheconductofcommercewithintheStateofFlorida.

557. Defendants’ unlawful conduct substantially affected Florida’s trade and

commerce.

558. AsadirectandproximatecauseofDefendants’unlawfulconduct,Plaintiffsand

themembersoftheFloridaClasshavebeeninjuredintheirbusinessorpropertybyvirtueof

overchargesforBroilersandarethreatenedwithfurtherinjury.

559. Byreasonoftheforegoing,PlaintiffsandthemembersoftheFloridaClassis

entitledtoseekallformsofrelief,includinginjunctivereliefpursuanttoFloridaStat.§501.208
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and declaratory judgment,actualdamages,reasonableattorneys’feesand costspursuantto

FloridaStat.§501.211.

THIRTY-FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the Illinois Consumer Fraud and Deceptive Business Practices Act,

815 Ill. Comp. Stat. Ann. 505/10a, et seq.
(On Behalf of the Illinois Class)

560. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

561. Byreasonoftheconductallegedherein,Defendantshaveviolated740Ill.Comp.

Stat.Ann.10/3(1),et seq. 

562. Defendantsenteredintoacontract,combination,orconspiracybetweentwoor

morepersonsinrestraintof,ortomonopolize,tradeorcommerceintheBroilersmarket,a

substantialpartofwhichoccurredwithinIllinois.

563. Defendantsestablished,maintained,orusedamonopoly,orattemptedtoestablish

amonopoly,oftradeorcommerceintheRelevantMarkets,asubstantialpartofwhichoccurred

withinIllinois,forthepurposeofexcludingcompetitionorcontrolling,fixing,ormaintaining

pricesintheBroilerMarket.

564. Defendants’conductwasunfair,unconscionable,ordeceptivewithintheconduct

ofcommercewithintheStateofIllinois.

565. Defendants’conductmisledconsumers,withheldmaterialfacts,andresultedin

materialmisrepresentationstoPlaintiffsandmembersoftheClasses.

566. Defendants’ unlawful conduct substantially affected Illinois’s trade and

commerce.
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567. AsadirectandproximatecauseofDefendants’unlawfulconduct,thePlaintiffs

and membersofthe IllinoisClasshavebeen injured in theirbusinessorproperty and are

threatenedwithfurtherinjury.

568. By reason oftheforegoing,Plaintiffsand membersofthe IllinoisClassare

entitledtoseekallformsofrelief,includingactualdamagesoranyotherrelieftheCourtdeems

properunder815Ill.Comp.Stat.Ann.505/10a, et seq.

THIRTY-SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the Michigan Consumer Protection Act,

Mich. Comp. Laws Ann. § 445.901, et seq.
(On Behalf of the Michigan Class)

569. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

570. Byreasonoftheconductallegedherein,DefendantshaveviolatedMich.Comp.

LawsAnn.§445.901,etseq.

571. Defendantshaveenteredintoacontract,combination,orconspiracybetweentwo

ormorepersonsinrestraintof,ortomonopolize,tradeorcommerceintheBroilersMarket,a

substantialpartofwhichoccurredwithinMichigan.

572. Defendantsestablished,maintained,orusedamonopoly,orattemptedtoestablish

amonopoly,oftradeorcommercein theBroilersMarket,forthepurposeofexcluding or

limitingcompetitionorcontrollingormaintainingprices,asubstantialpartofwhichoccurred

withinMichigan.

573. Defendants’ conduct was conducted with the intent to deceive Michigan

consumersregardingthenatureofDefendants’actionswithinthestream ofMichigancommerce.

574. Defendants’conductwasunfair,unconscionable,ordeceptivewithintheconduct

ofcommercewithintheStateofMichigan.
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575. Defendants’ conduct misled consumers, withheld material facts, and took

advantageofPlaintiffsandmembers-of-the-Classes’inabilitytoprotectthemselves.

576. Defendants’ unlawful conduct substantially affected Michigan’s trade and

commerce.

577. AsadirectandproximatecauseofDefendants’unlawfulconduct,thePlaintiffs

andmembersoftheMichiganClasshavebeeninjuredintheirbusinessorpropertyandare

threatenedwithfurtherinjury.

578. Byreasonoftheforegoing,thePlaintiffsandtheMichiganClassareentitledto

seekallformsofreliefavailableunderMich.Comp.LawsAnn.§445.911.

THIRTY-THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the Minnesota Consumer Fraud Act,

Minn. Stat. § 325F.68, et seq.
(On Behalf of the Minnesota Class)

579. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

580. Byreasonoftheconductallegedherein,DefendantshaveviolatedMinn.Stat.

§325F.68,etseq.

581. Defendants engaged in a deceptive trade practice with the intentto injure

competitorsandconsumersthroughsupra-competitiveprofits.

582. Defendantsestablished,maintained,orusedamonopoly,orattemptedtoestablish

amonopoly,oftradeorcommerceintheBroilersMarket,asubstantialpartofwhichoccurred

withinMinnesota,forthepurposeofcontrolling,fixing,ormaintainingpricesintheBroilers

Market.

583. Defendants’conductwasunfair,unconscionable,ordeceptivewithintheconduct

ofcommercewithintheStateofMinnesota.
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584. Defendants’conduct,specificallyintheform offraudulentconcealmentoftheir

horizontalagreement,createdafraudulentordeceptiveactorpracticecommittedbyasupplierin

connectionwithaconsumertransaction.

585. Defendants’ unlawful conduct substantially affected Minnesota’s trade and

commerce.

586. Defendants’conductwaswillful.

587. AsadirectandproximatecauseofDefendants’unlawfulconduct,thePlaintiffs

andthemembersoftheMinnesotaClasshavebeeninjuredintheirbusinessorpropertyandare

threatenedwithfurtherinjury.

588. Byreasonoftheforegoing,thePlaintiffsandthemembersoftheMinnesotaClass

areentitledtoseekallformsofrelief,includingdamages,reasonableattorneys’feesandcosts

underMinn.Stat.§325F.68,etseq.andapplicablecaselaw.

THIRTY-FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the Nebraska Consumer Protection Act,

Neb. Rev. Stat. § 59-1602, et seq.
(On Behalf of the Nebraska Class)

589. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

590. Byreasonoftheconductallegedherein,DefendantshaveviolatedNeb.Rev.Stat.

§59-1602,et seq.

591. Defendantshaveenteredintoacontract,combination,orconspiracybetweentwo

ormorepersonsinrestraintof,ortomonopolize,tradeorcommerceintheBroilersMarket,a

substantialpartofwhichoccurredwithinNebraska.

592. Defendantsestablished,maintained,orusedamonopoly,orattemptedtoestablish

amonopoly,oftradeorcommercein theBroilersMarket,forthepurposeofexcluding or
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limitingcompetitionorcontrollingormaintainingprices,asubstantialpartofwhichoccurred

withinNebraska.

593. Defendants’ conduct was conducted with the intent to deceive Nebraska

consumersregardingthenatureofDefendants’actionswithinthestream ofNebraskacommerce.

594. Defendants’conductwasunfair,unconscionable,ordeceptivewithintheconduct

ofcommercewithintheStateofNebraska.

595. Defendants’conductmisledconsumers,withheldmaterialfacts,andhadadirect

orindirectimpactuponPlaintiffsandmembers-of-the-Classes’abilitytoprotectthemselves.

596. Defendants’ unlawful conduct substantially affected Nebraska’s trade and

commerce.

597. AsadirectandproximatecauseofDefendants’unlawfulconduct,thePlaintiffs

andthemembersoftheNebraskaClasshavebeeninjuredintheirbusinessorpropertyandare

threatenedwithfurtherinjury.

598. Byreasonoftheforegoing,PlaintiffsandmembersoftheNebraskaClassare

entitledtoseekallformsofreliefavailableunderNeb.Rev.Stat.§59-1614.

THIRTY-FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the Nevada Deceptive Trade Practices Act,

Nev. Rev. Stat. § 598.0903, et seq.
(On Behalf of the Nevada Class)

599. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

600. Byreasonoftheconductallegedherein,DefendantshaveviolatedNev.Rev.Stat.

§598.0903, et seq.

601. Defendants engaged in a deceptive trade practice with the intentto injure

competitorsandtosubstantiallylessencompetition.
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602. Defendantsestablished,maintained,orusedamonopoly,orattemptedtoestablish

amonopoly,oftradeorcommerceintheBroilersMarket,asubstantialpartofwhichoccurred

withinNevada,forthepurposeofexcludingcompetitionorcontrolling,fixing,ormaintaining

pricesintheBroilersMarket.

603. Defendants’conductwasunfair,unconscionable,ordeceptivewithintheconduct

ofcommercewithintheStateofNevada.

604. Defendants’conductamountedtoafraudulentactorpracticecommittedbya

supplierinconnectionwithaconsumertransaction.

605. Defendants’ unlawful conduct substantially affected Nevada’s trade and

commerce.

606. Defendants’conductwaswillful. 

607. AsadirectandproximatecauseofDefendants’unlawfulconduct,themembersof

theNevadaClasshavebeeninjuredintheirbusinessorpropertyandarethreatenedwithfurther

injury.

608. Byreasonoftheforegoing,theNevadaClassisentitledtoseekallformsofrelief,

includingdamages,reasonableattorneys’feesandcosts,andacivilpenaltyofupto$5,000per

violationunderNev.Rev.Stat.§598.0993. 

THIRTY-SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the New Hampshire Consumer Protection Act,

N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. Tit. XXXI, § 358-A, et seq.
(On Behalf of the New Hampshire Class)

609. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

610. Byreasonoftheconductallegedherein,DefendantshaveviolatedN.H.Rev.Stat.

Ann.tit.XXXI,§358-A,et seq.
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611. Defendantshaveenteredintoacontract,combination,orconspiracybetweentwo

ormorepersonsinrestraintof,ortomonopolize,tradeorcommerceintheBroilersMarket,a

substantialpartofwhichoccurredwithinNew Hampshire.

612. Defendantsestablished,maintained,orusedamonopoly,orattemptedtoestablish

amonopoly,oftradeorcommercein theBroilersMarket,forthepurposeofexcluding or

limitingcompetitionorcontrollingormaintainingprices,asubstantialpartofwhichoccurred

withinNew Hampshire.

613. Defendants’conductwasconductedwiththeintenttodeceiveNew Hampshire

consumersregardingthenatureofDefendants’actionswithinthestream ofNew Hampshire

commerce.

614. Defendants’conductwasunfairordeceptivewithintheconductofcommerce

withintheStateofNew Hampshire.

615. Defendants’conductwaswillfulandknowing. 

616. Defendants’conductmisledconsumers,withheldmaterialfacts,andhadadirect

orindirectimpactuponPlaintiffsandmembers-of-the-Classes’abilitytoprotectthemselves.

617. Defendants’unlawfulconductsubstantiallyaffectedNew Hampshire’stradeand

commerce.

618. AsadirectandproximatecauseofDefendants’unlawfulconduct,thePlaintiffs

andthemembersoftheNew HampshireClasshavebeeninjuredintheirbusinessorproperty

andarethreatenedwithfurtherinjury.

619. Byreasonoftheforegoing,thePlaintiffsandthemembersoftheNew Hampshire

ClassareentitledtoseekallformsofreliefavailableunderN.H.Rev.Stat.Ann.tit.XXXI,

§§358-A:10and358-A:10-a.
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THIRTY-SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the New Mexico Unfair Practices Act,

N.M. Stat. Ann. §§ 57-12-3, et seq.
(On Behalf of the New Mexico Class)

620. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

621. Byreasonoftheconductallegedherein,DefendantshaveviolatedN.M.Stat.

Ann.§§57-12-3,et seq.

622. Defendantsenteredintoacontract,combination,orconspiracybetweentwoor

morepersonsinrestraintof,ortomonopolize,tradeorcommerceintheBroilersmarket,a

substantialpartofwhichoccurredwithinNew Mexico.

623. Defendantsestablished,maintained,orusedamonopoly,orattemptedtoestablish

amonopoly,oftradeorcommerceintheRelevantMarkets,asubstantialpartofwhichoccurred

within New Mexico,forthe purpose ofexcluding competition orcontrolling,fixing,or

maintainingpricesintheBroilersMarket.

624. Defendants’conductwasunfair,unconscionable,ordeceptivewithintheconduct

ofcommercewithintheStateofNew Mexico.

625. Defendants’conductmisledconsumers,withheldmaterialfacts,andresultedin

materialmisrepresentationstoPlaintiffsandmembersoftheClass.

626. Defendants’unlawfulconductsubstantially affected New Mexico’stradeand

commerce.

627. Defendants’conductconstituted “unconscionabletradepractices”in thatsuch

conduct,interalia,resultedinagrossdisparitybetweenthevaluereceivedbytheNew Mexico

classmembersandthepricepaidbythem forBroilersassetforthinN.M.Stat.Ann.§57-12-2E.

628. Defendants’conductwaswillful.
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629. AsadirectandproximatecauseofDefendants’unlawfulconduct,thePlaintiffs

andthemembersoftheNew MexicoClasshavebeeninjuredintheirbusinessorpropertyand

arethreatenedwithfurtherinjury.

630. Byreasonoftheforegoing,PlaintiffsandmembersoftheNew MexicoClassare

entitled to seek allformsofrelief,including actualdamagesorup to $300 perviolation,

whicheverisgreater,plusreasonableattorney’sfeesunderN.M.Stat.Ann.§§57-12-10.

THIRTY-EIGHTH FOR RELIEF
Violation of the North Carolina Unfair Trade and Business Practices Act,

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-1.1, et seq.
(On Behalf of the North Carolina Class)

631. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

632. Byreasonoftheconductallegedherein,DefendantshaveviolatedN.C.Gen.Stat.

§75-1.1, et seq.

633. Defendantsenteredintoacontract,combination,orconspiracyinrestraintof,or

tomonopolize,tradeorcommerceintheBroilersMarket,asubstantialpartofwhichoccurred

withinNorthCarolina.

634. Defendants’conductwasunfair,unconscionable,ordeceptivewithintheconduct

ofcommercewithintheStateofNorthCarolina.

635. Defendants’tradepracticesareandhavebeenimmoral,unethical,unscrupulous,

andsubstantiallyinjurioustoconsumers.

636. Defendants’conductmisledconsumers,withheldmaterialfacts,andresultedin

materialmisrepresentationstoPlaintiffsandmembersoftheClass.

637. Defendants’unlawfulconductsubstantiallyaffectedNorthCarolina’stradeand

commerce.
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638. Defendants’conductconstitutesconsumer-oriented deceptiveactsorpractices

withinthemeaningofNorthCarolinalaw,whichresultedinconsumerinjuryandbroadadverse

impactonthepublicatlarge,andharmedthepublicinterestofNorthCarolinaconsumersinan

honestmarketplaceinwhicheconomicactivityisconductedinacompetitivemanner.

639. AsadirectandproximatecauseofDefendants’unlawfulconduct,thePlaintiffs

andthemembersoftheNorthCarolinaClasshavebeeninjuredintheirbusinessorpropertyand

arethreatenedwithfurtherinjury.

640. Byreasonoftheforegoing,thePlaintiffsandthemembersoftheNorthCarolina

Classareentitledtoseekallformsofrelief,includingtrebledamagesunderN.C.Gen.Stat.§75-

16.

THIRTY-NINTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the North Dakota Unfair Trade Practices Law,

N.D. Cent. Code § 51-10, et seq.
(On Behalf of the North Dakota Class)

641. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

642. Byreasonoftheconductallegedherein,DefendantshaveviolatedN.D.Cent.

Code§51-10-01,etseq.

643. Defendants engaged in a deceptive trade practice with the intentto injure

competitorsandconsumersthroughsupra-competitiveprofits.

644. Defendantsestablished,maintained,orusedamonopoly,orattemptedtoestablish

amonopoly,oftradeorcommerceintheBroilersMarket,asubstantialpartofwhichoccurred

withinNorthDakota,forthepurposeofcontrolling,fixing,ormaintainingpricesintheBroilers

Market.
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645. Defendants’conductwasunfair,unconscionable,ordeceptivewithintheconduct

ofcommercewithintheStateofNorthDakota.

646. Defendants’conductamounted to a fraudulentordeceptive actorpractice

committedbyasupplierinconnectionwithaconsumertransaction.

647. Defendants’unlawfulconductsubstantiallyaffected North Dakota’stradeand

commerce.

648. Defendants’conductwaswillful.

649. AsadirectandproximatecauseofDefendants’unlawfulconduct,thePlaintiffs

andthemembersoftheNorthDakotaClasshavebeeninjuredintheirbusinessorpropertyand

arethreatenedwithfurtherinjury.

650. Byreasonoftheforegoing,thePlaintiffsandthemembersoftheNorthDakota

Classareentitledtoseekallformsofrelief,includingdamagesandinjunctivereliefunderN.D.

Cent.Code§51-10-06.

FOURTIETH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the Oregon Unlawful Trade Practices Act,

Or. Rev. Stat. § 646.605, et seq.
(On Behalf of the Oregon Class)

651. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

652. Byreasonoftheconductallegedherein,DefendantshaveviolatedOr.Rev.Stat.

§646.608,et seq.

653. Defendantshaveenteredintoacontract,combination,orconspiracybetweentwo

ormorepersonsinrestraintof,ortomonopolize,tradeorcommerceintheBroilersMarket,a

substantialpartofwhichoccurredwithinOregon.
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654. Defendantsestablished,maintained,orusedamonopoly,orattemptedtoestablish

amonopoly,oftradeorcommercein theBroilersMarket,forthepurposeofexcluding or

limitingcompetitionorcontrollingormaintainingprices,asubstantialpartofwhichoccurred

withinOregon.

655. Defendants’conductwasconductedwiththeintenttodeceiveOregonconsumers

regardingthenatureofDefendants’actionswithinthestream ofOregoncommerce.

656. Defendants’conductwasunfairordeceptivewithintheconductofcommerce

withintheStateofOregon.

657. Defendants’conductmisledconsumers,withheldmaterialfacts,andhadadirect

orindirectimpactuponPlaintiffs’andmembers-of-the-Classes’abilitytoprotectthemselves.

658. Defendants’ unlawful conduct substantially affected Oregon’s trade and

commerce.

659. AsadirectandproximatecauseofDefendants’unlawfulconduct,thePlaintiffs

andthemembersoftheOregonClasshavebeeninjuredintheirbusinessorpropertyandare

threatenedwithfurtherinjury.

660. Byreasonoftheforegoing,thePlaintiffsandthemembersoftheOregonClass

areentitledtoseekallformsofreliefavailableunderOr.Rev.Stat.§646.638.

661. Pursuanttosection646.638oftheOregonUnlawfulTradePracticesAct,withthe

filingofthisaction,acopyofthisComplaintisbeingservedupontheAttorneyGeneralof

Oregon.

FORTY-FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the Rhode Island Deceptive Trade Practices Act,

R.I. Gen. Laws § 6-13.1-1, et seq.
(On Behalf of the Rhode Island Class)
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662. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

663. Byreasonoftheconductallegedherein,DefendantshaveviolatedR.I.GenLaws

§6-13.1-1,et seq.

664. Defendantsengagedinanunfairordeceptiveactorpracticewiththeintentto

injurecompetitorsandconsumersthroughsupra-competitiveprofits.

665. Defendantsestablished,maintained,orusedamonopoly,orattemptedtoestablish

amonopoly,oftradeorcommerceintheBroilersMarket,asubstantialpartofwhichoccurred

withinRhodeIsland,forthepurposeofcontrolling,fixing,ormaintainingpricesintheBroilers

Market.

666. Defendants’conductwasunfairordeceptivewithintheconductofcommerce

withintheStateofRhodeIsland.

667. Defendants’conductamountedtoanunfairordeceptiveactorpracticecommitted

byasupplierinconnectionwithaconsumertransaction.

668. Defendants’unlawfulconductsubstantially affected RhodeIsland’stradeand

commerce.

669. Defendants’conductwaswillful.

670. DefendantsdeliberatelyfailedtodisclosematerialfactstoPlaintiffsandmembers

oftheRhodeIslandClassconcerningDefendants’unlawfulactivities,includingthehorizontal

conspiracyandartificially-inflatedpricesforBroilers.

671. Defendants’ deception, including its affirmative misrepresentations and/or

omissionsconcerningthepriceofBroilers,constitutesinformationnecessarytoPlaintiffsand

membersoftheRhodeIslandClassrelatingtothecostofBroilerspurchased.
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672. Plaintiffsand members ofthe Rhode Island classpurchased goods,namely

Broilers,primarilyforpersonal,family,orhouseholdpurposes.

673. AsadirectandproximatecauseofDefendants’unlawfulconduct,thePlaintiffs

andthemembersoftheRhodeIslandClasshavebeeninjuredintheirbusinessorpropertyand

arethreatenedwithfurtherinjury.

674. Byreasonoftheforegoing,PlaintiffsandthemembersoftheRhodeIslandClass

areentitledtoseekallformsofrelief,includingactualdamagesor$200perviolation,whichever

isgreater,andinjunctivereliefandpunitivedamagesunderR.I.GenLaws§6-13.1-5.2.

FORTY-SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the South Dakota Deceptive Trade Practices and Consumer Protection Law,

S.D. Codified Laws § 37-24, et seq.
(On Behalf of the South Dakota Class)

675. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

676. Byreasonoftheconductallegedherein,DefendantshaveviolatedS.D.Codified

Laws§37-24-6.

677. Defendants engaged in a deceptive trade practice with the intentto injure

competitorsandconsumersthroughsupra-competitiveprofits.

678. Defendantsestablished,maintained,orusedamonopoly,orattemptedtoestablish

amonopoly,oftradeorcommerceintheBroilerMarket,asubstantialpartofwhichoccurred

withinSouthDakota,forthepurposeofcontrolling,fixing,ormaintainingpricesintheBroiler

Market.

679. Defendants’conductwasunfair,unconscionable,ordeceptivewithintheconduct

ofcommercewithintheStateofSouthDakota.
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680. Defendants’conductamounted to a fraudulentordeceptive actorpractice

committedbyasupplierinconnectionwithaconsumertransaction.

681. Defendants’unlawfulconductsubstantiallyaffected South Dakota’stradeand

commerce.

682. Defendants’conductwaswillful.

683. AsadirectandproximatecauseofDefendants’unlawfulconduct,thePlaintiffs

andthemembersoftheSouthDakotaClasshavebeeninjuredintheirbusinessorpropertyand

arethreatenedwithfurtherinjury.

684. Byreasonoftheforegoing,PlaintiffsandthemembersoftheSouthDakotaClass

areentitledtoseekallformsofrelief,includingactualdamagesandinjunctivereliefunderS.D.

CodifiedLaws§37-24-31.

FORTY-THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the Utah Consumer Sales Practices Act,

Utah Code Ann. §§ 13-11-1, et seq.
(On Behalf of the Utah Class)

685. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

686. Byreasonoftheconductallegedherein,DefendantshaveviolatedUtahCode

Ann.§§13-11-1,et seq.

687. Defendantsenteredintoacontract,combination,orconspiracybetweentwoor

morepersonsinrestraintof,ortomonopolize,tradeorcommerceintheBroilersmarket,a

substantialpartofwhichoccurredwithinUtah.

688. DefendantsaresupplierswithinthemeaningofUtahCodeAnn.§§13-11-3.

689. Defendantsestablished,maintained,orusedamonopoly,orattemptedtoestablish

amonopoly,oftradeorcommerceintheRelevantMarkets,asubstantialpartofwhichoccurred
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within Utah,forthepurposeofexcludingcompetition orcontrolling,fixing,ormaintaining

pricesintheBroilersMarket.

690. Defendants’conductwasunfair,unconscionable,ordeceptivewithintheconduct

ofcommercewithintheStateofUtah.

691. Defendants’conductand/orpracticeswereunconscionableandwereundertaken

inconnectionwithconsumertransactions.

692. Defendantsknew orhadreasontoknow thattheirconductwasunconscionable.

693. Defendants’conductmisledconsumers,withheldmaterialfacts,andresultedin

materialmisrepresentationstoPlaintiffsandmembersoftheClass.

694. Defendants’unlawfulconductsubstantiallyaffectedUtah’stradeandcommerce.

695. AsadirectandproximatecauseofDefendants’unlawfulconduct,thePlaintiffs

andthemembersoftheUtahClasshavebeen injuredintheirbusinessorpropertyandare

threatenedwithfurtherinjury.

696. Byreasonoftheforegoing,thePlaintiffsandthemembersoftheUtahClassis

entitledtoseekallformsofrelief,includingdeclaratoryjudgment,injunctiverelief,andancillary

relief,pursuanttoUtahCodeAnn.§§13-11-19(5)and13-11-20.

FORTY-FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the Utah Unfair Practices Act,

Utah Code All. §§ 13-5-1, et seq.
(On Behalf of the Utah Class)

697. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

698. Byreasonoftheconductallegedherein,DefendantshaveviolatedUtahCode

Ann.§§13-5-1,et seq.
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699. Defendantsenteredintoacontract,combination,orconspiracybetweentwoor

morepersonsinrestraintof,ortomonopolize,tradeorcommerceintheBroilersmarket,a

substantialpartofwhichoccurredwithinUtah.

700. Defendantsestablished,maintained,orusedamonopoly,orattemptedtoestablish

amonopoly,oftradeorcommerceintheRelevantMarkets,asubstantialpartofwhichoccurred

within Utah,forthepurposeofexcludingcompetition orcontrolling,fixing,ormaintaining

pricesintheBroilersMarket.

701. Defendants’ conduct caused or was intended to cause unfair methods of

competitionwithintheStateofUtah.

702. Defendants’unlawfulconductsubstantiallyaffectedUtah’stradeandcommerce.

703. AsadirectandproximatecauseofDefendants’unlawfulconduct,thePlaintiffs

andthemembersoftheUtahClasshavebeen injuredintheirbusinessorpropertyandare

threatenedwithfurtherinjury.

704. Byreasonoftheforegoing,thePlaintiffsandthemembersoftheUtahClassis

entitledtoseekallformsofrelief,includingactualdamagesor$2000perUtahClassmember,

whicheverisgreater,plusreasonableattorney’sfeesunderUtahCodeAnn.§§13-5-14,etseq.

FORTY-FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the Vermont Consumer Fraud Act,

Vt. Stat. Ann. Tit. 9, §§ 2453, et seq.
(On Behalf of the Vermont Class)

705. Plaintiffsincorporateandreallege,asthoughfullysetforthherein,eachandevery

allegationsetforthintheprecedingparagraphsofthisComplaint.

706. Title 9 ofthe VermontStatutes generally governs commerce and trade in

Vermont.Chapter63 thereofgovernsconsumerprotection and prohibits,inter alia,unfair
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methodscompetition,unfairanddeceptiveactsandpractices,andantitrustviolationssuchas

restraintsoftradeandmonopolization.Vt.Stat.Ann.Tit.9§2453(a).

707. Onesuchunfairmethodofcompetitionisthroughcollusion,definedasagreeing,

contracting,combiningorconspiringtoengageinpricefixing,marketdivisionand/orallocation

ofgoods,constitutingunfaircompetitioninthecommerceofBroilers. Vt.Stat.Ann.Tit.9,

§2451a(h).

708. PlaintiffspurchasedBroilerswithintheStateofVermontduringtheClassPeriod.

ButforDefendants’conductsetforthherein,thepriceperpoundofBroilerswouldhavebeen

lower,inanamounttobedeterminedattrial.

709. Under Vermontlaw,indirectpurchasers have standing under the antitrust

provisionsoftheVermontStatutesto maintain an action based on thefactsalleged in this

Complaint.Vt.Stat.Ann.Tit.9,§2465(b).

710. Defendantscompeted unfairly and colluded by meeting to fix prices,divide

markets,andotherwiserestraintradeassetforthherein,inviolationofVt.Stat.Ann.Tit.9,

§2453,et seq.

711. PlaintiffsandmembersoftheClasseswereinjuredwithrespecttopurchasesof

Broilersin Vermontand areentitled to allformsofrelief,includingactualdamages,treble

damages,andreasonableattorneys’fees.

XIII. UNJUST ENRICHMENT

712. Plaintiffsincorporatebyreferencetheallegationsintheprecedingparagraphs.

713. Asaresultoftheirunlawfulconductdescribedabove,Defendantshaveandwill

continuedtobeunjustlyenrichedbythereceiptofunlawfullyinflatedpricesandunlawfulprofits

ofBroilers.
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714. Undercommonlaw principlesofunjustenrichment,Defendantsshouldnotbe

permittedtoretainthebenefitsconferredonthem byoverpaymentsbyPlaintiffsandmembersof

theClassesinthefollowingstates:Arizona,California,DistrictofColumbia,Florida,Illinois,

Iowa,Kansas,Maine,Massachusetts,Michigan,Minnesota,Mississippi,Missouri,Nebraska,

Nevada,New Hampshire,New Mexico,NorthCarolina,NorthDakota,Oregon,RhodeIsland,

SouthDakota,Utah,Vermont,W estVirginia,andW isconsin.

XIV. REQUEST FOR RELIEF

W HEREFORE,Plaintiffs,on behalfofthemselvesand the Classesofallothersso

similarlysituated,respectfullyrequestsjudgmentagainstDefendantsasfollows:

715. TheCourtdeterminethatthisactionmaybemaintainedasaclassactionunder

Rule23(a),(b)(2),and(b)(3)oftheFederalRulesofCivilProcedure,appointPlaintiffsasClass

RepresentativeanditscounselofrecordasClassCounsel,anddirectthatnoticeofthisaction,as

providedbyRule23(c)(2)oftheFederalRulesofCivilProcedure,begiventotheClass,once

certified;

716. Theunlawfulconduct,conspiracyorcombinationallegedhereinbeadjudgedand

decreed in violation ofSection 1 oftheSherman Actand listed stateantitrustlaws,unfair

competitionlaws,stateconsumerprotectionlaws,andcommonlaw;

717. PlaintiffsandtheClassrecoverdamages,tothemaximum extentallowedunder

theapplicablestatelaws,andthatajointandseveraljudgmentinfavorofPlaintiffsandthe

membersoftheClassesbeenteredagainstDefendantsinanamounttobetrebledtotheextent

suchlawspermit;

718. Defendants,theiraffiliates,successors,transferees,assigneesandotherofficers,

directors,partners,agentsandemployeesthereof,andallotherpersonsactingorclaimingtoact
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ontheirbehalforinconcertwiththem,bepermanentlyenjoinedandrestrainedfrom inany

mannercontinuing,maintainingorrenewingtheconduct,conspiracy,orcombinationalleged

herein,orfrom enteringintoanyotherconspiracyorcombinationhavingasimilarpurposeor

effect,andfrom adoptingorfollowinganypractice,plan,program,ordevicehavingasimilar

purposeoreffect;

719. Defendants,theiraffiliates,successors,transferees,assigneesandotherofficers,

directors,partners,agentsandemployeesthereof,andallotherpersonsactingorclaimingtoact

ontheirbehalforinconcertwiththem,bepermanentlyenjoinedandrestrainedfrom inany

mannercontinuing,maintaining,or renewing the sharing ofhighly sensitive competitive

informationthatpermitsindividualidentificationofcompany’sinformation;

720. PlaintiffsandthemembersoftheClassesbeawardedpre-andpost-judgment

interestasprovidedbylaw,andthatsuchinterestbeawardedatthehighestlegalratefrom and

afterthedateofserviceofthisComplaint;

721. PlaintiffsandthemembersoftheClassesrecovertheircostsofsuit,including

reasonableattorneys’fees,asprovidedbylaw;and

722. PlaintiffsandthemembersoftheClasseshavesuchotherandfurtherreliefasthe

casemayrequireandtheCourtmaydeem justandproper.

XV. JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

723. Plaintiffsdemandatrialbyjury,pursuanttoRule38(b)oftheFederalRulesof

CivilProcedure,ofallissuessotriable.
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Dated:September12,2016 /s/EdwardW allace_______________
KennethA.W exler
EdwardA.W allace
ThomasA.Doyle
WEXLER WALLACE LLP
55W .MonroeStreet,Suite3300
Chicago,IL 60603
Telephone:(312)346-2222
kaw@wexlerwallace.com
eaw@wexlerwallace.com
tad@wexlerwallace.com

DanielE.Gustafson
DanielC.Hedlund
JoshuaR.Rissman
BrittanyN.Resch
GUSTAFSON GLUEK PLLC
220SouthSixthStreet#2600
Minneapolis,MN 55402
Telephone:(612)333-8844
dgustafson@gustafsongluek.com
dhedlund@gustafsongluek.com
jrissman@gustafsongluek.com
bresch@gustafsongluek.com

StevenN.W illiams
COTCHETT, PITRE & MCCARTHY, LLP
840Malcolm Road,Suite200
Burlingame,CA 94010
Telephone:(650)697-6000
swilliams@cpmlegal.com

DianneM.Nast
ErinBurns
NASTLAW LLC
1101MarketStreet
Suite2801
Philadelphia,Pennsylvania19107
Telephone:(215)923-9300
dnast@nastlaw.com
eburns@nastlaw.com
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SimonB.Paris
PatrickHoward
CharlesJ.Kocher
SALTZ, MONGELUZZI, BARRETT
& BENDESKY, P.C.
1650MarketStreet,52ndFloor
Philadelphia,PA 19103
Telephone:(215)496-8282
sparis@smbb.com
phoward@smbb.com
ckocher@smbb.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs and the Putative Indirect
Purchaser Class
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